Experimental and Computational Investigations into Interactions between HIV-1 and the RNA Interference Pathway



Owen Rhys Sorbie Dunkley

Division of Experimental Medicine Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences McGill University, Montréal, Québec

December 2021

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science © Owen R. S. Dunkley, 2021

Abstract	V
Résumé	VI
Acknowledgments	VIII
Preface and Author Contributions	IX
List of Figures	X
List of Tables	X
List of Abbreviations	XI
Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review	1
1 The Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)	1
1.1 The HIV/AIDS Pandemic: A Historical Perspective	1
1.1a Discovery	1
1.1b Evolution & Classification	2
1.1c The Ongoing Pandemic	
1.2 The HIV-1 Virion and its Replication Cycle	
1.2a The Viral Genome and its Products	4
1.2b The Replication Cycle	6
1.2c Regulation of Viral Transcription	
1.2d Reservoirs & Latency	
1.3 Taming HIV	
1.3a Current Therapies and Drug Regimens	
1.3b Prevention Measures	
1.3c The Need for a Cure	
1.3d Strategies Towards a Cure	
2 RNA Interference (RNAi)	
2.1 Complexity, Regulation and the Discovery of RNAi	
2.2 Mechanism of RNAi	
2.3 RNAi as Treatment	
2.3a Manipulating RNAi	
2.3b Applications of RNAi in HIV-1 Treatment	
2.3c Treatments Informed by RNAi-Virus Interactions	
3 Hypothesis and Objectives	
3.1 Rationale	

Table of contents

3.2 Aim 1: Identifying Networks Associated with Blocks in Virus Expression during	
Latency	. 27
3.3 Aim 2: Determining the RNA-Mediated Downstream Effects of an Interaction betwe HIV-1 Gag and the RNAi Protein Dicer	en . 28
3.4 Aim 3: Developing an HIV-1 Locking Strategy Using ncRNAs	. 28
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	. 29
Cell Culture	. 29
Latency Reversing Agents, Drug Exposures and Transfection	. 29
Immunoblotting	. 30
Reverse Transcription - Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction	. 31
Cell Sorting and RNA Isolation	. 32
RNA-seq and Short RNA-seq Data Processing	. 32
RNA-seq Network Generation, Pathway and Ontology Analysis	. 33
RIP-seq miRNA Network Generation, Target Prediction and Enrichment	. 33
Plasmid Design and Generation	. 33
Cell Viability	. 35
Chapter 3: Results	. 36
Aim 1: Identifying Networks Associated with Blocks in Virus Expression during Latency	. 36
Preamble	. 36
A Model for Testing post-Initiation Events in HIV-1 Transcription	. 37
RNA-seq and Regulatory Networks Associated with Latency	. 39
Aim 2: Determining the RNA-Mediated Downstream Effects of an Interaction between HIV Gag and the RNAi Protein Dicer	√-1 . 45
Preamble	. 45
miRNAs Enriched on Dicer Converge on Specific Targets	. 46
miR642a-3p Targets AFF4 mRNAs and Inhibits HIV-1 Expression	. 47
miR642a-3p Function is Counteracted in Gag Expressing Cells	. 50
Aim 3: Developing an HIV-1 Locking Strategy Using ncRNAs	. 52
Preamble	. 52
Identifying RNA Candidates for Combined Locking Therapies	. 52
Developing a Platform for Latency Testing	. 54
Chapter 4: Discussion	. 58
Identifying Networks Associated with Blocks in Virus Expression during Latency	. 58
HIV-1 Gag Inhibits the Function of Endogenous Antiviral miRNAs	. 60
Comparing the Locking Potentials of sncRNAs	. 63

Overview & Future Directions	66
Conclusion	69
References	70

Abstract

As an obligate intracellular pathogen, the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) targets and co-opts a diverse set of host processes to overcome cellular barriers to infection, including pathways involved in the regulation of gene expression. It remains controversial whether HIV-1 affects the RNA interference (RNAi) pathway, a key post-transcriptional regulatory mechanism that is being used to develop a new class of gene therapies. To better understand the replication cycle of the virus and inform the development of future antiviral therapies, we investigated the hypothesis that HIV-1 changes the substrates and functionality of the RNAi system in specific contexts. To investigate our hypothesis, we first aimed to identify regulatory networks associated with blocks in virus replication during latency. We characterized a novel cellular model for HIV-1 infection that was designed to study events in HIV-1 latency reversion that follow transcription initiation. We then reactivated this model using differently acting latency reversing agents, to then sequence long and short RNA transcriptomes associated with latency maintenance and reversion. These data contributed new genes and regulatory RNA networks to our understanding of latency, and possibly new targets for RNA therapies. We next analyzed an interaction between the HIV-1 protein Gag and the RNAi enzyme Dicer, which leads to the specific enrichment of three microRNAs (miRNAs) on Dicer. A combination of bioinformatic analyses were used to identify the targets of these miRNAs and to define a target-specific hypothesis for the function of this interaction. Using gene reporter assays, Western blots and reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reactions, we explored one miRNA-target interaction in depth, showing that this miRNA inhibits HIV-1 expression and that Gag promotes viral expression by increasing expression of the target, possibly by inhibiting the antiviral miRNA. Finally, we sought to develop a testing platform to distinguish between RNAi substrates that could be used in combination therapies against HIV-1. We designed a novel protocol that can score RNAi substrates with four primary measures: cellular toxicity, inhibition of HIV expression, inhibition of HIV replication, and ability to lock proviruses in a latent state. Due to delays related to cloning, this protocol could not be fully employed in this manuscript. However, we individually tested the first three endpoints and used a surrogate fourth endpoint to make preliminary assessments of the therapeutic potential of several molecules. Here, we describe two workflows used to gain better insight into interactions between HIV-1 and the RNAi pathway, and further designed a protocol for testing small RNAs for their potential to lock the HIV-1 in a latent state.

Résumé

Plusieurs virus qui infectent les humains interfèrent avec la voie d'interférence par ARN (iARN). Bien que l'iARN reste fonctionnelle dans des cellules infectées par le virus de l'immunodéficience humaine (VIH-1), des protéines virales pourraient en modifier le processus et l'efficacité. Ici, nous explorons l'hypothèse que le VIH-1 modifie la fonctionnalité du système iARN dans des contextes spécifiques pendant l'infection. Nous avons d'abord cherché à identifier les réseaux de régulation associés aux blocages de la réplication virale pendant la latence. Notre groupe a récemment caractérisé un nouveau modèle de VIH-1 qui a été modifié pour éliminer des boucles de rétroaction qui amplifient l'expression virale et ainsi étudier les évènements de réactivation de latence après l'initiation de la transcription. Nous avons réactivé ce modèle dans des lymphocytes latents en utilisant différents agents de réversion de la latence. Ensuite, nous avons isolé en parallèle les transcriptomes entiers déplétés de l'ARN ribosomal et les transcriptomes de petits ARNs pour chaque condition. Ces données ont contribué à la compréhension de nouveaux réseaux régulatoires qui affectent la latence virale. Nous avons ensuite analysé une interaction que notre laboratoire a découverte entre la protéine Gag du VIH-1 et la protéine cellulaire Dicer, un membre de la voie de l'iARN. Nous avons effectué une immunoprécipitation avec un anticorps anti-Dicer, suivi de l'isolement de l'ARN (RIP) et du séquençage à grande échelle (RNA-Seq) pour identifier les microARN liés préférentiellement à Dicer dans les cellules exprimant Gag comparés à ceux trouvés dans les cellules sans Gag. Pour comprendre le rôle de ces microARNs enrichis avec Gag, nous avons identifié leurs cibles potentielles à l'aide de plusieurs analyses bioinformatiques. Nous avons ensuite confirmé l'activité des microARNs et de leurs cibles à l'aide de mimiques et d'inhibiteurs d'un microARN en combinaison avec des essais RT-qPCR, des gènes rapporteurs avec des fragments d'un ARNm cible prédit, et de Western Blot (WB). Nous avons testé l'effet d'un microARN sur l'expression du VIH-1 avec ou sans Gag et les effets indirects de Gag sur l'ARNm ciblé et sur l'expression du VIH-1 par RT-qPCR et WB. Nous montrons qu'en interagissant avec Dicer, la protéine Gag séquestre un microARN spécifique, ce qui diminue son efficacité sur sa cible et en conséquence augmente l'expression du VIH-1. Ces résultats suggèrent que ce microARN pourrait être utilisé en thérapie pour bloquer la transcription du VIH. Enfin, nous avons cherché à développer une plate-forme pour distinguer entre les microARNs et d'autres petits ARNs qui pourraient être utilisés dans des thérapies contre le VIH-1. Ici, nous avons conçu un nouveau protocole dans lequel

chaque petit ARN pourrait être testé pour sa toxicité cellulaire, son efficacité d'inhibition de l'expression du VIH-1, son efficacité d'inhibition de la réplication du VIH-1 et sa capacité à maintenir la latence. En raison de problèmes liés au clonage, nous n'avons pas pu utiliser ce protocole dans ce manuscrit. Cependant, nous avons pu tester les critères de ce protocole individuellement pour faire des évaluations préliminaires du potentiel thérapeutique de quelques molécules. En conclusion, nos travaux ont contribué à deux études qui permettent de mieux comprendre les interactions entre la voie de l'iARN et le VIH-1. En plus, nous avons commencé le développement d'un protocole pour tester les petits ARNs pour leur potentiel à empêcher la réactivation du VIH-1 latent.

Acknowledgments

I would firstly and most enthusiastically like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Anne Gatignol, for her availability, support and direction over the last three years of my scientific endeavors in undergraduate and graduate studies. Among my past and present professors and supervisors, Anne has had an outsized influence on my appreciation of the merits and demands of becoming a rigorous scientist. Anne encouraged my academic attraction to retrovirology and emerging infectious diseases, allowed me to see the light in the coming age of oligonucleotide therapies, and supported my interest and development in both bioinformatics and traditional wet lab techniques, all the while nurturing my love of science; a collective feat for which I am profoundly grateful.

I would also like to thank everyone else in the Gatignol lab for contributing to a friendly and supportive work environment, most notably including Aïcha Daher and Dr. Robert Scarborough, who contributed to important discussions on the direction of my research and helped me overcome challenges faced during the course of my experiments. I am likewise indebted to my encouraging academic advisor, Dr. Sonia del Rincon, my thesis committee members, Drs. Claudia Kleinman and Daniel Kaufmann, and numerous lab workers and administrative staff at the Lady Davis Institute and the Division of Experimental Medicine who helped me graduate from this degree unscathed. The same goes for my funders at the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, the Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec, the division of Experimental Medicine and the Post Graduate Students' Society of McGill who helped pay for my studies and my attendance at conferences so that money worries did not plague my time in the lab.

Last but not least, I would also like to thank my family and every one of my close friends who helped me overcome the heightened challenges of being a graduate student during a drawnout *annus horribilis* of pandemic lockdowns.

Preface and Author Contributions

This thesis was written in English according to the traditional format at McGill, beginning with a literature review on HIV-1 and the RNA interference pathway, followed by a study rationale and hypothesis broken into three specific aims. The materials & methods, conclusion and bibliography sections are not separated into aims, while the results and discussion sections are, except for a global overview that brings together the divergent aims. This thesis was written and edited under the guidance of Dr. Anne Gatignol.

The project for Aim 1 was conceived by Dr. Elodie Rance and Dr. Gatignol before the start of my graduate studies. Figure 7C was generated by Dr. Rance. The raw RNA-seq data used in my preliminary bioinformatic analyses were collected by Dr. Rance before I joined the lab, although I collected samples for this project to complete a biological replicate for our findings. RNA sequencing was performed at Génome Québec (McGill University). Bioinformatic analysis for this aim was performed by myself in collaboration with Dr. Bernard Mari and his student Marin Truchi at l'Institut de pharmacologie moléculaire et cellulaire (CNRS, Valbonne, France). Figure 9B & C were generated by Mr. Truchi, although I performed similar analyses separately. Figure 9D-F were generated by Dr. Mari using Mr. Truchi's data from Figures 9B & C, so Mr. Truchi's data were shown for consistency. All other figures are my own. Figures 5 & 6 contributed to a paper authored principally by Dr. Rance and Dr. Gatignol (under review), while Figures 7-9 will contribute to a second paper to be authored primarily by myself and Mr. Truchi that is still in data analysis steps.

The project for Aim 2 was conceived by Dr. Gatignol, Dr. Sergio P. Alpuche-Lazcano and myself, based on an interaction Dr. Alpuche-Lazcano had found between HIV-1 p55^{Gag} and Dicer. Data for Figures 10A-E, 12C, 13A and certain replicates of 14D were provided by Dr. Alpuche-Lazcano, among which I plotted Figures 10B, 12C, 13A and 14D. All other figures, data and interpretations referred to in Aim 2 are my own. Findings from Aim 2 contributed to a paper authored by Dr. Alpuche-Lazcano and myself, which includes his discovery of the Gag-Dicer interaction and the RIP-seq/IP-RT-qPCR experiments from which we derived our hypothesis, as well as Figures 11-15 & 18, with certain modifications for publication (to be submitted shortly).

I conceived of the project for Aim 3 with the advice of Dr. Gatignol, Aïcha Daher and Dr. Robert J. Scarborough, based on a similar protocol designed by Dr. Ian Tietjen at the Wistar Institute (Philadelphia, USA) for testing small molecules against latency. All data and figures from Aim 3 are my own.

List of Figures

Figure 1: HIV/AIDS epidemics.	3
Figure 2: The HIV-1 virion, elements of its genome and its replication cycle	5
Figure 3: Regulation of HIV-1 expression.	
Figure 4: Fundamental mechanisms of RNA interference	20
Figure 5: The Tat/TAR-independent rtTA GagzipGFP virus.	
Figure 6: Characterization of GagzipGFP cell lines.	
Figure 7: Preparation of RNA-seq data from reactivated CEM T4 GagzipGFP cells.	
Figure 8: Global trends in treatment-related and reactivation-related transcriptomes	41
Figure 9: Enriched molecular functions and regulation networks in reactivated cells.	
Figure 10: HIV-1 Gag and Dicer interact, recruiting specific ncRNAs in the process	
Figure 11: miRNAs enriched on Gag-Dicer target genes involved in virus-regulating functions	47
Figure 12: hsa-miR-642a targets AFF4 mRNA.	
Figure 13: hsa-miR-642a-3p reduces HIV-1 expression.	50
Figure 14: Gag increases AFF4 expression.	
Figure 15: Effects of selected miRNAs on HIV expression, toxicity and latency	
Figure 16: Effects of selected shRNAs on HIV expression and toxicity	
Figure 17: Latency testing protocol using pLT3R-TetONE.	55
Figure 18: Proposed model: Gag sequesters miR-642a and supports HIV-1 expression	
Figure 19: A hypothetical curative combination therapy	

List of Tables

Table 1: Antibody information	.31
Table 2: List of primers used in qPCR analyses	.31
Table 3: Cloning oligonucleotides	.34
Table 4: Oligonucleotides used for sequencing	.35
Table 5: Oligonucleotide primers used for cloning PCRs	.35
Table 6: TargetScan prediction of human miRNA families with highest context ++ scores for targeting	
the 3' UTR of AFF4	.48
Table 7: Top-ranked miRDB mRNA prediction targets of hsa-miR-642a-3p	.48

List of Abbreviations

AAV: adeno-associated virus AF9: ALL1-fused gene from chromosome 9 AFF1/4: AF4/FMR2 Family Members 1/4 Ago1-4: Argonaute proteins 1-4 AIDS: Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome ANOVA: analysis of variance **ATP**: adenosine triphosphate AZT: Zidovudine, also known as azidothymidine **B&L**: Block & Lock **BAF:** BRG/BRM-associated factor **bp**: base pairs BP: Biological Process gene ontology **BSA**: Bovine Serum Albumin cART: combination Antiretroviral Therapy Cas: CRISPR-associated CCR5: C-C chemokine receptor type 5 **CD4**: cluster of differentiation 4 **CDC**: Center for Disease Control (USA) CDK9: cyclin-dependent kinase 9 cDNA: complementary DNA COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019 **CRISPR**: clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats CXCR4: C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 CycT1: cyclin T1 dCA: didehydro-cortistatin A **DDX6**: DEAD-box helicase 6 Dm: Dox GFP-**DMEM**: Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium DMSO: Dimethyl sulfoxide DNA: Deoxyribonucleic acid Dox: Doxycycline DPm: Dox prostratin GFP-**DPp**: Dox prostratin GFP+ DPSm: Dox prostratin SAHA GFP-**DPSp:** Dox prostratin SAHA GFP+ **DSIF:** DRB sensitivity inducing factor DSm: Dox SAHA GFP-**DSp:** Dox SAHA GFP+ dsRNA: double stranded RNA **dTTP**: deoxythymidine triphosphate

EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid ELL2: eleven-nineteen Lys-rich leukaemia protein 2 ENL: eleven-nineteen leukemia protein Env: HIV envelope protein **EU**: European Union FACS: fluorescence-activated cell sorting FBS: Fetal Bovine Serum Gag: HIV uncleaved p55^{Gag} polyprotein GagPol: HIV uncleaved p160^{GagPol} polyprotein GAPDH: Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase **GFP**: Green Fluorescent Protein **GO**: Gene Ontology **GTP**: guanosine triphosphate GW182: Glycine-Tryptophan protein of 182 HAT: histone acetyl transferase HDAC: Histone Deacetylase HDACi: HDAC inhibitor HDF: host dependency factor HEXIM1: hexamethylene bis-acetamideinducible protein 1 HIV(-1 (M)): Human Immunodeficiency Virus (species 1, major group) HMBA: Hexamethylene bisacetamide HMT: histone methyltransferase HMTi: HMT inhibitor HSCT: haematopoietic stem-cell transplantations HTLV: Human T-cell Leukemia Virus ICAM-1: intercellular adhesion molecule 1 **IN:** HIV Integrase **IP**: immunoprecipitation **IPA**: Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (Qiagen) **IRES**: internal ribosome entry site **kb**: kilobase pairs kDa: kilodalton LPA: latency promoting agent LRA: latency reversing agent LTR: HIV long terminal repeat **MDM**: Monocyte-derived macrophages miRISC: miRNA-bound RISC miRNA: microRNA

mRNA: messenger RNA **mTOR**: mechanistic target of rapamycin Nef: HIV negative factor NELF: negative elongation factor NeoR: neomycin/kanamycin/G418 resistance NFAT: nuclear factor for activated T-cells NFkB: nuclear factor kappa-light-chainenhancer of activated B cells **nt**: nucleotides p24: HIV capsid protein **PABP**: poly(A)-binding protein **PANTHER:** Protein Analysis Through **Evolutionary Relationships PBS**: Phosphate-buffered saline **PEP**: post-exposure prophylaxis **PIC**: pre-initiation complex piRNA: PIWI-interacting RNA PMA: Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate pre-miRNA: precursor miRNA **PrEP**: pre-exposure prophylaxis pri-miRNA: primary miRNA P-TEFb: positive transcription elongation factor b **PTGS**: post-transcriptional gene silencing **R**: repeat element of the HIV LTR R5: CCR5-tropic HIV-1 R5X4: CCR5 & CXCR4 dual-tropic HIV-1 Rev: HIV regulator of expression of viral proteins **RIN**: RNA integrity number **RIP-seq:** RNA immunoprecipitation followed by sequencing **RISC:** RNA induced silencing complex **RLC**: RISC-loading complex **RNA**: Ribonucleic acid **RNAi**: RNA interference RNA Pol II/III: RNA Polymerase II/III **RNA-seq:** RNA sequencing **RNP**: ribonucleoprotein **RPMI**: Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium **RRE**: HIV Rev response element **rRNA**: ribosomal RNA **RT**: HIV reverse transcriptase

RT-ddPCR: reverse-transcription droplet digital PCR RT-qPCR: reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction rtTA: reverse tetracycline-controlled transactivator SAHA: suberanilohydroxamic acid, also known as vorinostat SDS-PAGE: sodium dodecyl sulfatepolyacrylamide gel electrophoresis **SEC**: Super Elongation Complex shRNA: short hairpin RNA shRNAmiR: shRNA built onto an miRNA backbone siRNA: small interfering RNA SIV(cpz): Simian Immunodeficiency Virus (lineage found in chipanzees) **sncRNA**: short non-coding RNA snRNP: small nuclear ribonucleoprotein **Sp1**: specificity protein 1 ssRNA: single-stranded RNA TAR: HIV trans-activation response element TasP: Treatment as Prevention Tat: HIV trans-activator of transcription **TBST**: tris-buffered saline with 1% Tween 20 TetO: tetracycline operator **TGS**: transcriptional gene silencing **TRBP**: TAR RNA binding protein TSS: transcription start site U3: unique region 3 of the HIV LTR U5: unique region 5 of the HIV LTR **UNAIDS**: United Nations programme on HIV/AIDS **USA**: United States of America UTR: untranslated region **Vif**: HIV viral infectivity factor **Vpr**: HIV viral protein regulatory Vpu: HIV-1 viral protein unique **vRNA**: viral RNA VSV-G: Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Glycoprotein **WST-1**: Water-soluble tetrazolium salt 1 X4: CXCR4-tropic HIV-1

Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review 1 The Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) 1.1 The HIV/AIDS Pandemic: A Historical Perspective 1.1a Discovery

At the turn of the 1980's, physicians in New York City and California noticed an alarming outbreak of immune suppression in previously healthy young adults. These first clusters of patients presented with darkened skin lesions associated with a rare opportunistic cancer and/or pneumonia caused by an opportunistic fungus, although later cases would expand clinical presentations into a long list of opportunistic diseases (1-3). An important underlying marker that connected these cases was a severe and specific loss of T helper lymphocytes (Figure 1A) (4). Early reports remarked that afflicted patients were almost uniquely men who have sex with men, people who used injection drugs, haemophiliacs who required regular pooled blood transfusions or Haitian immigrants; the former three indicators suggesting that this new outbreak of immune deficiency could somehow be acquired sexually and percutaneously (2, 5, 6).

By January 1983, a group of virologists at the Pasteur Institute in Paris isolated and grew a virus from the enlarged lymph node of a patient at risk for the immunosuppressive disease (7, 8). This virus had an abnormal conical core and could reverse transcribe RNA into DNA, suggesting to this team that it was a new retrovirus. At the same time, a lab at the National Institutes of Health (Maryland) considered that the isolated agent was the Human T-cell Leukemia Virus (HTLV), a virus with a polyhedral core that enhances T-cell replication (9). HTLV, the first pathogenic human retrovirus, had recently been identified in 1980 based on key discoveries made in the previous decade of the reverse transcriptase enzyme and a growth factor that could maintain T-cells in culture (10-14). These discoveries gave precedence to identify the novel immunosuppressive agent as a human retrovirus and to study it in cells. Over several publications, the retrovirus described in Paris was finally confirmed in late 1984 to be a new virus and the cause of the epidemic of immune suppression (15-17). The novel retrovirus in question would be called Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) and the disease was Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS). Despite the characterization and culture of HIV in the early 1980's, an accessible cure remains elusive on the outbreak's 40th anniversary. HIV/AIDS has spread worldwide, affected sexual and social practices at large, become a major obstacle for the economic and social development of many African countries, and killed approximately 33 million people (18, 19).

1.1b Evolution & Classification

AIDS is caused by two retroviruses of the *Lentivirus* genus: *HIV-1* and *HIV-2*. HIV-1 is further subdivided into four groups: M, N, O and P. The 'major' (M) group is the only pandemic group of HIV and is the cause for the vast majority of current AIDS diagnoses, while groups N, O and P are still largely confined to the Congo Basin, where they were discovered (20, 21). Group M is further subdivided into subgroups with different pathogenicities and geographical prevalences (Figure 1B) (22). The four HIV-1 groups likely emerged in the human population as a result of distinct blood-borne cross-species transmissions of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus (SIV) from chimpanzees (M & N) or gorillas (O & P) to humans (20, 23, 24). Based on sequence identity, all known lineages of the less prevalent and locally constrained HIV-2 are thought to have originated from sooty mangabey monkeys, which harbour a species-specific lineage of SIV (SIVsmm) that is distinct from those most common in chimpanzees (SIVcpz) and gorillas (SIVgor) (20).

SIV rarely establishes transmissible infection in humans despite regular spillovers of SIV into bushmeat hunters in Central Africa (25). On rare instances when such a zoonotic infection takes hold in a human host, SIV can progressively adapt to the environment due to high mutation and replication rates common to lentiviruses (20, 26-28). Sampling of modern SIVcpz from chimpanzee species around Central Africa suggested that the SIV ancestor of HIV-1 (M) first entered humans from troglodytes chimpanzees in southeastern Cameroon (23). The first confirmed case of HIV-1 infection worldwide was a patient in 1959 in Léopoldville, what is now Kinshasa, the capital of the Democratic Republic of the Congo, whose preserved lymph tissue was retrieved in the 1990s for retrospective diagnosis (29). This preserved HIV-1 genome and a divergent genome sample from 1960 were used to constrain molecular clock models to estimate that HIV-1 (M) began circulating in the population near Léopoldville around 1920 (20, 21, 30). Between the 1920's and 1980's, HIV-1 (M) would spread and silently evolve into a devastatingly efficient group of human pathogens that would erupt into the pandemic we know today. Central Africa continues to retain the highest genomic diversity of HIV-1 worldwide (Figure 1B) (22, 30, 31). It is estimated that HIV-1 (M) circulated from Central Africa to the Caribbean in the mid-to-late 1960's and from there to New York in the late 1960's to early 1970's, explaining the higher incidence of AIDS among Haitian immigrants in the early American epidemic (27, 32, 33).



Figure 1: HIV/AIDS epidemics. A) Chart showing a typical course of HIV infection and development of AIDS following an acute phase of HIV replication and a long phase of clinical latency with a continually depreciating count of T helper cells (CD4⁺ T-cells). Figure from Pantaleo, Graziosi & Fauci *N Eng J Med* 1993 (4). **B)** Regional abundances and distributions of HIV-1 (M) subtypes (A-K), circulating recombinant forms (CRFs) or unique recombinant forms (URFs) from data collected between 2010 and 2015. Figure from Hemelaar et al. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2019 (22). **C)** Global HIV incidence, prevalence, mortality, and people on ART, by sex, for all ages, 1980–2017. Shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals. Figure and legend from GBD 2017 HIV collaborators *Lancet HIV* 2019 (34).

HIV-1 rapidly mutates and can become a diverse population or "quasispecies" of variably mutated virus lineages within a single infected person before effective viral suppression is achieved with combination antiretroviral therapies (cART) (28). Rapid mutation is an important consideration for the development of antiretroviral drugs because in combination with pre-existing genetic diversity, this phenomenon is contributing to a rising prevalence of drug resistance in developing countries and has implications on vaccine development, diagnostic assays and responses to antiretroviral treatments (22, 35-37).

1.1c The Ongoing Pandemic

The rollout of effective cART beginning in the mid-1990's alongside a wide range of science-based societal, public health and medical interventions, have collectively brought down

the global rate of new HIV cases and AIDS-related deaths from their respective maxima in 1998 and 2004-2006 (Figure 1C) (34, 38). However, not everyone living with HIV knows their status, not everyone who knows their status is accessing sustained cART, and not everyone accessing sustained cART is able to achieve successful viral suppression (18, 39). HIV continues to infect more than a million people every year and remains most prevalent in Sub-Saharan Africa (18). The virus has recently been increasing in incidence in Eastern Europe, Central Asia, Latin America and several high-income countries including Canada (34, 38).

In 2014, the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) proposed to the United Nations General Assembly a set of targets for ending AIDS as a public health threat by 2030, in which they included interim goals for 2020 (40). None of these interim goals were met in 2020 due to a combination of stagnating funding for continued interventions against the virus and an unequal landscape of support from governments that had agreed to these targets (34, 38). The COVID-19 pandemic dealt an additional blow to the UNAIDS' 2030 target in the form of an acute volatility of healthcare spending and support for people living with HIV (38). As the largest single cause of immune deficiency in humans, HIV adds a considerable burden to healthcare systems and can contribute to the emergence, re-emergence and evolution of other infectious diseases (41-45). HIV/AIDS should thus remain of concern to all those infected or not by the virus. If we hope to one day end AIDS as a public health threat, we must reverse the current trend of letting HIV/AIDS slip down the international agenda, we must continue to support evidence-based interventions in the prevention of HIV spread, and we must continue to research new ways of ending the pandemic.

1.2 The HIV-1 Virion and its Replication Cycle 1.2a The Viral Genome and its Products

Like other members of the *Lentivirus* genus, HIV-1 is an enveloped virus whose duplicated positive single-stranded (ss)RNA genome is enclosed by a conical core of capsid proteins in mature virions (Figure 2A). As part of the virus' replication cycle, the HIV-1 RNA genome is copied into DNA that can be integrated into the human genome to become a provirus. This proviral genome encodes nine principal genes (*gag, pol, vif, vpr, tat, rev, vpu, env* and *nef*) and is flanked by a pair of identical long terminal repeats (LTRs) that can be structurally subdivided into a region uniquely found at the 3' end of the ssRNA genome (U3), a repeat region found at both ends of the ssRNA genome (R), and a region unique to the 5' end of the ssRNA genome (U5) (Figure 2B).

The U3 region encodes a virus-specific promoter, enhancer and modulatory region; the R region spans the virus' +1 transcriptional start site (TSS) and an important RNA stem loop called the transactivation response (TAR) element; and the U5 region encodes several downstream transcriptional modulators.



Figure 2: The HIV-1 virion, elements of its genome and its replication cycle. A) Components of the HIV-1 particle. Figure adapted from HI-virion-structure_en.svg (by Thomas Splettstoesser, CC BY-SA 4.0). **B)** Map of the HIV-1 genome adapted from reference locations on the HIV sequence database (hiv.lanl.gov). Below are annotated structural and functional regions of the LTR, adapted from Mori & Valente *Viruses* 2020 (46). **C)** Important events in the HIV replication cycle. Figure adapted from HIV-replication-cycle-en.svg (by Jmarchn, CC BY-SA 3.0).

The viral gene gag encodes a 55kDa polyprotein p55^{Gag} (Gag), which is cleaved by the virus' protease into a nucleocapsid, a capsid (p24), a matrix protein and several smaller peptides. pol is translated as a frameshift readthrough product of the gag gene and so results in a less abundant larger p160^{GagPol} (GagPol) polyprotein, which itself can be cleaved into the above Gag products in addition to an integrase enzyme important for integrating the reverse-transcribed genome into the host genome, the reverse transcriptase (RT) enzyme, and the protease. The env gene encodes a precursor gp160 protein, which is cleaved by cellular furin and furin-like proteases into two products (gp120 and gp41) that assemble into trimers of heterodimers on the viral envelope to bind and infect new host cells (47, 48). Accessory proteins of the virus perform the following functions: the viral infectivity factor (Vif) stimulates reverse transcription (49); the viral protein regulatory (Vpr) facilitates nuclear import of the pre-integration complex and induces apoptosis (50, 51); the trans-activator of transcription (Tat) is primarily a regulator of gene transactivation guided by the TAR RNA (section 1.2c) (52); the regulator of expression of viral proteins (Rev) facilitates the export of viral (v)RNAs from the nucleus into the cytoplasm by associating with an RNA secondary structure encoded in env called the Rev response element (RRE) (53); the viral protein unique (Vpu) inhibits cellular regulatory factors (54, 55); and the negative factor (Nef) enhances viral infectivity and modulates the expression of host proteins by engaging host trafficking pathways (56, 57).

1.2b The Replication Cycle

When HIV-1 enters a new host through blood or other body fluids, the first step in the viral replication cycle is for a virion to meet a target immune cell that carries cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4) receptors on its surface, including T helper cells (also known as CD4⁺ T lymphocytes), monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells (Figure 2C) (58-61). Here, gp120 subunits of the envelope complex on the viral surface interface with CD4, which causes a rearrangement of variable loops on the gp120 surface such that the complex can bind to one of two chemokine correceptors on the cell surface: CCR5 or CXCR4 (58, 62). Common mutations in gp120 favour binding of HIV-1 envelope complexes to either CCR5, CXCR4 or both, corresponding respectively to the *R5 HIV*, *X4 HIV* and *R5X4 HIV* nomenclature of viral tropism (63). However, likely due to several host restrictions on X4 viruses, only R5 and R5X4 viruses are frequently sexually transmitted (64). Thus, R5 viruses predominate in early infection while X4 & R5X4

viruses only begin to predominate in later stages of infection (58, 65). Once both the host receptor and the co-receptor are bound, the viral envelope is either endocytosed or fuses with the host cell membrane and the core is released into the cytoplasm (66-68).

Within the cytoplasm, the viral core migrates towards the nucleus of the cell either using microtubules or by some other means (69, 70). While this is happening, the core transitions into a reverse transcription complex in which the viral RNA genome is copied into double-stranded DNA. Reverse transcription is effectuated by the error-prone viral reverse transcriptase enzyme in a complex set of transfer RNA and end-to-end priming steps that contribute to HIV population heterogeneity through mutation and recombination (71-74). Although the details of uncoating are not well understood, the reverse transcription complex gradually loses components during or after reverse transcription to become a pre-integration complex that associates with nuclear pore complexes (75, 76). Capsid proteins, other components of the pre-integration complex, the viral integrase and the DNA genome then translocate through nuclear pore complexes into the nucleus where integrase inserts the viral genome into accessible host DNA (77, 78).

In a favourable environment (section 1.2c), the proviral genome is transcribed into vRNAs including unspliced RNAs that are incorporated into virions and encode Gag and GagPol; incompletely spliced sub-genomic mRNAs encoding Env, Vif, Vpr and Vpu; and multiply spliced RNAs that encode Tat, Rev and Nef (79). Multiply spliced vRNAs are first shuttled out of the nucleus like cellular mRNAs until enough Rev accumulates to interact with RREs in unspliced and partially spliced vRNAs to overcome cellular restrictions on intron-containing RNAs exiting the nucleus (79). Sub-genomic vRNAs are transcribed into viral proteins either in the cytoplasm or across the endoplasmic reticulum in the case of gp160 (80).

The assembly and release of virus particles are both primarily coordinated by the uncleaved Gag or the larger unprocessed frameshift product GagPol. At the membrane, the Gag polyprotein can form spherical virus-like particles on its own, facilitate concentration of Env complexes on the envelope, recruit duplexed RNA genomes to budding virions, and signal to host endosomal sorting complexes required for transport (ESCRT) to release the virion from the plasma membrane (81). Envelope complexes are shuttled from the Golgi apparatus to the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane and are concentrated on virions by trans-membrane interactions with the matrix domain of Gag (81). Two full-length non-translating copies of the capped and polyadenylated RNA genome are incorporated into each virion as dimers by means of interactions between RNA

secondary structure packaging signals and Gag's nucleocapsid domain at the cell membrane (82-84). Virions carry cellular proteins on their envelopes alongside other host factors in their cores. The contributions of these host factors to the virus replication cycle are not clearly defined, with notable exceptions of host transfer RNAs used in reverse transcription and host intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) that increases HIV-1 infectivity (71, 85).

Further steps of maturation are required after the virus buds from the cell before it can go on to infect a new cell (81, 86). The viral protease cleaves Gag into its separate protein fragments for the virus core to develop its signature conical shape given by the assembly of hexamers and pentamers of capsid proteins (81). During transcription, RNA processing and virion production/maturation, genomic RNAs begin with R-U5 regions and end with U3-R regions. The duplicate LTRs at either end of the viral DNA genome are completed as part of the reverse transcription process at the start of the next cellular infection so that the genome can be integrated into cellular DNA (71).

1.2c Regulation of Viral Transcription

HIV-1 has evolved many strategies to fine-tune virus gene expression through host regulatory processes, starting before the virus is integrated into the human genome. After HIV-1 enters the nucleus and before it is integrated into the human genome, recent data suggests that host nucleosomes are recruited to specified loci on the unintegrated virus genome that prevent transcription until the virus is integrated (87, 88).

The genomic environment surrounding a virus integration site can have a profound effect on its expression (89, 90). Although integration is not specific to individual sites in the human genome, the virus favours integration into genomic environments that are generally favourable to virus expression. The complete proviral genome is most often found in RNA Polymerase (Pol) IIdependent transcriptional units, in regions with high GC content, in regions with active histone marks, and in regions at the outer shell of the active T-cell nucleus; all of which are associated with transcription (78).

Once integrated, several factors determine whether the provirus will remain transcriptionally silent or will express viral genes (summarized in Figure 3A). The fate of transcription-competent viruses are regulated basally by epigenetic factors, such as the occupancy of nucleosomes at specific sites on the HIV-1 promoter, the recruitment of histone-binding

proteins, and DNA methylation (46, 78, 87, 90, 91). In patients receiving cART, intact proviruses are most often found in resting CD4⁺ T-cells, in which the virus promoter is often associated with repressive histone deacetylases (HDACs) and histone methyltransferases (HMTs) (92-94). Following integration and in unfavourable environments for virus transcription, the ATP-dependent chromatin remodeler BRG/BRM-associated factor (BAF) positions a nucleosome at an energetically unfavourable site adjacent to the transcription start site (TSS), which contributes to a block in transcription elongation (46, 88).

Transcription initiation at the TSS is further subject to regulation by binding of numerous necessary, accessory and modulatory transcription factors at the 5'LTR (46, 95-97). Upon T-cell activation, transcription factors such as nuclear factor for activated T-cells (NFAT), specificity protein 1 (Sp1), and heterodimers of nuclear factor (NF)- κ B bind to the promoter. With the help of Tat, these transcription factors recruit elements of the pre-initiation complex (PIC) and histone acetyl transferases (HATs) to remodel the nucleosome at the TSS and ultimately form an active promoter (46, 88, 93, 97-100). However, even in favourable conditions for transcription initiation, transcription of full HIV-1 transcripts is especially weak in the absence of Tat (101-103). Tat has been shown have a stronger effect on proviral expression than does cell state in computational, synthetic and patient cell models of infection (103).

The Tat protein has evolved several multitasking functions within the cell, including recruitment of HATs and the PIC to the HIV-1 promoter for initiation, recruitment of a BAF-related virus promoting remodeling complex to the TSS-adjacent nucleosome, and activation or repression of cellular genes (46, 88, 96, 97, 100, 104, 105). However, the most recognized function performed by Tat is the formation of an effective processive RNA Pol II complex for transcriptional elongation of paused ~60nt vRNAs by recruitment of the positive transcription elongation factor (P-TEFb) to TAR stem loops (52, 101, 106-110). When the promoter is open and active, RNA Pol II initiates transcription, but stalls after 50-60 nucleotides to form short transcripts containing TAR (111). These transcripts are often aborted and make up the majority of HIV-1 transcripts in cells isolated from patients on suppressive cART (112). This pausing is thought to be effectuated primarily by the inhibitory actions of DRB Sensitivity Inducing Factor (DSIF) and Negative Elongation Factor (NELF), two negative elongation factors bound to RNA Pol II that pause transcription at human genes following initiation (91, 109, 113-115).



Figure 3: Regulation of HIV-1 expression. A) Simplified overview of some of the more important factors involved in the epigenetic regulation of HIV-1 transcription. Figure from Mori & Valente *Viruses* 2020 (46). **B)** Proposed model of transactivation by Tat/TAR through recruitment and stabilization of the SEC to paused TAR-containing RNAs. Drawing informed by He et al. *PNAS* 2011 (116), Chou et al. *PNAS* 2013 (117), Qi et al. *Nat Commun* 2016 (118) and Schulze-Gahmen & Hurley *PNAS* 2018 (119). **C)** Annotated ribbon diagram of TAR and Tat in complex with P-TEFb and a disordered region at the N-terminus of AFF4 that becomes ordered in this complex. Structure determined by X-ray crystallography to a resolution of 3.5 Å (PDB ID 6CYT) (119). Approximate rotation angles shown with respect to Figure 3B.

P-TEFb is a complex composed of cyclin-dependent kinase 9 (CDK9) and cyclin T1 (CycT1), which regulates the transition from transcription initiation to elongation by phosphorylating and thereby relieving the inhibitory effects of NELF and DSIF on RNA Pol II, as well as phosphorylating Ser2 residues of the C-terminal domain of the largest subunit of RNA Pol

II (96, 113, 120). P-TEFb has also been implicated in assembling complexes important for transcription initiation at the HIV-1 promoter (97). Transcription regulation, RNA interference, inhibitory kinases and the proteasome maintain low levels of available CycT1 and CDK9 in resting CD4⁺ T-cells, while reactivation of T-cells increases these levels (121-124). In an active T-cell, P-TEFb can assemble, but its ability to promote transcription initiation and elongation is further fine-tuned by hexamethylene bis-acetamide-inducible protein 1 (HEXIM1), which recruits most free P-TEFb complexes onto the 7SK small nuclear ribonucleoprotein (snRNP) at inactive promoters for functional sequestration (96, 125). Signaling cascades and cell states including stress (apoptosis, ultraviolet light, transcriptional blockers), drug treatments and changes to cellular chromatin can release P-TEFb from the 7SK snRNP to return cells to homeostasis or shift the state of cell growth and differentiation (126, 127). However, regulation by HEXIM1 and 7SK is in equilibrium in cells and the release of P-TEFb leads to increased expression of HEXIM1 until P-TEFb is returned to the 7SK snRNP (126, 128). In the context of HIV-1, Tat can directly compete with HEXIM1 for P-TEFb and can further induce the non-degradative monoubiquitination of HEXIM1, liberating free P-TEFb from HEXIM1 to stimulate HIV-1 transcription (125, 129).

Tat forms two stable complexes with P-TEFb that can separately act to elongate HIV-1 transcripts. The first complex is composed of P-TEFb, Tat and the 7SK snRNP lacking HEXIM1 (109). The second complex is the host Super Elongation Complex (SEC), which is an important regulator of transcription elongation for host cell genes in the absence of Tat (91, 130). The SEC is composed of Tat, two different transcription elongation factors P-TEFb and eleven-nineteen Lys-rich leukaemia protein 2 (ELL2), and members of the eleven-nineteen leukemia/ALL1-fused gene from chromosome 9 (ENL/AF9) family, built onto a flexible scaffold of AF4/FMR2 Family Members AFF1 and/or AFF4 (Figure 3B) (91, 116, 118, 131-133). Without Tat, an intrinsically disordered N-terminal region of AFF4 comes together into a semi-stable complex with CycT1 to form a transient SEC (134). Tat associates with CycT1 and AFF4 in this binding groove and pulls TAR into close association with CycT1 to form an active SEC (Figure 3C) (119, 135). AFF4 binding stabilizes CycT1-Tat-TAR so that SEC-bound Tat-P-TEFb complexes have 50-fold higher affinity for TAR than do Tat-P-TEFb alone (135, 136). Furthermore, AFF4 inefficiently recruits ELL2 into fully functional SECs in the absence of Tat, while Tat increases the expression of ELL2 and recruitment of ELL2 to P-TEFb through AFF4, stimulating the assembly of competent SECs (118). AFF1/4-built SECs are thus important co-regulators of HIV-1 gene expression with Tat.

1.2d Reservoirs & Latency

In the early stages of infection in a new human host, HIV-1 virions associate with dendritic cells, which efficiently carry the virus to CD4⁺ T-cells in lymph nodes as part of the canonical antiviral immune response (61, 137, 138). Virions then hijack immune synapses formed between mature dendritic cells and T-cells to infect this latter preferred target cell type (61, 137, 138). Most T-cells activated during infection die off quickly following acute stages of infection (Figure 1A), but sub-populations of infected cells survive and maintain diverse reservoirs of intact proviral genomes (139, 140). Resting memory CD4⁺ T-cells remain the most well-defined reservoir cell type for HIV-1 proviruses, although naïve T-cells can also contribute to the reservoir population and there is some controversy as to whether macrophages can also contribute to persistence (61, 94). Resting T-cells are able to persist for years and may further maintain proviral reservoirs through low levels of proliferation and clonal expansion in organs with low cART penetration, although the contribution of compartmentalized replication is disputed (139, 141-143). Of importance to cure strategies, defective proviruses harbouring hypermutated genomes or large internal deletions rapidly make up the majority of integrated genomes in people living with HIV-1 (74). These replication incompetent proviruses contribute to a reservoir that can express viral epitopes and stimulate immune activation despite sustained cART, which may support proliferation of intact reservoir cells and may have long-term immunomodulatory consequences for people living with the virus (144). Although the intact reservoir declines over time, the average reservoir half-life in people on sustained cART is 3.6 years, and given the average estimated reservoir size at the start of cART, should be understood as being a life-long reservoir (145-147).

As cells that do not express viral proteins can avoid virus-mediated cytopathic effects and immune clearance, the persistence of the intact reservoir over years of sustained cART relies on low or no expression of vRNAs or virus antigens from intact genomes, a state broadly termed latency. Latency is an important subject of study for HIV-1 cure research but suffers from unclear and sometimes varied definitions. Since virus reservoirs exist as quasispecies in diverse cell subsets, diverse microenvironments and diverse chromosome locations; the latent reservoir should be understood as a variable population of infected cells in an array of different HIV-1 expression states ranging from "deep latency" with no vRNA expression, to low protein expression and defective virion production. To this point, there is no consensus about which state of expression is most common amongst latent populations. It was initially believed that transcriptionally silent

HIV-1 genomes make up the bulk of latent viruses, but a recent study by Yukl et al. using droplet digital PCR (RT-ddPCR) put this into question. By assessing the abundance of initiated, elongated, completed, polyadenylated and spliced vRNAs in treated primary T-cells from HIV-1-infected individuals, the authors reported that blocks to transcription initiation contributed less to reversible latency than did a series of blocks to transcription elongation, distal transcription, polyadenylation and splicing (112). Using assays targeting elongated vRNAs, a different group similarly found that significant fractions of infected cells in peripheral blood and lymph nodes express vRNAs during cART, indicating that regulatory events after transcription initiation contribute under-appreciated effects to latency (148, 149).

Latency is rarely sustained in individuals who do not maintain regular treatment. Sustained cART is effective at inhibiting reservoir proviruses from replicating and spreading, but it has been well described that most people who pause or terminate antiretroviral therapies eventually have a rebound in virus expression from seemingly stochastic events (150, 151). Proviral expression in reservoir cells can be triggered by drugs, or stochastically by a multitude of possible changes to the cellular microenvironment that may lead to changes in the regulation of transcription (section 1.2c) or translation (46, 94, 152).

1.3 Taming HIV1.3a Current Therapies and Drug Regimens

Zidovudine (AZT) was the first antiretroviral drug approved for use in the United States against HIV-1 in 1987. AZT can safely prolong the lives of people living with HIV-1, but its use is associated with notable toxicities and it was soon discovered that drug resistance would rapidly develop against monotherapies using the drug (153). Progression to AIDS remained inevitable for most HIV-infected individuals until it was demonstrated in 1996/1997 that triple therapies including the newly approved nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitor lamivudine could restore CD4⁺ T-cells and suppress HIV-1 expression for up to a year without reversion (154). There are now approximately 30 unique antiretroviral drugs that have been approved for use in the USA, EU and Canada (155). These drugs broadly comprise seven classes that target different steps in the viral replication cycle (155-157). Modern therapies are largely effective at keeping HIV-1 expression at undetectable levels for most newly infected individuals and offer numerous combinations in the event that a first-line combination results in toxicities, resistance, or dosing

regimen issues (155, 156). Cabenuva, the first relatively safe and effective nanoformulated longacting cART regimen, was recently approved for use in Canada and the USA in 2020 and 2021, respectively, providing an alternative once-a-month solution for individuals who have trouble adhering to daily regimens (158, 159). Year-long extended-release regimens are also being developed in animals to improve upon this most recent advancement (160). Importantly, the continued administration of cART in people living with HIV is an effective measure for inhibiting transmission between sexual partners, known as Treatment as Prevention (TasP) (157).

1.3b Prevention Measures

Effective drug combinations are not the only factors affecting a limited spread of HIV-1 (M) in regions where the spread of infection has been dwindling. In the absence of effective vaccines, many evidence-based measures have helped prevent new infections, including measures to promote increased screening and counselling for at-risk populations, condom use, male circumcision, needle exchanges for injection drug users, and prevention of spread by blood transfusion or from mother to child through screening and treatment (34, 157, 161). Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP) and Post-Exposure Prophylaxis (PEP) composed of cART, can be used in individuals who are exposed to HIV and can inhibit early replication of the virus in a new host to prevent the establishment of a reservoir (157).

1.3c The Need for a Cure

Despite evidence that the above measures that can be pivotal to the strength of a public health campaign aimed at limiting the spread of new infections, there are still 38 million people living with HIV, of which only 68% are receiving ART of some form (18). With recent advancements in cART, most individuals living with HIV can look forward to a life expectancy approaching that of non-infected people (162). However, for a person to avoid progressing to AIDS and prevent transmitting the virus to sexual partners, they must follow a strict schedule of cART administration indefinitely. Furthermore, people living with HIV in areas with little access to reliable healthcare follow-up often have difficulties adhering to treatment regimens, while others fail to follow their treatment for other reasons such as overly complex dosing schedules, treatment related side-effects, stigma and depression (163, 164). Given the complexities, medical expenses and stigma associated with lifelong cART, people infected with HIV need and deserve a cure.

1.3d Strategies Towards a Cure

In order to eliminate the need for life-long drug administration, three major HIV cure strategies have emerged: to pharmaceutically reactivate virus expression in all reservoir cells for a controlled clearance of these cells by immune and/or cytotoxic effects (termed the "Shock & Kill" strategy); to excise the viral genome from latently infected cells using gene editing; and to functionally inhibit the reservoir in the absence of cART by preventing of virus expression ("Block & Lock" or "B&L") and/or more broadly by preventing the spread of infection (a functional cure).

Shock & Kill strategies have garnered much attention for their theoretical potential to eliminate reservoirs from infected individuals (termed a sterilizing cure). Various attempts at Shock and later Shock & Kill strategies have been made in clinical trials from the late 1990's onwards, using latency reversing agents (LRAs) that are known to reactivate latent HIV-1 proviruses to varied extents. Trials included LRAs such as chromatin modifying HDAC inhibitors (HDACis) and histone methyltransferase inhibitors (HMTis), P-TEFb agonists and transcriptional activators that stimulate activation of the HIV-1 promoter and T-cell proliferation signals through NF-kB (165-169). All human Shock & Kill trials to date have had limited success at reducing the size of the latent reservoir and no success at complete elimination (170, 171). A successful sterilizing cure would require highly effective reactivation of the host reservoir in order to ensure that no deeply latent proviruses remain, a challenge that has yet to be achieved. Highly targeted LRAs have recently shown promise in animal models of infection by stimulating reactivation in all reservoir tissues with limited toxicity, but these advanced LRAs have not yet been tested in humans (172). If these interventions prove effective at reactivating the reservoir, resulting high levels of virus expression might counterbalance the clearance of infected cells by re-seeding a larger reservoir if not properly managed with effective cART in difficult-to-penetrate reservoir tissues. A successful Shock & Kill intervention would thus also hinge on effective clearance of activated cells and virus particles, which has not proven to be a simple requirement in patients at risk for immune suppression and AIDS (173).

The second strategy to reduce the size of the reservoir consists of direct *in vivo* gene editing of reservoir proviruses. At present, the most commonly used technology for gene editing in experimental settings is CRISPR-Cas, an easily programmable RNA-guided system that cleaves sequences in the genome that are homologous to a ~20 nt sequence in guide RNAs carried by the CRISPR-associated (Cas) effector enzyme (174). CRISPR-Cas was developed as a gene editing

tool in 2012 and has since inspired the development of numerous modified Cas proteins that have different targeting-dependent functions or that have more precise genome editing capabilities than their predecessor, which are promising developments for an eventual HIV-1 sterilizing cure (175-177). A recent publication reported an unprecedented successful reduction of viral reservoirs in humanized HIV-1 infected mice treated sequentially with lipophilic reservoir penetrating long-acting slow effective release ART and an adeno-associated virus (AAV) vector carrying a *Streptococcus pyogenes* Cas in combination with multiplexed guide RNAs targeting conserved regions of the HIV-1 genome (178). This proof-of-concept study demonstrated that a reduction in reservoir sizes may be possible using gene editing technologies, however this combination is in early stages of research and optimisations will be needed to improve the delivery of this combination therapy in humans without sacrificing safety. Although *in vivo* gene editing technologies show promise for reducing the HIV-1 reservoir, these technologies remain in their infancy in the clinic. Over the coming years, gene editing approaches will have to overcome concerns over low delivery efficiency to a heterogeneous reservoir, construct immunogenicity, off-target effects and viral escape due to the quasispecies nature of HIV-1 populations (179).

Functional cure strategies have emerged as tractable alternatives to the above reservoir reduction/eradication approaches. Although interventions that merely repress viral rebound in patients may appear less attractive than those that have a potential to eradicate latent reservoirs, approaches taken in the near-term to negate the need for regular cART may reduce costs and associated side-effects for patients while the safety and efficacy of sterilizing cure technologies are improved for later combined efforts.

Functional cure strategies are inspired by a small fraction of HIV-infected individuals who naturally control virus replication in the absence of cART (elite controllers). Elite control is stratified into subgroups of individuals with more or less virus suppression, several of whom are known to have particularly small reservoirs and normal immune systems, and can thus be used as examples for how a functional cure to HIV infection may be achieved through a variety of interventions (180, 181). Similarly, a small fraction of people who previously had high levels of viremia, termed "post-treatment controllers", can interrupt cART after many years of suppression and not suffer from viral rebound despite remaining silent reservoirs (182-184). It is not well understood how elite controllers and post-treatment controllers are differently able to suppress viral rebound without cART, however, it is believed that a combination of a strong host immune

response, virus integration sites unfavourable to transcription in remaining reservoir cells, and low starting reservoir size may contribute to these states (185-187). Recent data additionally suggests that intact HIV-1 genomes that have become transcriptionally silent and show multiple features suggestive of deep latency are selected for in patients receiving sustained cART and gradually become the majority of intact integrated genomes, which may help explain post-treatment control and may inform a B&L cure (188). Functional cure strategies base on heightened immune regulation of low-level reservoir proliferation are reviewed in (39, 94, 189).

Other biological precedence to consider in functional cure research are two HIV-infected individuals, Adam Castillejo and the late Timothy Ray Brown, who received allogeneic haematopoietic stem-cell transplantations (HSCT) from donors harboring a homozygous mutation in their CCR5 co-receptors (CCR5 Δ 32/ Δ 32) and subsequently remained in remission from reservoir reactivation for years following cART interruption (190-192). CCR5 Δ 32/ Δ 32 mutations are rare but not pathogenic in the human population and confer resistance to R5 HIV infection, suggesting that these two HSCT recipients maintained a stable HIV-1 remission by limiting the number of cells the virus can re-seed during low-level reservoir proliferation (190, 193). Unfortunately, HSCT can not currently be used for large-scale cure efforts because it is limited by the requirement for highly specialized medical personnel, by the high cost and high risk of the procedure and by the need for CCR5 Δ 32/ Δ 32 stem cells derived from rare immune-compatible donors or from expensive ex vivo gene therapy procedures (194). Furthermore, R5X4 and X4 strains of HIV made up no more than 2.9% of Brown's virus population before he received two rounds of full body irradiation and HSCT, while no X4 HIV proviruses were detectable among Castillejo's virus population before his irradiation-free HSCT (191, 192). No mutations in CXCR4 that confer resistance to X4 HIV have been reported to circulate non-deleteriously in the human population and targeting CXCR4 prevents proper maturation and differentiation of hematopoietic stem cells, so a similar treatment may not be possible for people living with large populations of R5X4 and X4 viruses (194, 195). Functional cure strategies that include the removal of susceptible HIV target cells are reviewed in (39, 189, 195, 196).

In addition to therapeutics that can augment the antiviral immune response and limit the number of HIV-susceptible cells, an effective combination functional cure may require elements that extendedly prevent virus expression from reservoirs at the level of transcription or translation. Several potential latency promoting agents (LPAs) have been proposed to deepen latency for a

Block & Lock cure approach, notably including didehydro-cortistatin A (dCA), a potent synthetic inhibitor of Tat-TAR interactions that has been shown to reduce vRNA expression from reservoirs and delay viral rebound in primary cells and in humanised mice; rapamycin and other non-eponymous inhibitors of the mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR), which reduce CCR5 & CXCR4 surface expression and inhibit CDK9 phosphorylation; several promising signaling pathway kinase inhibitors recently identified in high-throughput screens; and small RNA drugs that will be explored in the following sections (46, 195-202). Research into LPAs as possible curative therapies has only recently been given renewed interest after years of funding stagnation in favour of research into sterilizing cure approaches. Due to continued failures of Shock & Kill interventions and known limitations of current gene editing technologies, increased attention needs to be attributed to the identification of new LPAs and to the development of therapies that combine LPAs with advanced antiviral immunotherapies and/or cART with the aim of eventually eliminating the need for continued cART after a treatment schedule is complete.

2 RNA Interference (RNAi)2.1 Complexity, Regulation and the Discovery of RNAi

Over long evolutionary time, organisms have diverged to effectuate countless biological roles and survive in varied environments. To adapt to fluctuations in surrounding conditions, organisms have evolved multilayered regulatory mechanisms that can define extremely complex regulatory programs and resulting cellular phenotypes, while making use of a relatively small number of genes and simple regulatory mechanisms. For example, the human genome encodes approximately 20 000 protein coding genes, while the human body is composed of tens of trillions of cells that exhibit innumerable distinct phenotypes and functions which can each change in response to external cues from the cellular microenvironment. Here, we explore RNAi, a critically important regulatory pathway in sculpting the transcriptome for development or homeostasis which appears to have been present in the last common ancestor of all eukaryotes and has left a distinct imprint on most of the genes in our genomes (203-206).

RNAi was first identified in 1998 by Andrew Fire and Craig Mello as a curious phenomenon by which long exogenous double-stranded (ds)RNAs showed potent abovestoichiometric post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS) of complementary genes in *Caenorhabditis elegans*, an occurrence which could not be solely explained by antisense RNA hybridization (207). It was soon discovered that RNA silencing by dsRNAs was more effective than antisense inhibition by ssRNAs in invertebrates and in vertebrates, suggesting that RNAi was a convergent or conserved enzymatic system across eukaryotes (208). Despite this discovery, long (>30 bp) dsRNA stretches were not found to stimulate sequence-specific PTGS in mammalian cells because they triggered antiviral interferon signaling pathways and non-specific shutdowns of global protein synthesis (209-213). This non-specific restriction was overcome when a minimal length (~21 nt) dsRNA called a short interfering RNA (siRNA) was shown to effectively stimulate PTGS in mammals while remaining a far less important stimulator of cellular antiviral pathways than longer dsRNAs (214). That same year, microRNAs (miRNAs) were discovered as an evolutionarily conserved class of short regulatory RNAs that are transcribed from the genome and are processed enzymatically into short (20-22 bp) dsRNA constructs for PTGS (215-219). Over the last two decades since these discoveries, the RNAi pathway has been shown to readily incorporate both exogenous and endogenous RNAs to effectuate numerous regulatory functions in many eukaryotes, including fine-tuning gene expression, determining cell developmental cascades and defending against viruses and transposons (205).

2.2 Mechanism of RNAi

Three general classes of RNAi substrates exist in human cells. The largest and most diverse class of RNAi substrate short non-coding (snc)RNAs expressed in animal cells is a group of genome-encoded ssRNAs called PIWI-interacting (pi)RNAs. piRNAs feed into silencing effector proteins related to those used by both miRNAs and siRNAs, which are expressed abundantly in testes and primarily function to silence transposable elements and maintain fertility in mammals (220). It is disputed whether the piRNA class and their processing enzymes are expressed at sufficient levels in human somatic cells to be important in determining cell phenotypes, so these will not be further discussed in this thesis (220-222). Stretches of dsRNAs that are derived from genomic repeats, transcription of overlapping or otherwise complementary sequences, virus genomes or experimental constructs, can be processed into siRNAs that are loaded into RNAi machinery and can effectuate slicing of fully complementary RNAs in human cells (223, 224). Therapeutic siRNAs will be discussed further in later sections. miRNAs are the best-defined group of RNAi substrates, of which an estimated 2300 take part in regulating the human transcriptome and 519 meet stringent criteria to be called canonical miRNAs (219, 225, 226).

Canonical miRNA biogenesis in humans begins with the transcription by RNA Pol II of primary (pri-)miRNAs; long non-coding RNA transcripts composed of single or multiple inverted repeats that fold over each other to form bulged stem loops (Figure 4A). While most pri-miRNAs are non-coding RNAs whose only known function is to be processed into miRNAs, more than a quarter of well conserved miRNAs are derived from the introns of protein-coding genes (227). pri-miRNA stem loops that will eventually go on to form miRNAs are most often 35 ± 1 bp, contain up to four conserved recognition motifs, and are flanked by ssRNA segments (205, 218). These stem loops are recognized by the Microprocessor, a heterotrimeric nuclear complex that contains the endoribonuclease Drosha and two molecules of its essential binding partner DGCR8 which ensures the fidelity of stem loop processing (218, 228). Drosha has two RNase III domains that each cut a flanking strand from either end of the pri-miRNAs (218, 228). pre-miRNAs are then shuttled out of the nucleus by Exportin 5 and RAN-GTP in a GTP-dependent manner (218).



Figure 4: Fundamental mechanisms of RNA interference. A) Simplified schematic of the miRNA biogenesis pathway including processing of pri-miRNAs into miRNAs, as well as processing of siRNAs from the genome or external sources. dsRNAs are loaded into Dicer by TRBP and are cleaved by Dicer before being loaded in a strand-dependent fashion onto Argonaute for RNA silencing. B) Dominant steps in miRNA-RISC repression of mRNAs, including 1) direct repression of mRNA cap-dependent translation by CCR4–NOT with the help of DDX6, 2) mRNA deadenylation primarily by CCR4–NOT with additional contributions from PAN2-PAN3, 3) mRNA decapping, and 4) exonuclease-mediated mRNA decay. Figure 4B from Duchaine & Fabian. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* 2019 (219).

In the cytoplasm, pre-miRNAs are recognized by the ~1900 amino acid endoribonuclease Dicer and a binding partner involved in substrate selectivity, cleavage site determination and strand selection; the HIV-1 TAR RNA-binding protein (TRBP) or its homologue PACT (229-232). This complex removes the terminal loop of pre-miRNAs to form short duplexes consisting of an miRNA and its complementary passenger strand. Dicer can then interact with one of four Argonaute proteins (Ago1-4) to form an RNA-Induced Silencing Complex (RISC)-Loading Complex (RLC) consisting of Dicer, Ago, the duplexed RNA, TRBP/PACT and other possible cofactors, although it is debated whether the RLC is essential to load canonical dsRNAs into Ago in humans or whether certain miRNAs are ejected from Dicer and loaded into Ago separately (218, 233, 234). miRNAs are loaded into Ago with the help of chaperone proteins (HSC70/HSP90), which use ATP to temporarily open a binding pocket on Ago that is relaxed after loading to kick out or slice the passenger strand (218). While either strand of an miRNA duplex can be loaded into Ago for effective RNAi, the Ago binding pocket preferentially associates with whichever miRNA is less thermodynamically stable at its 5' terminus, among other less important factors (218). As Ago can accept either strand, miRNA naming conventions include the end of the pre-miRNA stem loop from which the miRNA is derived. For example, "mmu-miR-155-5p" is the 5' miRNA from mouse pre-miRNA 155 and "hsa-miR-766-3p" is the 3' miRNA from human pre-miRNA 766.

The 'minimally necessary' RISC components in mammals are Ago2 and a loaded ssRNA, as Ago2 has retained its ancestral ability to 'slice' target strands that have extensive complementarity to the loaded ssRNA (205, 219, 235, 236). Slicing is the primary silencing mechanism used by siRNAs, but not by miRNAs (205, 219, 235). Most miRNA-bound RISC (miRISC) targets in the genome are the 3' untranslated regions (3'UTRs) of genes. These 3'UTRs often retain conserved sequences that hybridize with 'seed' regions ranging miRNA nucleotides 2-8 and occasionally also retain pairing sites for supplementary 3' miRNA nucleotides, but mRNA target sites rarely ever retain complete complementarity to expressed miRNAs (204, 205, 219). It has been estimated that more than 60% of mammalian protein coding genes are under selective pressure to maintain pairing to one or many miRNAs in these regions, supporting the importance of miRNA regulation through seed-pairing in mammalian gene regulation (204). As seed pairing is not sufficient to catalyze slicing by Ago2 or the other Ago species, additional RISC binding partners are needed to effectuate miRNA silencing. The Glycine-Tryptophan protein of 182 kDa (GW182) coordinates this task by directly binding to Ago1-4 and acting as a scaffold protein for

several silencing effectors (219, 237). GW182 binding partners include the poly(A)-binding protein (PABP), several decapping and translation repressing enzymes such as DEAD-box helicase 6 (DDX6), and two deadenylation complexes: poly(A) nuclease (PAN)2-PAN3 and CCR4–NOT (205, 219, 237). There is still much to be explained about how individual GW182-binding effectors affect the kinetics of silencing, although it has been shown that miRISC silencing begins in cells with translational inhibition, effectuated by several activities of DDX6 (recruited indirectly to GW182 by CCR4-NOT); by a dissociation between PABP and translation initiation factors; and by other less well explained mechanisms (205, 219). Inhibition of translation is soon followed by mRNA decay through further deadenylation, decapping and exonuclease activity, making up the more dominant mode of miRISC-mediated repression than translation inhibition in post-embryonic cells (Figure 4B) (205, 219, 238). In mammals, this silencing is largely effectuated in glycine- and tryptophan-rich liquid-liquid phase-separated cytoplasmic foci alternatively called GW bodies or mammalian processing (P) bodies (239).

A less studied and less understood sncRNA-mediated silencing mechanism in mammals is transcriptional gene silencing (TGS), which in contrast to canonical RNAi, can induce stable and long-term epigenetic locks on gene expression that can be passed on to daughter cells during cell division (240). TGS can be induced by dsRNA species including miRNAs and siRNAs, as well as antisense ssRNAs (240). Although the mechanisms involved in TGS are yet to be described in detail, both miRNAs and siRNAs that are complementary to promoter sequences effectuate TGS by associating with Ago1/2 and recruiting HMTs, HDACs and DNA methyltransferases to targeted promoters in the nucleus (240-245)(Reviewed in Goguen RP et al. Submitted). Data from human cells suggest that TGS complexes initiates the silencing of promoter regions by hybridizing with low-abundance promoter-associated RNAs (produced largely by the initiation of RNA Pol II in the opposite orientation from that of normal transcription at active promoters), rather than invading dsDNA (246-249).

2.3 RNAi as Treatment 2.3a Manipulating RNAi

RNAi can easily be employed in experimental or therapeutic settings to knock down genes with high specificity by the introduction of a short double-stranded RNA substrate into cells. In an experimental setting, RNAi is thus a useful and simple alternative to mutagenesis or directed gene editing that allows for the study of transient or permanent loss-of-function phenotypes for chosen genes (208). In the clinic, this ease of design translates to a highly flexible drug platform that can reduce the expression of deleterious protein coding genes and ncRNA targets that might otherwise not have the appropriate binding pockets to be 'druggable' by small molecule drugs (250, 251).

For experimental purposes, one of the simplest ways to test an siRNA of choice against its target is to express the siRNA from a plasmid or viral vector directly from an RNA Pol III promoter as a short hairpin (sh)RNA (224, 252). shRNAs can also be expressed by RNA Pol II on miRNA backbones (shRNAmiRs), which are processed by the Microprocessor as pri-miRNAs and have been shown to more effectively knock down target genes with fewer cytotoxic effects than RNA Pol III-transcribed shRNAs (253, 254). Exogenous chemically modified siRNAs can also be synthesized *ex vivo* as overlapping oligonucleotides and introduced into cells or animals if the use of vectors is not possible. Overexpression of endogenous miRNAs can be studied or used therapeutically in a similar way by the introduction of oligonucleotide miRNA mimics or RNA Pol II expression vectors. Antisense oligonucleotide seed targets, sometimes called antagomiRs or antimiRs, can alternatively inhibit miRNA/siRNA activity by crowding out the effects of specific RISCs, allowing for a temporary disinhibition of the sncRNA's target genes (224, 255, 256).

For clinical purposes, the first RNAi therapy to have been approved for systemic delivery in humans was patisiran (Onpattro; Alnylam Pharmaceuticals), a chemically modified siRNA delivered intravenously in a lipid nanoparticle for the treatment of hereditary transthyretin amyloidosis with polyneuropathy. This drug was approved by USA and Canadian regulatory agencies in 2018 and 2019 respectively and was soon followed by several other oligonucleotide drugs with similar nucleic acid modifications and particle formulations (224, 257). Recent advancements in biochemistry have led to new understandings of RNA modifications and nanoparticle formulations that can improve tissue-specific siRNA delivery and knockdown efficiency, while limiting construct immunogenicity and toxicity, paving the way for further developments in the field (224, 257). No viral or nanoparticle-packaged plasmid vectors have yet been approved for systemic RNAi delivery in clinical settings. However, these therapies may soon become available, as recombinant tissue-specific AAVs and other similar delivery vectors that can stably express gene therapies in post-mitotic cells without replicating or integrating into the host genome, have repeatedly been shown to have limited immunogenic effects and effective tissuespecific delivery of genes (258-260). Delivery of RNAi substrates to lymphocytes may prove to be more difficult because of their diffuse dissemination in the body, but advancements in systemic viral and non-viral delivery techniques are promising (260-262). Modified stem cells expressing RNAi substrates from immobile vectors have also been explored for use in HSCTs, often in therapies targeting HIV infection (224, 263-265), but these *ex vivo* edited cells have yet to reach large cohort clinical trials for antiviral treatments. As research into the mechanisms of RNAi began just over two decades ago, RNAi treatments are only now starting to reach the clinic. Although underdeveloped at present, these sequence-specific therapies hold great potential as part of a new era of oligonucleotide drugs.

2.3b Applications of RNAi in HIV-1 Treatment

Within a year of the development of RNAi in mammals, early studies showed that siRNAs could be designed to target HIV to directly inhibit viral expression and replication, stimulating a wave of optimism about future antiviral RNAi therapeutics (266-270). Unfortunately, it was soon discovered that the HIV-1 genome could rapidly overcome PTGS restriction by maintaining a high mutation diversity in quasispecies populations and by adopting a complex secondary structure that is refractory to RISC binding (196, 270-276). Different therapeutic design strategies emerged to increase the threshold for viral resistance, including combining multiple directly antiviral RNAi substrates into a single multivalent treatment (277-281); targeting evolutionary restrained and accessible regions of the viral genome (196, 282, 283); and targeting host dependency factors (HDFs) that promote viral replication rather than directly targeting the virus (196, 264, 265, 284-288). Several therapies intended to support a functional cure that include RNAi components are now making their way through clinical trials, all of which are in the form of HSCTs of cells transduced with lentiviral vectors. These include a tat/rev-specific shRNA, a CCR5-specific ribozyme, and a TAR decoy (NCT01961063, NCT02337985, NCT00569985); a CCR5-specific shRNA, a TAR decoy and a chimeric mimic of the antiviral host TRIM5α protein that binds to the viral capsid and inhibits ingress/integration (NCT02797470) (289); a CCR5-specific shRNA and multiplexed shRNAs targeting the HIV-1 genome (NCT03517631); or a CCR5-specific shRNA alongside a fusion-inhibiting peptide (C46) (NCT03593187, NCT02390297, NCT01734850).

Another RNAi strategy tested for a functional cure to HIV-1 is to target the HIV-1 promoter via TGS to inhibit the early epigenetic and transcriptional steps involved virus reactivation (241, 242, 244, 290-292). As a proof of concept for this mechanism, HIV-1 TAR RNA can be fed into
RNAi machinery and has been implicated in negative feedback TGS of the HIV-1 promoter, indicating a potential virus mechanism for favouring latency establishment (293, 294). However, conflicting reports have contested the importance of such virus-derived RISCs due to their low abundance (276). The most developed investigation into the induction of deep HIV-1 latency using TGS was a series of publications that used two non-overlapping si/shRNAs, PromA and 143 that targeted regions of the HIV-1 5'LTR upstream of the TSS (241, 295). Independently, PromA can lead to long-term HIV-1 promoter-specific epigenetic regulation *in vitro* and can reduce HIV-1 reactivation *in vitro*, leading to the preservation of several subsets of hematopoietic cells from cytopathic effects, including bone marrow stem/progenitor cells and CD4⁺ T cells (296-299). In combination *in vitro*, siPromA and si143 were able to resist LRA-mediated viral reactivation by maintaining epigenetic repressive marks at the virus promoter (292). Although TGS using combined promoter-targeting sncRNAs shows promise in experimental models, further *in vivo* research is needed before TGS-guiding therapeutic constructs can be attempted in humans.

2.3c Treatments Informed by RNAi-Virus Interactions

Another way of identifying HDFs and effector molecules that might be useful in antiviral RNAi therapeutics is to explore interactions between RNAi pathway members and HIV-1 during infection. By identifying miRNA regulatory networks that are correlated with reactivation or maintenance of latency, a systems biology approach can be used to identify host pathways, network functions and environmental determinants of virus fate that can later be targeted or appropriated in directed treatments or in miRNA treatments. Numerous studies have explored the dysregulation of miRNAs in different stages of HIV-1 infection and latency establishment or reactivation in vivo and in vitro (122, 276, 300-307). However, these explorations have largely identified miRNAs that directly target HIV-1 transcripts. Among these, miR-29a has received outsized attention for its ability to target a conserved region of the HIV-1 3'UTR (308). miR-29a has repeatedly been shown to inhibit HIV-1 expression and replication in vitro and has been shown to be controlled by an antiviral miR-29a-specific immune signaling cascade in vivo (308). Numerous directly antiviral miRNAs have been identified since, the most promising candidates of which are listed in (309, 310). Although directly antiviral miRNAs have received much attention, it is important to caution that the therapeutic relevance of these miRNAs have been put into question for similar reasons to previously mentioned siRNA therapeutics that directly target

vRNAs: HIV-1 genomes are mutationally diverse and retain complex secondary structures that are refractory to RISC targeting (275, 276, 306, 311). In fact in experiments that sequenced RNAs bound to the RISC in HIV-1 infected cells, vRNAs were heavily underrepresented (50-160 fold) with respect to cellular RNA reads, likely due to virus evolution and/or RNA secondary structure (276). The few reads that mapped to the HIV-1 genome in these experiments were found to be clustered into four specific binding sites, which correspond to direct binding sites for miR-29a, miR-155, miR-301a and miR-423 (276).

More promisingly, multiple publications have shown that the inhibition of Dicer and DGCR8 in infected and/or latent T-cells augments HIV-1 expression, suggesting that the RNAi pathway might at least indirectly maintain HIV-1 latency by regulating HDFs at non-cytotoxic levels (301, 312). One such study demonstrated that a pri-miRNA that encodes several miRNAs including miR-17 and miR-20a was substantially downregulated upon HIV-1 infection (301). miR-17 and miR-20a were then shown to regulate among other host factors PCAF, a histone acetylase and Tat cofactor known to enhance HIV-1 gene expression (301). Another study identified eight miRNAs that were affected by latency reversal, among which miR-155 showed the most potent anti-reversal effect in their cellular model of latency. Interestingly, miR-155 was principally active in reactivated cells, suggesting that the miRNA promotes a 'return-to-latency' effect on replicating genomes rather than a latency maintenance effect for non-reactivated genomes (312). miR-155 has been suggested to promote HIV-1 latency through an NF-kBstimulating agent (TRIM32), alongside four HDFs involved in trafficking and/or nuclear import of the HIV-1 pre-integration complex (ADAM10, TNPO3, Nup153, and LEDGF/p75) in addition to directly regulating an accessible binding site on the HIV-1 genome (276, 312, 313). A different group was able to identify a latency promoting miRNA by directly exploring regulators of previously identified HIV regulatory mechanisms. The activation of memory CD4⁺ T-cells upregulates CycT1 protein expression independently of an increase in its mRNA levels, which suggests some form of post-transcriptional regulation of the gene in resting T-cells independently of mRNA levels (314, 315). Chiang et al. quantified miRNAs differentially expressed in resting or activated T-cells and filtered these for their predicted regulation of CycT1 (122). By these means, miR-27b was identified as a direct modulator of CycT1 and a potent inhibitor of HIV-1 expression and replication (122). Treatment of primary resting T-cells with miR-27b antimiRs led to an increased reactivation of HIV-1 expression, suggesting that its targets including CycT1 may

be useful markers to study. Several other latency promoting miRNAs and targets have been identified in similar studies, which are reviewed in (308-310).

RNAi can interfere with numerous host regulators of HIV-1 infection, integration, latency disruption and replication, both via artificial inhibitors and via inhibitors already present within the cell. More research is needed to understand the sequences and targets by which siRNAs, shRNAs, miRNAs and antagomiRs can maintain or reverse HIV-1 latency before effective combination antiviral therapeutics can be developed.

3 Hypothesis and Objectives *3.1 Rationale*

Achieving a cure of HIV infection will require a deep understanding of fundamental mechanisms that lead to either latency or productive infection. As an effective sequence-specific regulatory pathway present in our cells, the RNAi pathway may become a critical component in a curative solution for people living with HIV. At present, interactions between HIV-1 and the RNAi pathway remain poorly defined and the processes that determine whether an RNAi therapy will be effective against HIV-1 are not well understood. To better understand host-virus interactions used during the virus replication cycle and to better inform the development of future RNA therapies, we investigated the hypothesis that HIV-1 changes and/or is changed by the substrates and functionality of the RNAi system in specific contexts during infection.

3.2 Aim 1: Identifying Networks Associated with Blocks in Virus Expression during Latency

The characterization of RNA transcriptomes associated with latency in distinct models of infection can help identify common factors and pathways that are important in the maintenance or reversion of latency. Several studies have explored host mRNA profiles associated with HIV-1 latency and reversion in primary cells and cell-line models of infection (316-320), though few have been able to distinguish between steps involved in latency reversion. Therefore, RNAi regulatory networks involved in latency remain poorly defined. Here, we describe and characterize a novel cellular model of HIV-1 latency that uses a Tat/TAR-deficient reporter lentivirus which permits the study of post-initiation events in HIV-1 transcription. Once characterized, we reactivated this model using LRAs targeting different pathways in latency reversion and sequenced rRNA depleted

transcriptomes in parallel with short RNA transcriptomes associated with reactivation by each treatment. We hypothesized that host genes and short RNAs associated with post-initiation events in HIV-1 latency reactivation studied here would show unique signatures distinct from those previously identified in studies exploring Tat/TAR intact models of latency.

3.3 Aim 2: Determining the RNA-Mediated Downstream Effects of an Interaction between HIV-1 Gag and the RNAi Protein Dicer

Our lab recently discovered an interaction between Gag and Dicer that leads to the specific enrichment of three miRNAs on Dicer in Gag-transfected cells. The purpose of this Gag-Dicer interaction was not clear, but the resulting enrichment of specific RNAs on Dicer implied that a Gag-mediated post-transcriptional regulation of specific miRNAs in the RNAi pathway may influence the HIV-1 replication cycle. We hypothesized that Gag evolved to interact with Dicer, which may consequently affect regulatory events in HIV-1 expression or processing. To answer this hypothesis, we investigated enriched functions among the gene targets of these miRNAs and further explored one miRNA-target pair in detail.

3.4 Aim 3: Developing an HIV-1 Locking Strategy Using ncRNAs

Studies to date have largely ascribed latency maintenance functions to specific RNAs by reporting the inhibition of LRA-mediated reactivation from latency during the transient expression of these therapeutic RNAs. Such experiments can show the potential of specific RNAi substrates for preventing drug-mediated latency reactivation, but it is unclear whether these assays correlate well with the therapeutic potential of these sequences for the long-term suppression of stochastic proviral reactivation events. Research into Block & Lock interventions will need to re-define the experiments used to identify potential LPAs. We therefore designed a novel protocol that can score shRNAs and miRNAs together in a single experiment with four primary scoring endpoints: inhibition of HIV-1 expression, inhibition of HIV-1 replication, the ability to lock HIV-1 proviruses in a latent state, and cellular toxicity in multiple cell models.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods Cell Culture

HEK 293T cells (ATCC CRL-11268) were maintained at 37 °C in 5% CO₂ in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) with high glucose (Hyclone) supplemented with 10% heattreated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Hyclone) and 100 U/mL Penicillin & Streptomycin (Gibco). Jurkat (ATCC TIB-152), J-Lat 10.6 (321), CEM T4 GagzipGFP and THP-1 GagzipGFP cell lines were maintained in RPMI-1640 (Hyclone) with identical supplementation (complete RPMI).

To differentiate monocytes, THP-1 GagzipGFP cells were plated in 6-well plates at 5 X 10⁵ cells/well in complete RPMI supplemented with 200 nM phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) (Sigma-Aldrich). After 24 h, cells became adherent and the medium was replaced by complete RPMI without PMA. Culture medium was replaced again on day 4 following differentiation. These monocyte-derived macrophages would then be used seven days after differentiation.

Latency Reversing Agents, Drug Exposures and Transfection

Cell lines were treated with 2 μ g/mL of doxycycline (Dox) (MultiCell). PMA was used at 32.4 nM (20 ng/mL) for 24 h (322). LRA treatments were used either alone or in a combination with Dox. These included either 500 nM (+) JQ1 (CaymanChemical) (323), 5 mM HMBA (Sigma-Aldrich) (324, 325), 4 μ M SAHA (Sigma-Aldrich) (324), 90 nM chaetocin (CaymanChemical) (326), 500 nM disulfiram (Sigma-Aldrich) (327), or 1 μ M prostratin (Sigma-Aldrich) (324). PMA, JQ1, SAHA, chaetocin, disulfiram and prostratin were kept in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma Aldrich), while Dox and HMBA were diluted in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (MultiCell).

For Western blots and reverse transcription followed by quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR), CEM T4 GagzipGFP, THP-1 GagzipGFP and J-Lat 10.6 were plated at 5 X 10^5 to 1 X 10^6 cells/well in 6-well plates, while 12-well plates were seeded with 2.5 X 10^5 cells/well. Cells were immediately treated with the above drugs and incubated for 3 or 3.5 days. The final concentration of DMSO was 0.04% for Figure 6B and 0.0005% for Figure 6C, D.

For fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) in preparation for RNA sequencing, 4.5 X 10⁷ CEM T4 GagzipGFP cells were incubated in T182.5 cell culture flasks with 90 mL RPMI for 3.5 days before cell sorting and RNA isolation. Cells were immediately given no treatment (Mock) or Dox in combination with SAHA, prostratin, or both SAHA and prostratin. The final concentration of DMSO was adjusted to 0.062% for all treatments.

Cells were transfected with plasmids using 0.25-1 μ g of DNA for every mL of media in 6well plates (2 mL media) with 0.5 or 1 × 10⁶ cells/well using polyethyleneimine MAX 40K (PEI MAX) (Polysciences) at a ratio of 3 μ L PEI to 1 μ g total DNA following manufacturer's protocol. Supernatants and lysates were then collected 24 h or 48 h after transfection as indicated in figures.

Cells were transfected with mirVana® miRNA mimics (ThermoFisher #4464066) and Anti-miR[™] miRNA inhibitors (ThermoFisher #AM17000) using Lipofectamine RNAiMAX (Thermo Fisher) according to the manufacturer's protocols 48 h prior to further manipulations.

Immunoblotting

Cells were washed with PBS and lysed in cold lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA pH 8.0, 10% Glycerol, 1% IGEPAL® CA-630 (Sigma)) with phosphatase and protease inhibitor cocktails (Roche), or lysed in cold radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA pH 8.0, 1% IGEPAL® CA-630, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.5% SDS) with phosphatase and protease inhibitor cocktails. Lysates in either buffer were then freeze-thawed three times between liquid nitrogen and ice. Prior to centrifugation, RIPA lysates were incubated with 1 µL Benzonase and 1 µL MgCl₂ for 30 min at room temperature. All samples were then centrifuged on a tabletop centrifuge for 30 min at 13000 rpm to remove debris. Proteins in preserved supernatants were quantified by Bradford assay using a BioMate 3 Spectrophotometer (Thermo). 15-125 µg of protein mixed with Laemmli sample buffer were incubated for 5 min at 100 °C. Proteins were separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and fast-transferred onto 0.2 µm nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad) using pre-programmed Turbo protocols on a Trans-Blot Turbo transfer system (Bio-Rad). Membranes were washed with water, dyed with Ponceau S to confirm effective transfer and blocked for 1h with 5% milk in Tris-buffered saline with 1% tween 20 (TBST) followed by two washes with TBST (5min each). Membranes were then incubated overnight at 4 °C or for one hour at RT with primary antibodies listed in Table 1. After five additional washes with TBST, membranes were incubated for one hour with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (Table 1). After five further washes with TBST, the bands were visualized with Western Lightning Plus-ECL reagent (Perkin-Elmer) or PierceTM ECL Western Blotting substrates (Thermo Fisher). Western Blots shown in manuscript are representative of at least three independent replicates.

Protein target	Antibody name	Dilution	Species	Manufacturer	Cat #
GFP	GFP (B-2)	1:1000	mouse	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-9996
p24 (Capsid)	183-H12-5C	1:1000	mouse	NIH AIDS reagent program	3537
GAPDH	GAPDH (6C5)	1:1000	mouse	Santa Cruz Biotech.	sc-32233
AFF4	Anti-AFF4 (7D)	1:500	rabbit	Dr. M. Estable lab (Ryerson U)	none
HA	Anti-HA tag	1:1000	rabbit	Abcam	ab137838
RT	Anti HIV-1 RT	1:500	rabbit	Dr. L. Kleiman lab (LDI)	none
Mouse IgG	Mouse IgG (H+L)	1:3000	goat	KP Laboratory	KP-474-1806
Rabbit light chain	Rabbit Light Chain HRP	1:5000	mouse	Millipore (Sigma Aldrich)	MAB201P
Rabbit IgG	Rabbit IgG (H+L)	1:5000	goat	KP Laboratory	KP-474-1506

Table 1: Antibody information

Reverse Transcription - Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction

Cells were lysed using 750 µL of TRIzol reagent per well (Life Technologies). RNA extraction was performed using the miRNeasy® mini kit (QIAGEN) according to the manufacturer's protocol, including a digestion of DNA using an RNase-free DNase set (QIAGEN). RNA was diluted from spin columns in ultrapure distilled water. These samples were used to compare relative rates of pre- and post-pause transcription between two latent cell models and not to quantify their absolute RNA quantities, so a polyadenylation step was not required. Reverse transcription reactions of 1 µg of total RNA were performed as per the SuperScriptTM II Reverse Transcriptase kit protocol (ThermoFisher), using 1 µL each of Oligo(dT)12-18 and random hexamers (ThermoFisher). Quantitative PCR reactions contained 5 µL of 2X BrightGreen qPCR MasterMix (ABM), 50 ng of cDNA and 125 nM of each primer (Table 2) and were filled to 10 µL with ultrapure distilled water. Samples were loaded in triplicate technical replicates. qPCR conditions were as follows: 95 °C for 5 min followed by 49 cycles of 95 °C for 10 s, 60 °C for 15 s, 72 °C for 5 s. A melting curve cycle followed with 5s increments of 0.5 degrees from 65 °C to 95 °C. Data acquisition and analysis were performed using Bio-Rad CFX96 and CFX maestro software respectively. β -actin was used as a housekeeping gene control.

Primer	Target transcripts	Sequence
TAR-F7	HIV HXB2 $456 \rightarrow 474$	GTCTCTCTGGTTAGACCAG
TAR-R6	HIV HXB2 496 ← 513	TGGGTTCCCTAGTTAGCC
LTR3-F	HIV HXB2 $738 \rightarrow 757$	CGACTGGTGAGTACGCCAAA
LTR3-R	HIV HXB2 801 ← 820	CCCCGCTTAATACTGACGCT
AFF4-F	AFF4 cds	GCAGCAAAGCACATCTCACC
AFF4-R	AFF4 cds	AGGCCATGAATGCGTCATCT
β-Actin-F	Housekeeping control	GAGCGGTTCCGCTGCCCTGAGGCACTC
β-Actin-R	Housekeeping control	GGGGCAGTGATCTCCTTCTGCATCCTG

Table 2: List of primers used in qPCR analyses

Cell Sorting and RNA Isolation

For RNA sequencing, CEM T4 GagzipGFP cells treated as above were washed twice with PBS (5 min, 1200 rpm, at RT), then once with PBS + 2% FBS (5 min, 1200 rpm, at RT) and resuspended in 2 mL PBS + 2% FBS. The resuspended cells were filtered through a 35 μ M cell strainer. Cells were then sorted by FACSAria Fusion (BD Biosciences) into GFP⁺ and GFP⁻ populations as depicted in Figure 7B by Christian Young (Lady Davis Institute Flow Cytometry facility manager).

Sorted cells were washed once with PBS (5 min, 5000 rpm, at RT) and re-suspended in 750 µL of TRIzol reagent (Life Technologies). RNA extraction was performed using the miRNeasy® mini kit (QIAGEN) according to the manufacturer's protocol, including digestion of contaminating DNA using an RNase-free DNase set (QIAGEN). RNA was diluted from the columns in ultrapure distilled water. Samples were kept at -80 °C and submitted to Génome Québec for quality assessment, short RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) and ribosomal (r)RNA-depleted RNA-sequencing.

RNA-seq and Short RNA-seq Data Processing

RNA integrity numbers (RINs) were assessed for each sample by Bioanalyzer 2100 (Agilent). All samples met a threshold of RIN > 7 and were deemed of sufficient quality to be sequenced. Short RNAs were prepared for sequencing using a NEB miRNA library preparation kit with size selection for Illumina sequencing. Short RNA libraries were sequenced on an Illumina HiSeq single read sequencing lane for 50 cycles. Total RNAs were prepared by KAPA HMR stranded library preparation for Illumina sequencing to deplete rRNAs. The remaining ribodepleted RNAs were sequenced by Illumina HiSeq v4 paired-end 125 bp sequencing.

RNA-seq processing is depicted in Figure 7D, E. Ribo-depleted RNA-seq reads were checked for quality using FastQC (328) and MultiQC (329) before and after trimming by FastP (330), and then mapped to the human genome (build hg38) using STAR version 2.7.8a (331). Mapped reads were counted using FeatureCounts (332). Differential expression analysis was performed using DESeq2 (333) in the R 4.0.4 computing environment (334). Short RNA-seq reads were similarly checked for quality using FastQC (328) and MultiQC (329) before and after trimming by FastP (330), then mapped the human genome (build hg38) using Bowtie2 (335).

Reads were quantified using FeatureCounts (332) to miRBase v22.1 (336) before normalization and differential expression using DESeq2 (333).

RNA-seq Network Generation, Pathway and Ontology Analysis

Differentially expressed long RNAs and miRNAs between controls and SAHA-treated groups were quantified and compared using R with the following packages installed: tidyverse, ggplot2, ggrepel and BiocManager (includes DESeq2 and other packages), with preliminary visualizations done in iDEP (337). miRNA regulatory networks were identified using Qiagen's proprietary analysis suite Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) by our colleague Dr. Bernard Mari using differentially expressed genes and miRNAs identified in similar methods to our own by Marin Truchi. Enrichments of network targets were quantified using a Fisher's exact test built into PANTHER (338) according to the 2021-02-01 release of the Gene Ontology (GO) Resource.

RIP-seq miRNA Network Generation, Target Prediction and Enrichment

miRNAs identified in RIP-seq and RT-qPCR experiments to be associated with Dicer in Flag-Gag transfected cells were used as queries for target entries in MirTarBase v.8.0 and TarBase v.8.0. All entries (low- and high-scoring) for targets associated with these miRNAs were used for visualization and enrichment analysis. miRNA-target interactions were visualized using MirNet 2.0 (339). Enrichments of these targets were quantified using a Fisher's exact test for Biological Processes (BP) GO terms built into PANTHER as above, except that experimentally validated targets were queried against the background of human miRNA targets listed in MirTarBase v.8.0 and TarBase v.8.0 and TarBase v.8.0 databases. Type 1 error from multiple testing of BP terms was prevented using Bonferroni correction. miRNA targets were predicted using online prediction databases miRDB and TargetScan release 7.2, which use distinct data-informed algorithms to predict and score miRNA-target pairings (340, 341).

Plasmid Design and Generation

The HIV-1 molecular clone pNL4-3 was cloned in 1986 (342), while pNLXX (pNL4-3 with no Gag expression) was first described in 2002 (343). pCI-Neo-Flag and pCI-Neo-Flag-Gag were kindly provided by Dr. A. Mouland's lab (344). The generation of psiRNA-U6GFP::Zeo

from the U6 RNA Pol III promoter in pSIREN-shuttle vector (Clontech) and psiRNA-7SKGFP::Zeo (InvivoGen) and the creation of the nonsense negative control psiRNA-U6GFP::Zeo-shNS and HIV-targeting shRNA vectors -shLDR4 and -shPol247 were previously described by colleagues in our lab (345, 346). To generate psiRNA-U6GFP::Zeo-shAFF4 and sh143, complementary oligonucleotides (Table 3, sets 1 & 2) were annealed (1.25 µM each in 75 mM NaCl, 40 µL, 2 min at 80 °C, cooled slowly to 37 °C) and ligated into Bbs1-digested psiRNA-U6GFP::Zeo. The resulting plasmid (psiRNA-U6GFP::Zeo-shAFF4) was confirmed by sequencing using the OL408 primer located in the downstream CMV-HTLV promoter (Table 4). pEGFP-C1-AFF4 3'UTR- plasmids "-Blank" and "-1-2-3" were generated using pEGFP-C1 (Clontech). Complementary oligonucleotides (Table 3, sets 3 & 4) were annealed in respective pairs as done for the psiRNA inserts, then ligated into XhoI and KpnI digested pEGFP-C1. The resulting constructs were confirmed by sequencing using a primer located in the EGFP ORF (Table 4). The generation of pLT3R-TetONE is depicted in Figure 17C, using oligonucleotides listed in Tables 3, 4 and 5, LT3REVIN from Dr. J. Zuber's lab (Addgene plasmid # 111175) (254), pLVX-TetONE-Puro (a kind gift from Dr. R. Lin's lab) and Q5 Hot Start High-Fidelity 2X Master Mix in conditions where PCR was needed. Successful cloning of each step in plasmid generation were confirmed by sequencing using pLT3R MCS and/or pLT3R miR-E sequencing primers.

Name	Reaction	Set	Sequence
FW shNS psiRNA	А	1	ACCTCGTACCGCACGTCATTCGTATCCTCGAGCATACGAATGACGTGC
insert			GGTACTTT
RV shNS psiRNA	А	1	CAAAAAGTACCGCACGTCATTCGTATGCTCGAGGATACGAATGACGT
insert			GCGGTACG
FW shAFF4	Α	2	ACCTCGCACCAGTCTAAATCTATGTTCTCGAGAACATAGATTTAGACT
psiRNA insert			GGTGCTTT
RV shAFF4	А	2	CAAAAAAGCACCAGTCTAAATCTATGTTCTCGAGAACATAGATTTAGA
psiRNA insert			CTGGTGCG
FW AFF4 3' no	А	3	TCGAGCATAATGATAATCCAAAGCGATCATGTCAGTTGGCCCTTTAAT
target			ATTTCCAATGTGAGGTAC
RV AFF4 3' no	Α	3	CTCACATTGGAAATATTAAAGGGCCAACTGACATGATCGCTTTGGATT
target			ATCATTATGC
FW AFF4 3' 3-site	Α	4	TCGAGCATAATGATATGTACTATGAAATGTGTCTGATTATATTTTCTCT
			TTAAAACTGTGTCAATTTCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCAATAGGTGTCCGGTAC
RV AFF4 3' 3-site	А	4	CGGACACCTATTGAGGAGGGGGGGGGGGAAATTGACACAGTTTTAAAG
			AGAAAATATAATCAGACACATTTCATAGTACATATCATTATGC
FW miR-29a full	O + T	8	GGCAGCCTCGAGAAGGTATATTGCTGTTGACAGTGAGCATGACTGATT
			TCTTTTGGTGTTCAGAGTCAATATAATTTTCTA
RV miR-29a full	O + T	8	CCGACTGAATTCTAGCCCCTTGAAGTCCGAGGCAGTAGGCATAACCGA
			TTTCAGATGGTGCTAGAAAATTATATTGACTCT
FW miR-642a full	O + T	9	GGCAGCCTCGAGAAGGTATATTGCTGATCTGAGTTGGGAGGGTCCCTC
			TCCAAATGTGTCTTGGGGTGGGGGGGATCAAGAC
RV miR-642a full	O + T	9	CCGACTGAATTCTAGCCCCTTGAAGTCCGGCCGAGTTGGGAGGTTCCC
			TCTCCAAATGTGTCTTGATCCCCCACCCCAAG

Table 3: Cloning oligonucleotides (A = annealed, O = overlapping PCR, T = template for PCR)

FW shRNAmiR-	O + T	10	GGCAGCCTCGAGAAGGTATATTGCTGTTGACAGTGAGCGTAACCGATT
29a-3p			TCAGATGGTGCTATAGTGAAGCCACAGATGTA
RV shRNAmiR-	O + T	10	CCGACTGAATTCTAGCCCCTTGAAGTCCGAGGCAGTAGGCATAACCGA
29a-3p			TTTCAGATGGTGCTATACATCTGTGGCTTCACTA
FW sh143 psiRNA	Α	11	ACCTCGTTAGTACCAGTTGAACCACTCGAGTGGTTCAACTGGTACTAA
insert			CTTT
RV sh143 psiRNA	А	11	CAAAAAGTTAGTACCAGTTGAACCACTCGAGTGGTTCAACTGGTACT
insert			AACG
FW NeoR removal	Α	12	GTACACCGCTCCCGATTCGCAGCGCATCGCCTTCTATGCA
cloner			
RV NeoR removal	Α	12	TAGAAGGCGATGCGCTGCGAATCGGGAGCGGT
cloner			
miR29a-template	Т	13	TGCTGTTGACAGTGAGCGATGACTGATTTCTTTTGGTGTTCAGAGTCAA
			TATAATTTTCTAGCACCATCTGAAATCGGTTATTGCCTACTGCCTCGGA
miR642a-template	Т	14	TGCTGTTGACAGTGAGCGGGAGGGTCCCTCTCCAAATGTGTCTTGGGG
_			TGGGGGATCAAGACACATTTGGAGAGGGAACCTCCTGCCTACTGCCTC
			GGA

	01' 1 .' 1	1.0	•
Table 4.	()ligonijcleotides	used for se	allencing
	Oligonucleonucs	used for se	quenenig

Primer	Target	Sequence
OL408	psiRNA-U6GFP::Zeo shRNA CS	GCGTTACTATGGGAACATAC
pEGFP_C1MCS seq prim F	pEGFP-C1 3'UTR MCS	TCACATGGTCCTGCTGGAGTT
pLT3R MCS seq prim F	pLT3REVIN PGK MCS	TTTGCTCCTTCGCTTTCTGG
pLT3R miR-E seq prim F	pLT3REVIN miR-E CS	TACTTTACAGAATCGTTGCCTGC

|--|

Primer	Templates	Sequence
miR-E fw XhoI	Cloning sets 8-10	GGCAGCCTCGAGAAGGTATA
miR-E rv EcoRI	Cloning sets 8-10	CCGACTGAATTCTAGCCCCT
pLT3R PGK fw	pLT3REVIN	AATAGCAGCTTTGCTCCTTCGCTTTCTGGGCTCAGA
pLT3R PGK rv	pLT3REVIN	TTGTACAGCTAGCTAGTCGACTTGGGCTGCAGGTCGAAA
TetON3G fw SalI	pLVX-TetOne-Puro	TATGCGTCGACACCATGTCTAGACTGGAC
TetON3G rv NheI	pLVX-TetOne-Puro	TATTATGCTAGCATTCGCGCGTTTACCCGG
miRE-Xho-fw	Cloning sets 12-13	TGAACTCGAGAAGGTATATTGCTGTTGACAGTGAGCG
miRE-EcoOligo-rv	Cloning sets 12-13	TCTCGAATTCTAGCCCCTTGAAGTCCGAGGCAGTAGGC

Cell Viability

The WST-1 assay was used to check cell viability in response to different antiviral miRNA sequences. This colorimetric assay measures the activity of NAD(P)H-dependent cellular oxidoreductase enzymes to reduce the tetrazolium WST-1 salt to the insoluble dye Formazan, which is taken as a quantifiable correlate for proliferating live cell count. HEK 293T cells were incubated in 96-well plates with miRNAs for 72 h, after which they were exposed to WST-1 according to the manufacturer's protocol. The Formazan absorbance of each sample was measured at a 450 nm wavelength using a Synergy 4 (BioTek) microplate spectrophotometer, while a control reading at 690 nm was used to control microplate imperfections. Absorbance values were normalized to respective nonsense controls.

Chapter 3: Results Aim 1: Identifying Networks Associated with Blocks in Virus Expression during Latency *Preamble*

As described in section 1.2c, the fate of an HIV-1 provirus is regulated at multiple different steps before and after transcription initiation. The Tat/TAR feedback loop has an especially important influence on regulation, as it specifically amplifies transcription at the HIV-1 promoter through several distinct mechanisms. Most researched models of latency include active Tat/TAR regulatory axes, complicating any attempts to distinguish between agents that affect pre- or postinitiation regulatory events. To study individual steps involved in latency maintenance or reversal, our collaborator Dr. Alan Cochrane from the Department of Molecular Genetics at the University of Toronto designed and generated a modified HIV-1 genome that is independent of Tat/TAR transactivation and preferentially develops a latent phenotype in lymphocytes and other cell types, called HIV-1 GagzipGFP (Figure 5A). This provirus was generated by modifying a previously developed conditionally replicating virus under the control of tetracycline-responsive promoter sequences (TetO) to contain a GFP reporter that could easily be detected in flow cytometry experiments (347). The modified HIV-1 promoter is permissive to extremely low transcription in the absence of Dox, which is sufficient to produce basal levels of the reverse tetracyclinecontrolled transactivator (rtTA) transcription factor, transcribed in place of the viral nef. In Doxtreated cells, the antibiotic binds to rtTA, activating the transcription factor to associate with TetO promoter elements present in the modified HIV-1 promoter to stimulate basal epigenetic and regulatory changes at the promoter that favour basal transcription of vRNAs and GFP without regulating elongation (Figure 5B). The Cochrane lab generated cell lines latently infected with GagzipGFP by creating Vesicular Stomatitis Virus glycoprotein (VSV-G) pseudotyped particles carrying the defective GagzipGFP genome and transducing these into CD4⁺ CCRF-CEM (CEM-T4) lymphoblasts and THP-1 monocytes before sorting during active infection for GFP expression (Figure 5C). The genomic integration sites of transduced cells chosen for cell line characterization were not assessed.



Figure 5: The Tat/TAR-independent rtTA GagzipGFP virus. A) Schematic of the virus genome with indicated modifications, promoter elements and primers. B) Mechanism of induction by Doxycycline at the GagzipGFP promoter. C) Generation of HIV-1 GagzipGFP cell lines.

A Model for Testing post-Initiation Events in HIV-1 Transcription

This model was engineered to study post-initiation events in latency reversal, so we first needed to confirm whether basal transcription of the model was regulated by doxycycline alone. After selection, we confirmed the conditional doxycycline dependency of these HIV-1 GagzipGFP-infected cell lines using Western blots (WB) for Gag and GFP proteins in both cell lines following induction by 72 h of Dox exposure (Figure 6A). Conditional expression was further tested in response to LRAs with various modes of action in the presence or absence of Dox using WBs. We used vorinostat (SAHA), a HDACi, or chaetocin, a HMTi, to open chromatin at the TSS (165, 348, 349). We released P-TEFb from the 7SK snRNP complex using JQ1, a bromodomain and extraterminal inhibitor, or hexamethylene bisacetamide (HMBA), a P-TEFb agonist (126, 166, 167, 188). We also tested the transcriptional activators disulfiram, an agonist of protein kinase B (Akt) phosphorylation and signaling, and the protein kinase C agonist prostratin, to induce nuclear translocation of NF-kB and activation of the HIV-1 promoter and T-cell proliferation signals (168, 169). Prostratin and SAHA are also known to stimulate CycT1 expression and their recorded HIV-1 reactivation effects rely in part on Tat (127, 315). Drugs were exposed in GagzipGFP lymphocytes for 3.5 days, monocytes for 2.5 days and monocyte-derived macrophages (MDMs) for 2.4 days using concentrations listed in the Methods section. The choice of the concentration for each LRA as well as the exposure times for each cell line were determined by lab colleagues Dr. Elodie Rance and Craig McCullough as described in our forthcoming paper (Rance E, et al. under review). GagzipGFP lymphocytes were reactivated most strongly by JQ1, HMBA and SAHA with a moderate reactivation by prostratin, but these conditions showed no reactivation in the absence of Dox (Figure 6B). GagzipGFP monocytes and MDM were reactivated most by HMBA, SAHA and prostratin, and JQ1, HMBA, SAHA and prostratin, respectively, but again showed no reactivation in the absence of Dox (not shown).



Figure 6: Characterization of GagzipGFP cell lines. A) CEM T4 and THP-1 HIV-1 GagzipGFP cells were incubated for 72 h in the presence (+) or absence (-) of Dox. 70 µg of cell extracts were fractionated on SDS-PAGE gels. Shown are Western blots with anti-GFP, anti-p24 and anti-GAPDH antibodies. B) LRAs alone do not induce HIV-1 GagzipGFP expression in CEM T4 lymphocytes. CEM T4 HIV-1 GagzipGFP were incubated in the presence of Dox when indicated and/or the LRA at the concentration indicated in the methods section for 3.5 days. 30 µg of cell extracts were fractionated on an SDS-PAGE and blotted as in A. Shown is a representative experiment among three. C, D) Latent HIV expression is basally regulated by Dox and not T-cell signaling in CEM T4, whereas it is regulated by T-cell signaling and not by Dox in J-lat cells. C) J-Lat 10.6 and CEM T4 HIV-1 GagzipGFP were incubated with Dox for 72 h and 20 ng/mL (32.4 nM) PMA for 24 h. 70 µg of cell extracts were fractionated on an SDS-PAGE gel and as in A. D) RT-qPCR of HIV-1 transcripts. CEM T4 HIV-1 GagzipGFP and J-Lat cells were incubated for 24 h with Dox and PMA. RNA from each well was extracted and subjected to RT-qPCR using either a total transcript primer or a primer for elongated transcripts. Shown is the fold change in expression of the product of each primer in each condition, normalized to the expression of β actin. Numbers are averaged from experiments performed in triplicate \pm SEM, excluding outliers. A horizontal bar is used to indicate a fold change cut-off of 2.

To determine if our lymphocytes can exhibit transcription initiation and elongation at the GagzipGFP promoter independently from Dox like other latency models, we compared its activation by phorbol myristate acetate (PMA), a phorbol ester in the same class as prostratin and an activator of NF- κ B signaling, to the J-Lat 10.6 cell line that has an intact HIV-1 promoter and is well described in HIV-1 latency literature (350-352). Dox was added to both cell lines for 48 h,

followed by PMA for an additional 24 h, amounting to 72 h in the presence of Dox before cell extracts were collected for WB. PMA clearly induced the expression of GFP and Gag in J-Lat cells, while Dox induced a weak reactivation of GagzipGFP lymphocytes, but showed no noticeable additional reactivation with the help of PMA, suggesting a weak response to NF-κB (Figure 6C). To assess PMA activation with a minimal contribution by Dox, RT-qPCR was performed on the same cells induced for only 24 h with both Dox and PMA. Primer pairs targeting promoter proximal regions before and after transcription pausing were used to assess transcription initiation and elongation (Figure 5A). PMA strongly induced transcription initiation and elongation in J-Lat cells but showed a minimal effect on both transcriptional steps in GagzipGFP lymphocytes, further confirming a poorly reactive NF-kB site in the promoter (Figure 6D). Collaborators of ours then treated this model to drugs as in Figure 6B and used droplet digital PCR on vRNA regions before and after the HIV-1 transcriptional pause site. These data showed that JQ1, HMBA and SAHA increased the ratio of elongated transcripts to initiated transcripts with respect to Dox treatments in lymphocytes, while prostratin stimulated a moderate increase in this ratio, suggesting that the above drugs reactivated GagzipGFP proviruses in large part through steps involved in transcription elongation (Rance E, et al. under review).

RNA-seq and Regulatory Networks Associated with Latency

Once we confirmed that the above model can be used to understand post-initiation events in HIV-1 transcription without the influence of Tat/TAR feedback loops, we decided to profile host transcriptional changes and regulatory networks implicated in later steps in virus reactivation by sequencing the long and short RNA transcriptomes in GagzipGFP CEM T4 cells reactivated or not reactivated by SAHA and/or prostratin. Cells were given no treatment (Mock) or Dox in combination with SAHA and/or prostratin (Figure 7A) for 3.5 days. Cells were then sorted by FACS into reactivated and non-reactivated populations, showing distinct levels of reactivation between drug treatments as above (Figure 7B, C). For each collected condition, long ribosomedepleted transcriptomes were sequenced as paired-end 125 bp reads and processed as in Figure 7D, while short RNAs were sequenced over fifty sequencing cycles and processed as in Figure 7E. We performed the following analysis on a first sequencing replicate while we completed collection for a second replicate for each condition not yet analyzed in this thesis.



Figure 7: Preparation of RNA-seq data from reactivated CEM T4 GagzipGFP cells. A) Conditions used to generate the RNA-Seq samples. CEM T4 GagzipGFP cells were exposed to no Dox or Dox in combination with the SAHA and/or prostratin for 3.5 days. Treatments sequenced were: Mock, Dox DMSO GFP⁻ (Dm), Dox SAHA GFP⁻ (DSm) and GFP⁺ (DSp), Dox prostratin GFP⁻ (DPm) and GFP⁺ (DPp), and Dox SAHA prostratin GFP⁻ (DPSm) and GFP⁺ (DPSp). **B)** Each group of cells exposed to a drug combination was sorted by FACS into GFP positive (reactivated) or GFP negative (non-reactivated) sub-populations, from which RNA was isolated. **C)** Drug combinations led to more or less reactivated cells as percentages of whole populations (red). Figure 7C courtesy of Dr. Elodie Rance. **D)** Workflow used for processing of ribo-depleted paired-end RNA transcriptomes **E)** Workflow used for processing of small RNA transcriptomes.

Read qualities, read counts and mapping qualities for both long and short RNA sequencing datasets were consistent across all conditions. Phred quality scores were consistently above 35 in central regions of reads for both 125 bp and 50 bp datasets, while the frequencies of mapped-to-total reads deviated by less than 5% between conditions for 125 bp reads. Once processed and



Figure 8: Global trends in treatment-related and reactivation-related transcriptomes. A, B) Hierarchical clustering of sample sets based on Euclidean distance in the vector space of **A**) the 500 most variable among the 1000 most expressed genes, and **B**) the 200 most variably expressed miRNAs. **C**) K-means clustering of the 2000 most differentially expressed genes into four clusters. **D**) GO (BP) terms enriched in the four clusters in C, sorted by adjusted P-value.

normalized, all eight conditions of long RNA and short RNA transcriptomes were compared to determine the similarity and variance between transcriptomes as determined by drug exposures and sorting. When hierarchically clustered according to their Euclidean distances in a matrix of the top 500 most variably expressed genes across conditions among the 1000 most expressed genes in all conditions; Mock and Dox DMSO GFP⁻ (Dm) conditions were highly similar, as were Dox prostratin GFP⁻ (DPm) and Dox prostratin GFP⁺ (DPp), although DPp lacked some expression markers found commonly amongst Mock, Dm and DPm (Figure 8A). Interestingly, all GFP⁺ and GFP⁻ conditions containing SAHA were clustered together while DPp was more similar to its GFP⁻ counterpart than to the GFP⁺ condition containing SAHA and prostratin (DPSp), suggesting that SAHA has a strong and significant signature on long cellular transcriptomes not matched by prostratin. Hierarchical clustering of an miRNA expression matrix again showed a clustering between Mock, Dm and DPm as well as a SAHA signature common to GFP^{+/-} SAHA-treated conditions, although interestingly, DPSp and DPp clustered together, separately from the miRNA markers common to the other SAHA-treated conditions (Figure 8B). When clustering the 2000 most variable genes across conditions into four bins using a K-means algorithm, the first two clusters, A and B, appeared to be weakly and strongly affected by the presence of SAHA, respectively (Figure 8C). Meanwhile, the third cluster (C) appeared to be upregulated in all prostratin and SAHA-treated cells but not in the Mock and Dm controls. The final cluster (D) appeared to be differentially expressed between pairs of GFP⁻ and GFP⁺ conditions. To determine whether these clusters mapped to gene sets involved in specific cellular processes, we explored the biological process gene ontologies enriched in each of the four clusters. These data showed that genes in cluster A were largely involved in processes related to homeostasis, genes in cluster B were largely involved in morphogenesis and neuron differentiation, genes in cluster C were involved in signal transduction and immune differentiation, while genes in cluster D were highly enriched in immune system processes such as activation of lymphocytes (Figure 8D).

We next aimed to identify sncRNAs and mRNAs differentially expressed between nonreactivated and reactivated cells. As treatment by SAHA was a more dominant marker on the cellular transcriptome than was the presence of prostratin or the level of GagzipGFP reactivation in this first replicate, we restricted ourselves to the analysis of genes and sncRNAs stimulated by SAHA that differed between non-reactivated and reactivated populations. For this analysis, we compared three separate groups of conditions: controls (Dm and DPm), non-reactivated SAHA (DSm and DPSm), and reactivated with SAHA (DSp and DPSp). Comparisons were made between the controls and either SAHA-treated group to determine markers of the SAHA signature common to both comparisons and the markers of reactivated populations differentially expressed between SAHA-treated GFP⁺ and GFP⁻ conditions (Figure 9A). Although no miRNAs were significantly differentially expressed between SAHA GFP⁻ and GFP⁺ conditions in this first replicate, a distinct signature of miRNAs were differentially expressed between the control group and the two SAHA treated groups, among which several miRNAs including miR-192-5p, miR-194-3p, miR-615-3p and miR-152-3p were heightened in reactivated cells as compared to non-reactivated cells (Figure 9B). Gene expression comparisons showed a similar 'SAHA signature' in both comparisons with respect to the controls, but most of the differentially expressed genes identified in these contrasts were further downregulated in reactivated cells with respect to their non-reactivated counterparts (Figure 9C). We then explored the molecular functions and canonical pathways enriched among genes differentially expressed between the two contrasts to explore the cellular functions dysregulated during SAHA exposure and reactivation. Interestingly, reactivated cell transcriptomes showed deficits in functions and pathways associated with immune system activation, while showing an increased expression of genes involved in senescence, anergy and controlled cell death (Figure 9D, E). To assess whether any miRNA regulatory networks were involved in the dysregulation of genes seen in SAHA-mediated reactivation conditions, our collaborators at the IPMC in France performed miRNA Target Filter analysis on the miRNAs and mRNAs differentially expressed in Figure 9B and 9C according to miRNA-target interactions annotated in the proprietary Ingenuity Pathway Analysis knowledgebase. Regulatory networks whose miRNAs were significantly upregulated and whose targets were significantly reduced in reactivated cells were identified for miR-152-3p, miR-194-3p, miR-192-3p and miR-615-3p (Figure 9F). The regulated targets of these miRNA networks were enriched in immune cell activation processes (Figure 9G).



Figure 9: Enriched molecular functions and regulation networks in reactivated cells. A) Groups compared for contrasts and IPA. **B)** Highly differentially expressed miRNAs in both contrasts, expressed as Log2 fold changes from the control group. **C)** Expression of highly differentially expressed genes in contrasts, expressed as in B. **D)** Molecular functions differentially expressed in gene contrasts (annotated according to Qiagen's IPA annotation database). Black arrows point to downregulated functions associated with the immune system. Red arrows point to upregulated markers of cell death. **E)** Gene enrichments in IPA's canonical pathways database as in D. **F)** Networks of miRNAs-target pairs in networks differentially expressed between the two contrasted groups in B and C. **G)** Enriched GO biological processes in target genes out of complete human genome using (Fisher's exact test with Bonferroni correction for multiple testing). Figures 9B and C were generated by Marin Truchi, while Figures 9D-F are courtesy of Dr. Bernard Mari.

Aim 2: Determining the RNA-Mediated Downstream Effects of an Interaction between HIV-1 Gag and the RNAi Protein Dicer



Figure 10: HIV-1 Gag and Dicer interact, recruiting specific ncRNAs in the process. A) HeLa cells were transfected with 0.2 µg of pNL4-3, fixed at 48h and stained with mouse anti-Dicer 13D6 (green) and rabbit anti-p24 (red). A 20 µm scale is shown at the bottom left of each image. Digitally zoomed images of the merged channels are shown on the far right. A colocalization channel was built using Imaris software and is displayed in the third lane. **B**) Proximity ligation assay scatter plot from HeLa cells transfected with Gag-containing plasmids pNL4-3 (p< 0.0001) or Flag-Gag (p< 0.0001). Representative images shown on right. **C)** The Gag-Dicer interaction does not require RNA. HEK 293T cells were co-transfected with GST-Dicer/Flag-Gag. RNase treatment was added during the immunoprecipitation. **D**) The presence of Gag in cells results in higher binding of specific miRNAs to Dicer. HEK 293T cells were transfected with HA-Dicer and Flag or Flag-Gag. HA was then immunoprecipitated from lysates and bound RNAs were sequenced. **E)** RNA immunoprecipitation as in Figure 10D, followed by RT-qPCR showed that hsa-miR-642a-3p, hsa-miR-766-5p and hsa-miR-766-3p are more bound to Dicer in Gag-transfected cells than in mock transfected cells. Input is cell lysates without HA immunoprecipitation. See section "Preface and Author Contributions" for detailed attributions.

Preamble

In earlier work performed in HeLa and HEK 293T cells, our lab identified through immunofluorescence that p55^{Gag} co-localizes with Dicer (Figure 10A), while RNAi remains functional in cells affected by HIV-1 and the cellular localizations of miRNA biogenesis proteins are unaffected by the presence of HIV-1 expression (not shown). Proximity Ligation Assays

against both proteins confirmed that Dicer and Gag come into close (>40nm) contact with each other in cells (Figure 10B), while Immunoprecipitations (IP) of Dicer in the presence or absence of RNAses confirmed that this interaction does not rely on an RNA intermediate (Figure 10C). In substrate cleavage experiments, we saw that the presence of Gag in cells had no effect on the catalytic activity of Dicer for a well described canonical pre-miRNA, pre-let7c, and for a pre-miRNA known to be de-regulated during HIV-1 expression, pre-miR-29a (not shown). We therefore wondered whether this interaction might be loading or sequestering specific RNAs on Dicer rather than inhibiting the enzyme's function for all miRNAs. IPs of Dicer in the presence or absence of Gag followed by RNA-seq (RIP-seq) showed increased binding of specific ncRNAs to Dicer in cells expressing Gag (Figure 10D). These results were confirmed in Dicer IPs followed by quantitative reverse-transcription PCR (RT-qPCR) (Figure 10E), showing that hsa-miR-642a-3p (herein referred to as miR-642a) and both strands of hsa-miR-766 were specifically enriched on Dicer in cells transfected by Flag-Gag. We thus hypothesized that the enrichment of these specific miRNAs on Dicer in some way regulates HIV-1 expression or latency.

miRNAs Enriched on Dicer Converge on Specific Targets

We first explored the targets of our three miRNAs in case they might relate to processes that regulate HIV expression. We queried MirTarBase v.8.0 and TarBase v.8.0, two independently curated databases of miRNA-RNA target pairs identified in experiments, to identify targets of the enriched miRNA strands. We plotted this interaction network using mirNet 2.0 and saw that a significant percentage (30.7%) of the genes targeted by miR-642a were also shared with one or both strands of miR-766 (Figure 11A). Using a Fisher's Exact test against a background of all identified human miRNA targets in MirTarBase v.8.0 and TarBase v.8.0, we explored enriched Gene Ontology terms for biological processes among the target genes of our three miRNA strands (Fisher's exact test with Bonferroni correction) (Figure 11B). Among target biological processes, 'intracellular transport of virus' (GO:0075733), a daughter term of 'viral process', 'viral gene expression' (GO:0019080), retains little overlap with the most enriched term, suggesting that HDFs involved in different stages of virus replication cycles in humans are conserved targets genes are associated with multiple processes involved in the regulation of cellular replication by cell cycle

checkpoints, and involved in gene expression regulation during epigenetic remodeling, transcription or translation. We performed the same enrichment analysis on genes in the network that were shared targets of more than one miRNA (degree >1), resulting in three terms with more than two-fold enrichment (Figure 11C). These three GO terms were associated with distinct events in gene expression regulation. Of note, miR-766-5p and miR-766-3p contributed more targets to both the complete target set and the higher-degree target set than did miR-642a-3p, indicating that these analyses may have been biased in favour of the targets of the former two miRNAs.



Figure 11: miRNAs enriched on Gag-Dicer target genes involved in virus-regulating functions. Curated miRNA-gene interactions on MirTarBase v.8.0 and TarBase v.8.0. **A)** Network visualized and annotated using MirNet 2.0 (339). Circles represent genes, squares represent miRNAs and edges represent curated interactions. Red nodes represent genes associated with viral processes, blue nodes are involved in the regulation of cell cycle checkpoints, cyan/green nodes are involved in gene expression regulation. Nodes with multiple annotated functions are larger. **B)** Enriched GO BP annotations in all experimentally validated target genes, sorted by fold enrichment >2.00 (Fisher's exact test with Bonferroni correction). Biological process font colours as in A. **C)** Enriched GO BP annotations for all nodes in A with degree >1, sorted as in B.

miR642a-3p Targets AFF4 mRNAs and Inhibits HIV-1 Expression

We then chose to explore in depth one specific interaction that we thought might be especially relevant to HIV-1 processes. For this, we explored the interaction between miR-642a and the 3' UTR of mRNAs encoding AFF4, a key player in HIV-1 regulation through the SEC (section 1.2c). To validate this interaction, we first verified that the miR-642a-AFF4 entries

identified in high-throughput experiments in the above curated databases were not false-positive entries. We used TargetScan release 7.2, which is based on a stepwise weighted regression model of known features that regulate miRNA-mRNA target pairing in humans (341), to output a context score of predicted interactions at the AFF4 3'UTR according to the known heuristics of human miRNA binding. Here, miR-642a had the second most favourable cumulative weighted context score for regulation of AFF4 mRNAs of all miRNAs listed on TargetScan (Table 6). This is significant, as miR-642a is only conserved among simian primates, which negatively affects its context score with respect to more evolutionarily conserved miRNAs (341). miRDB is a less constrained algorithm founded upon experimental data fed into a support vector machine for a less biased target score that has no conservation input (340). Similarly, AFF4 was among the five most favourably predicted mRNA targets of miR-642a in the miRDB database (Table 7).



miRNA family	Conserved sites	Poorly conserved sites	6mer sites	Cumulative weighted context++	Total context++ score
miR-193-3p	0	3	2	-0.69	-0.72
miR-642-3p	0	4	2	-0.52	-0.53
miR-27-3p	2	0	0	-0.46	-0.48
miR-151-3p	0	3	0	-0.44	-0.46
miR-361-5p	0	4	3	-0.41	-0.42
miR-505-3p	1	2	2	-0.4	-0.42
miR-802	0	2	1	-0.15	-0.41
miR-140-3p	1	1	0	-0.36	-0.37
miR-766-5p	0	1	0	-0.15	-0.15

Table 7: Top-ranked miRDB mRNAprediction targets of hsa-miR-642a-3p

Target Rank	Target Score	Gene Symbol	Gene Description
1	99	ZNF449	zinc finger protein 449
2	99	AGO4	Ago RISC catalytic component 4
3	98	NCOA7	nuclear receptor coactivator 7
4	98	AFF4	AF4/FMR2 family member 4
5	98	DIP2C	disco interacting prot. 2 homolog C
6	97	TMEM116	transmembrane protein 116
7	97	PABPN1	poly(A) binding protein nuclear 1
8	96	PCDH18	protocadherin 18
9	96	VGLL3	vestigial like family member 3
10	95	SPESP1	sperm equatorial segment protein 1

Once we were confident that AFF4 was a likely target of our miRNA, we started *in vitro* experiments by cloning the three first predicted 7mer miR-642a target sites from the AFF4 3'UTR alongside their 3' supplementary pairing sequences into the 3'UTR of EGFP in pEGFP-C1 (Figure 12A). EGFP was used here to have a clear read-out of miR-642a regulation at these sites in a gene reporter assay with an miR-642a mimic and antimiR targeting miR-642a. When co-transfected, with the reporter plasmid, miR-642a regulated the cloned GFP 3'UTR but not a control UTR containing GC-matched non-target sites from AFF4's 3'UTR (Figure 12B), showing that the predicted sites in AFF4's 3' UTR are indeed targets of miR-642a. The antimiR increased expression of the GFP reporter, showing that there is some endogenous activity of miR-642a in our cellular model. I then developed a positive control for AFF4 knockdown in cells by cloning an shRNA directly targeting the primary open reading frame of AFF4 mRNA in HEK 293T cells

showed similar levels of RNA interference by the positive knockdown control plasmid and the miR-642a mimic at standard miRNA mimic transfection concentrations (Figure 12C), supporting the hypothesis that miR-642a indeed targets AFF4 transcripts. We then ran a set of WBs for AFF4 in cells treated or absent of overexpressed HA-tagged AFF4 in combination with shAFF4. This assay confirmed the specificity of our AFF4 antibody (Figure 12D), which was used to quantify AFF4 expression in miRNA-treated cells, demonstrating that miR-642a induced a reduction of AFF4 expression in cells with respect to a nonsense miRNA control (Figure 12E).



Figure 12: hsa-miR-642a targets AFF4 mRNA. A) Schematic showing the location of three TargetScan predicted miR-642a target sites in the 3'UTR of AFF4 cDNAs that were cloned into the 3'UTR of EGFP in pEGFP-C1 after an inserted Stop codon. B) 100 µg of whole-cell extracts from HEK 293T cells transfected with miRNA mimics or antimiRs for 48 h followed by 0.25 µg pEGFP-C1 for 24 h, were subjected to SDS-PAGE and blotted using anti-GFP and anti-GAPDH antibodies. C) RT-qPCR of AFF4 mRNA from HEK 293T cells transfected with psiRNAU6-shNS or psiRNAU6-shAFF4 alongside miR-NS or miR-642a miRNA mimics. Cells were treated for 48 h and their RNA was harvested for reverse transcription and qPCR using primers against AFF4 cDNA, normalized to Actin. Data are represented as means from three independent experiments +/- SEM. Unpaired two-tailed T-tests were performed using GraphPad Prism (p(shNS/shAFF4) < 0.0001, p(miR-NS/miR-642a) = 0.0002). Data for Figure 12C provided by Dr. Sergio P. Alpuche Lazcano. D) Western Blots of RIPA buffer extracts taken from HEK 293T cells transfected with pcDNA3.1-HA-AFF4 (0.25 µg/mL) or not, and psiRNA-U6 (-shNS or -shAFF4) (1.0 µg/mL) for 24 h. Wells were loaded identically with 35 µg of whole cell extracts and blotted differentially with anti-HA or anti-AFF4 antibodies. pcDNA3.1-HA-AFF4 does not contain the 3'UTR of AFF4 cDNAs and is not down-regulated by miR-642a (not shown). E) Cells were treated with miRNA mimics miR-NS or miR-642a for 72 h or psiRNA-U6 (-shNS or -shAFF4) (1.0 µg/mL) for 24 h. Wells were loaded with 100 µg of whole cell extracts and blotted using anti-AFF4 and anti-GAPDH antibodies.

Next, to confirm the predicted downstream effect of AFF4 downregulation on HIV expression, shAFF4, miR-642a and antimiR-642a were co-transfected or transfected sequentially with the HIV-1 molecular clone pNL4-3. In RT-qPCR and WB experiments, both shAFF4 and miR-642a downregulated expression of vRNAs and HIV proteins, respectively (Figure 13). In a WB, the antimiR targeting endogenous miR-642a increased viral protein expression (Figure 13B).



Figure 13: hsa-miR-642a-3p reduces HIV-1 expression. A) RT-qPCR of AFF4 mRNA and HIV-1 transcripts from HEK 293T cells transfected with miR-NS or miR-642a for 48 h then transfected with HIV pNL4-3 for an additional 24 h. RNA was harvested for reverse transcription and qPCR using primers against AFF4 cDNA and elongated HIV-1 transcripts (LTR3). Cq values are normalized as in Figure 12C. Data are represented as means from three independent experiments +/- SEM. Unpaired two-tailed T-tests were performed using GraphPad Prism (p<0.05 = *, p<0.01 = **). Figure 13a courtesy of Dr. Sergio P. Alpuche-Lazcano. **B)** 150 µg of whole-cell extracts from HEK 293T cells transfected with miRNA mimics or antimiRs for 48 h followed by 0.5 µg pNL4-3 for 24 h or co-transfection with 1 µg psiRNA-U6-(shNS or shAFF4), were subjected to SDS-PAGE and blotted using anti-p24, anti-RT and anti-GAPDH antibodies.

miR642a-3p Function is Counteracted in Gag Expressing Cells

To determine whether Gag enriches miR-642a on Dicer to increase loading of the miRNA into active miRISCs or to inhibit loading of the miRNA into Ago, cells were transfected with shAFF4, Flag or Flag-Gag for AFF4 expression to be quantified by RT-qPCR (Figure 14A). Transfected cells had a higher AFF4 expression than a no transfection control and shAFF4-transfected cells, but there was sufficient variance among replicates that the perceived increase in AFF4 in Flag-Gag with respect to Flag did not meet standard significance cut-offs (p = 0.0685). Similarly, a set of WBs from cells transfected with Flag, Flag-Gag, pNL4-3 and a pNL4-3 clone lacking Gag expression (pNLXX) showed higher AFF4 expression in Flag-Gag and pNL4-3 conditions than in conditions lacking Gag (Figure 14B, C). RT-qPCR of cells transfected sequentially with both the miRNA and one of the two molecular clones of HIV-1 (pNL4-3 or pNLXX) showed significant reductions in AFF4 and elongated HIV-1 transcripts by miR-642a for

both HIV-1 clones (Figure 14D). However, for both quantified transcripts, pNL4-3 conditions expressing Gag appeared to reduce this miRNA-mediated effect, suggesting a weakened effect of miR-642a in Gag expressing cells.



Figure 14: Gag increases AFF4 expression. A) RT-qPCR of AFF4 mRNA from HEK 293T cells transfected with psiRNAU6-shAFF4, pCI-Flag or pCI-Flag-Gag. Cells were treated for 48 h and their RNA was harvested for reverse transcription and qPCR using primers against AFF4 cDNA as in Figure 12C. Data are represented as means from five independent experiments +/- SEM. An ANOVA (p=0.0046) and a subsequent Dunnett's multiple comparisons test (p(no transfection/Flag-Gag)=0.0262, p(Flag/Flag-Gag)= 0.0685 (ns)), were performed using GraphPad Prism (p<0.05 = *). B, C) 100 µg of whole-cell extracts from HEK 293T cells transfected with 1 µg/mL pCI-Flag, pCI-Flag-Gag, pNL4-3 or pNLXX (no Gag) for 48 h, were subjected to SDS-PAGE blotted using anti-AFF4 and anti-GAPDH antibodies. B) Representative WB of three. C) AFF4 band intensity was quantified for each blot using ImageJ software and normalized to GAPDH band intensity for corresponding lanes. Data are represented as means from three independent experiments +/- SEM. D) RT-qPCR of AFF4 mRNA and elongated HIV-1 transcripts from HEK 293T cells transfected miR mimics for 48 h and pNL4-3 or pNLXX for an additional 24 h. RNA was harvested for reverse transcription and qPCR using primers against AFF4 cDNA and elongated HIV-1 transcripts (LTR3). Data are represented as means from three independent experiments +/- SEM. Unpaired two-tailed T-tests were performed using GraphPad Prism (p<0.05 = *, p<0.01 = **). Raw data for Figure 14D were collected in large part by Dr. Sergio P. Alpuche Lazcano.

Aim 3: Developing an HIV-1 Locking Strategy Using ncRNAs *Preamble*

One potential route towards a successful B&L intervention is the long-term suppression of pathways involved in latency reversion. Although assays have been developed to test candidate RNAi LPAs by acute LRA stimulation events (197-199), there is to our knowledge no published protocol for quantifying the long-term locking potential of single or multiple ncRNAs in cells. For this purpose, we made preliminary assessments of the efficacy of antiviral miRNAs and shRNAs identified in the literature review and in our own experiments for their variable effects on HIV-1 expression, cellular toxicity and inhibition of latency reversion, then proceeded to design a novel testing protocol to evaluate the efficacy, toxicity and long-term locking potential of short antiviral RNAs for medium-throughput RNA testing.

Identifying RNA Candidates for Combined Locking Therapies

We first assessed the efficacy of miRNAs already known to target a range of pathways involved in HIV-1 transcription and translation (miR-29a-3p and miR-155-5p) (section 2.3c) alongside the miRNAs discovered in Aim 2 of this thesis, to determine whether these RNAs would be good candidates for comparison in later optimisations of a medium-throughput assay using a standard vector. To determine whether the above miRNAs demonstrated any antiviral effects on HIV-1 expression, miRNA mimics were transfected into HEK 293T cells for 48 h, followed by transfection with 500 ng/µL pNL4-3 and incubation for an additional 24 h. Cell extracts were subjected to WBs against Gag, showing that positive controls miR-29a-3p and miR-155-5p reduced HIV-1 Gag expression with respect to a nonsense miRNA control, while miR-642a-3p and miR-766-3p unexpectedly showed more substantial reductions in virus expression (Figure 15A, B). We next assessed viability of HEK 293T cells transfected with each miRNA by WST-1 assay to determine whether there was any toxicity associated with the effects induced by the miRNA sequences. No significant difference in cell viability was seen between groups (single factor ANOVA, p = 0.4945) (Figure 15C). Finally, we explored the ability for each miRNA to inhibit HIV-1 reactivation from a latent state. J-Lat 10.6 cells were transfected with miRNAs and were then reactivated with PMA. WBs of these cell lysates showed a moderate inhibition of PMAstimulated reactivation by miR-155-5p and miR-766-3p but showed no difference in reactivation levels between the nonsense control miRNA and miR-29a-3p or miR-642a-3p (Figure 15D).



Figure 15: Effects of selected miRNAs on HIV expression, toxicity and latency. A) 30 μ g of whole-cell extracts from HEK 293Ts transfected with miRNA mimics for 48 h, followed by 0.5 μ g/mL pNL4-3 for 24 h, were subjected to SDS-PAGE and blotted using anti-p24 and anti-GAPDH antibodies. Representative WB of two. B) Gag band intensity was quantified for each blot and each band using ImageJ software and normalized to GAPDH band intensity for corresponding lanes. Data are represented as means from two independent experiments +/- SEM. C) WST-1 assay on HEK 293T cells treated with miRNAs for 48h. Data are represented as means normalized to miR-NS absorbance from three independent experiments +/- SEM. D) 30 μ g of whole-cell extracts from J-Lat 10.6 cells transfected with miRNA mimics for 48 h, followed by reactivation with 20 ng/µL PMA for 24 h, were subjected to SDS-PAGE and blotted as in A.

To similarly make preliminary assessments of candidate shRNA constructs, sh143 that is known to inhibit HIV-1 reactivation from latency by targeting the HIV-1 promoter for TGS (292, 295) and shLdr4 and shPol247 that are known to regulate HIV-1 expression and replication by targeting conserved sites in the HIV-1 genome (346), were tested against active HIV-1 expression. None of these candidates demonstrated a robust inhibition of HIV-1 protein expression during 2day HEK 293T co-transfections of 500 ng/ μ L of the shRNA construct and 500 ng/ μ L of pNL4-3 (single factor ANOVA, p > 0.1 for each of three bands), although shLDR4 and shPol247 appeared to moderately affect HIV expression (Figure 16A, B). This result could not be explained by differences in construct toxicity measured by a WST-1 assay (single factor ANOVA, p = 0.5074) (Figure 16C). Although we used different techniques and readouts for HIV-1 inhibition than previous publications, these results demonstrate the need for a uniform testing protocol to assess shRNAs and miRNAs for their activities against HIV-1 expression and latency reactivation.



Figure 16: Effects of selected shRNAs on HIV expression and toxicity. A) 30 µg of whole-cell extracts from HEK 293Ts co-transfected with 0.5 µg shRNAs in psiRNA-U6 plasmids and 0.5 µg/mL pNL4-3 for 48 h, were subjected to SDS-PAGE blotted using anti-p24 and anti-GAPDH antibodies. Representative WB of three. B) Gag band intensity was quantified for each blot and each band as in Figure 15B. Data are represented as means from 3 independent experiments +/- SEM. C) WST-1 assay on HEK 293T cells transfected with shRNAs for 48 h. Data are represented as means normalized to shNS absorbance from three independent experiments +/- SEM.

Developing a Platform for Latency Testing

With the help of Dr. Ian Tietjen, a collaborator from the Wistar Institute, I developed a novel testing protocol to make unbiased assessments of the LPA potential of any miRNA or shRNA in parallel (Figure 17A). In this proposed experiment, sncRNAs of interest are cloned into an all-in-one Dox-responsive miRNA/shRNAmiR expression cassette for conditional expression in multiple cell lines (Figure 17B). Acute antiviral activity is first assessed transiently in HEK 293T cells by co-transfection of the ncRNA expression plasmid with pNL4-3 in the presence or absence of Dox, with readouts of a red fluorescence reporter for miRNA expression and viral proteins for viral expression (Figure 17A.1). sncRNAs that demonstrate inhibitory effects against active HIV-1 expression can then be prioritised. Selected antiviral sncRNAs are next co-transfected with packaging and envelope vectors to generate VSV-G coated lentiviral vectors to integrate these all-in-one expression cassettes into T-cells. Lentiviral constructs are then transduced into actively replicating CD4⁺ T-cells to assess the efficacy of RNAi activity against infection and replication of HIV-1 viruses (Figure 17A.2). This secondary endpoint can also be used to filter candidate sncRNAs for their efficacy before committing to assessments of viral locking potential. To assess locking potential, VSV-G coated conditional sncRNA expression

cassettes are transduced into J-Lat 10.6 cells or another well characterized latent cell model for a preliminary assessment of conditional reporter expression and cell viability in the presence and absence of Dox. sncRNAs are induced over a period of 20 days, during which fractions are frozen down at regular intervals for later toxicity and virus expression assays. After 20 days of induction, cells from each condition are split into three groups: one group is shocked using PMA, the second continues to be exposed to sncRNA overexpression, and the third continues to be grown without sncRNA induction (Figure 17A.3). At regular intervals, fractions of the most promising candidates from the latter two groups are shocked using the same LRAs to determine the effects of sncRNA continuation/discontinuation on latency reversion.



Figure 17: Latency testing protocol using pLT3R-TetONE. A) Schematic of the proposed latency testing protocol using inducible miRNA/shRNA expression, with primary endpoints testing (1) inhibition of HIV-1 expression, (2) inhibition of HIV-1 replication, and (3) short and long-term effects on latency reactivation. Protocol designed in collaboration with Dr. Ian Tietjen. **B)** pLT3R-TetONE. **C)** Workflow used to clone the inducible pLT3R-TetONE (bottom right) from pLT3REVIN (top left) in two cloning steps (bold arrows).

The first necessary element in the above protocol is a plasmid that can be stably integrated into target cells and can express ncRNAs of choice in an inducible manner. For this, we designed a lentiviral plasmid entitled pLT3R-TetONE that constitutively expresses an advanced rtTA protein called Tet-ON 3G, which allows for the conditional expression of a separate tetracyclineresponsive cassette that includes a DsRED reporter and an miRNA "miR-E" expression backbone that can be cloned by chosen shRNA or miRNA sequences to induce strong and uniform sncRNA expression by RNA Pol II (254). The backbone of this plasmid including the Tet-responsive miR-E expression cassette were modified from pLT3REVIN (Figure 17C) (254). Briefly, the Venus gene on pLT3REVIN was replaced between restriction enzymes Kpn2I and Bsp1402I with a multiple cloning site (MCS) containing SalI and NheI. Tet-On 3G was then amplified from pLVX-TetONE-Puro and inserted into the newly created SalI-NheI MCS downstream of a PGK promoter to obtain pLT3R-TetONE. Ligations were performed in low-temperature conditions for optimal annealing and ligation of unstable substrates and cloning was performed in MAX Efficiency Stbl2 competent cells (Thermo Fisher) specifically designed for cloning unstable substrates. Although, each cloning step required multiple attempts with optimised conditions to proceed, we successfully generated pLT3R-TetONE. The completed plasmid was sequenced at both the MCS containing Tet-ON 3G and the miR-E site to confirm that the miR-E backbone could be cloned between restriction sites XhoI and EcoRI by different potentially antiviral sncRNAs.

After verifying that the miRNA expression site had intact XhoI and EcoRI restriction sites, we attempted to clone experimental miR-E constructs into this site. To express miRNAs to be processed by the Microprocessor as per their genomic forms, cloning was first attempted using overlapping PCR of miRNAs 29a and 642a using their full canonical stem loops (Table 3 oligonucleotide sets 8 & 9) listed on miRbase release 22.1 (353) followed by a templated PCR using cloning primers for miR-E (Table 5). At the same time, the processed RISC-loaded sequence for miR-29a was cloned in the same fashion as an shRNAmiR construct in case canonical stem loops were processed less efficiently (Table 3 oligonucleotide set 10). After multiple unsuccessful attempts using modified buffers or ligation conditions, we removed the plasmid's internal ribosome entry site (IRES) and neomycin/kanamycin/G418 resistance (NeoR) genes between Bsp1407I and NsiI using oligo set 12 (Table 3) to reduce the size of the plasmid and make it easier to work with in cells and obtain pLT3R-TetONE- Δ NeoR. We additionally attempted using oligonucleotides 13 & 14 (Table 3), primer pairs (Table 5) and matched conditions from the initial

publication by Fellman et al. that described the generation and shRNAmiR cloning of LT3REVIN to no avail (254). To date, optimal cloning conditions have not yet been found to allow the insertion of new sncRNA constructs into miR-E sites of pLT3R-TetONE-ΔNeoR, pLT3R-TetONE, or the unmodified pLT3REVIN copy supplied by the Zuber lab, so we could not proceed with our testing protocol as planned during the time limit of this thesis. Additional cloning strategies are currently ongoing.

Chapter 4: Discussion Identifying Networks Associated with Blocks in Virus Expression during Latency

Much research into Block & Lock strategies against HIV-1 has focused on inhibiting initiation of HIV-1 transcription. However, growing evidence is supporting the new paradigm that post-initiation events play a dominant role in the regulation of latency reversal (section 1.2d). In Aim 1 of this thesis, we sought to identify host genes and ncRNA regulatory pathways that are modulated during reactivation of HIV-1 through post-initiation events.

Most researched models of latency include active Tat/TAR regulatory axes, complicating attempts to distinguish between agents that affect pre- or post-initiation regulatory events. To determine the factors associated with individual steps in latency reversal, we needed to first identify a model that could be used to exclusively study post-initiation events in HIV-1 regulation with an easily sorted read-out for reactivation. With the help of collaborators, our lab developed and characterized a novel Tat/TAR deficient model for HIV-1 latency in lymphocytes and monocytes. Using a variety of differently acting LRAs in the presence or absence of Dox, we confirmed that reactivation of this model could not be stimulated in the absence of Dox, so the model was indeed dependent on transcription initiation by the Dox-responsive rtTA transcription factor. We next verified whether we had successfully disrupted transcription initiation amplification events by T-cell activation, canonical NF-kB signaling and Tat-mediated transactivation at the GagzipGFP promoter. By comparing this model to the commonly referenced latency model J-Lat 10.6, we showed that transcription regulation by NF-κB signaling was largely inhibited at an mRNA level and undetectable at a protein level. We worked with collaborators to confirm using RT-ddPCR that the drugs we found to strongly reactivate GagzipGFP proviruses indeed act at the level of transcription elongation rather than initiation.

Once characterized, we reactivated this model using two different LRA classes and collected whole cell RNAs from populations of cells sorted for their expression of the recombinant GagzipGFP protein. rRNA depleted transcriptomes were sequenced in parallel with short RNA transcriptomes from each sorted population. We showed that reactivations of provirus expression were associated largely with unique transcriptome signatures for each drug treatment, but that specific long and short transcription modules were associated with reactivation no matter the drug combination. We noted that SAHA played an outsized role on the mRNA transcriptome, which

we expected to see due to the drug's non-specific HDACi activity. Unexpectedly however, prostratin appeared to have a greater effect on the miRNA transcriptome of reactivated cells. Several biological mechanisms might explain this finding, such as an enrichment of NF-κB binding sites in the promoters of pri-miRNA cassettes involved in post-initiation events in HIV-1 reactivation, but these findings might also be the result of batch effects in miRNA sequencing and so will have to be explored more in depth during the analysis of an additional sequencing replicate. We then showed that a gene cluster that differed between non-reactivated and reactivated populations for each drug combination tested were enriched in immune cell functions, supporting the importance of immune signaling cascades and functions in HIV-1 reactivation.

With the help of collaborators, we found enriched miRNAs, genes and gene functions that were co-regulated with a reactivation of HIV-1 elongation in SAHA-treated cells. These comparisons confirmed that SAHA treatment imprinted a specific signature on the cellular transcriptome and that GagzipGFP reactivation by SAHA relied largely on the amplification of this signal, possibly through increased drug penetrance and activity in these cells or by amplified stimulation of specific HDFs involved in HIV-1 reactivation. Genes decreased or amplified in the SAHA signature were involved in immune system activation and development or anergy and apoptosis. We then identified three RNAi regulatory networks whose four miRNAs were upregulated in reactivated cells and whose target genes were active in non-reactivated cells from the same SAHA-treated populations. The mRNAs targeted in the three regulatory networks were again enriched in functions associated with immune cell regulation, highlighting the importance of the immune regulation axis in GagzipGFP reactivation. As none of the four miRNAs identified in this analysis nor their regulatory networks have previously been identified in experiments tied to HIV-1 latency, this study may have identified novel regulators of HIV-1 reactivation. It is important however to caution that host factors and networks identified in these analyses were found to be co-regulated with HIV-1 expression, but this correlation does not imply causation and may rather be the downstream result of drug-induced regulatory programs that stimulate HIV-1 elongation through different pathway nodes. Also, this preliminary analysis was performed on single biological replicates for each drug treatment and bias may have been incorporated into these analyses by uncontrolled biological fluctuations or sequencing lane heterogeneities. A second replicate for every condition enumerated in this thesis has been collected and will be sequenced shortly to determine the reproducibility of our findings. Although further research is needed to

confirm the validity and reproducibility of these newly identified genes and RNAi regulatory networks, we suggest that approaches targeting similarly identified regulatory systems may be worth exploring in future Block & Lock studies.

HIV-1 Gag Inhibits the Function of Endogenous Antiviral miRNAs

We recently discovered that p55^{Gag} interacts with Dicer in the cell and that this interaction leads to the specific enrichment of three miRNAs on Dicer in Gag-transfected cells without affecting their levels of expression. To our knowledge, no post-transcriptional sequence-specific recruitment of miRNAs to the RNAi pathway has previously been reported for a human virus, suggesting that this recruitment represents a novel post-transcriptional regulatory mechanism of specific PTGS effectors. As the RNAi pathway is known to regulate most human protein coding genes and HIV-1 is an obligate intracellular pathogen that requires host proteins to complete its replication cycle, we hypothesized that the Gag-Dicer interaction plays a role in tuning HIV-1 expression or latency by modulating the efficacy of these miRNAs.

To answer this hypothesis, we first explored targets shared by these identified miRNAs. We found in curated experimental miRNA-target interaction databases that 30.7% of the genes targeted by miR-642a-3p were also targeted by miR-766-5p and/or miR-766-3p, suggesting that the former miRNA may share similar regulatory functions to latter two which are co-regulated in cells. We therefore explored functional enrichments of the targets of these three miRNAs as a set and found that target genes were often annotated as HDFs of viral processes, regulators of cell cycle checkpoints and regulators of gene expression. Regulators of distinct stages of gene expression were similarly enriched for mRNA targets shared between miRNAs (degree >1). These data suggested that the selected enrichment of these three miRNAs on Gag-bound Dicer may modulate the expression of critical factors in HIV replication; namely direct acting HDFs that are known to support events in viral replication cycles, checkpoints in the cell cycle that might inhibit HIV replication through cell proliferation, and regulators of epigenetic remodeling, transcription and translation, which are known to critically regulate HIV provirus fate.

In the above network, miR-766-3p and miR-766-5p share the same pre-miRNA stem loop, many of the same gene targets and similar annotation frequencies of the above cellular functions with each other, while each targeting a large list of human genes. miR-642a has a much more limited target set but shares similar functions to the former two miRNAs. miR-642a would thus be
a simpler miRNA to study in a hypothesis-driven analysis of a chosen miRNA-mRNA target pair that might represent the downstream effects of the Gag-Dicer interaction. With this in mind, we decided to explore one miR-642a-target interaction in depth using direct *in vitro* techniques. From the above network, we chose to study an interaction between miR-642a and AFF4 because the latter had already been identified as a key regulator of HIV-1 expression and latency reactivation and therefore may have been a selecting factor in the evolution of Gag in support of an miRNAspecific Gag-Dicer interaction (section 1.2c) (108, 135).

While curated experimental databases are useful for exploring the scope of miRNA regulatory networks that can be seen in cells, they sometimes contain false positive target pair entries from high-throughput sequencing experiments. All listed experiments in miRTarBase and TarBase that identified an interaction between miR-642a and AFF4 involved high-throughput sequencing, so the validity of this proposed interaction was not yet certain. We therefore verified the miR-642a-AFF4 interaction using two distinct algorithms that model and score interactions between miRNAs and target sequences in cellular mRNAs based on known rules of human miRNA-target interactions. Both prediction tools scored this interaction highly and predicted as many as six functional miR-642a targets in the 3'UTR of AFF4, confirming that AFF4 was most likely a target of miR-642a and would thus be worth exploring in further detail *in vitro*.

The gold-standard for confirming the functional regulation of an mRNA by an miRNA is to demonstrate a direct inverse correlation between the abundance of the miRNA and its proposed target in cells via low-throughput experiments. To confirm that miR-642a interacts with AFF4 mRNAs in cells, predicted miR-642a target sequences in the 3'UTR of AFF4 were used in a gene reporter assay in cells transfected by the miRNA mimic, which showed that miR-642a indeed downregulated the reporter's expression. It is important to note here that miRNA targets that are in close proximity to each other can cooperate to increase the efficacy of silencing by miRISCs (219). As we concatenated three predicted miR-642a target sites from the AFF4 3'UTR within a 100 bp stretch for this gene reporter assay, this assay could only confirm that these predicted sequences in the AFF4 3'UTR are bound by miR-642a-RISC in the cell. To then determine whether miR-642a expression would be sufficient to inhibit AFF4 mRNAs, we sought to quantify levels of endogenous AFF4 in conditions where miR-642a was over- or under-expressed. RT-qPCR showed similar levels of endogenous AFF4 mRNA regulation by a miR-642a mimic and

the shAFF4 knockdown control, while a WB showed similar results at a protein level, confirming unequivocally that miR-642a regulates AFF4 expression in human cells.

We next tested whether AFF4 knockdown by shAFF4 and AFF4 regulation by miR-642a have any effects on HIV-1 expression. shAFF4 and miR-642a inhibited HIV-1 expression in both RT-qPCR and WB experiments, while the inhibition of endogenous miR-642a by an antimiR increased expression of HIV-1 proteins. These data confirmed that a knockdown of AFF4 can result in a reduction of HIV-1 expression and showed that miR-642a similarly inhibits HIV-1. Considering the absence of miR-642a seed targets in the NL4-3 HIV-1 genome and the above finding that miR-642a regulates AFF4 expression through multiple seed targets, we can infer that miR-642a's negative effect on HIV-1 works indirectly at least in part through AFF4 repression.

Although we had confirmed that miR-642a indeed regulates AFF4 and has a negative effect on HIV-1 expression, it remained unclear whether the increased occupancy of miR-642a on Gagbound Dicer has any effect on miR-642a's activity in cells. RT-qPCR and WB assays in cells expressing Gag showed that Gag increases AFF4 mRNA and protein expression. RT-qPCRs further demonstrated that transfection with an HIV-1 clone that expresses Gag can overcome reductions in AFF4 and HIV-1 expression that are stimulated by miR-642a transfection. These data demonstrate collectively that HIV-1 Gag can disinhibit AFF4 expression and promote HIV-1 expression, a finding not previously shown in the literature.



Figure 18: Proposed model: Gag sequesters miR-642a and supports HIV-1 expression. A) In the absence of Gag, miR-642a is processed by Dicer and loaded onto RISC, maintaining low levels of SEC assembly and HIV-1 elongation. SEC members as in Figure 3B. B) Above а threshold of Gag expression, miR-642a is sequestered on the Gag-Dicer complex and SECs can form to elongate vRNAs.

In this aim, we showed that Gag binds to Dicer and increases the Dicer occupancy of three specific miRNAs that target genes involved in virus and gene expression regulation pathways. We showed that miR-642a can directly reduce AFF4 expression and indirectly inhibit HIV-1 expression. Finally, we showed that Gag disinhibits AFF4 expression and resultingly increases HIV-1 expression. We propose that in interacting with Dicer, Gag may be preventing or stalling

the processing of miR-642a-3p into an effective mature miRNA (Figure 18), which would be consistent with the increased post-transcriptional occupancy of miR-642a-3p on Dicer. Such an activity has not previously been reported for any other viral protein, but has been shown for the cellular RNA-binding protein Lin28a, which interferes selectively with the biogenesis of miR-Let7 by binding to the miRNA's terminal loop during Dicer processing (354, 355), and which shares homology with a conserved Zinc-knuckle domain in Gag's nucleocapsid substructure (356).

Although these data point towards a promising model for explaining an interaction between Gag and Dicer that sequesters specific miRNAs on the complex, further experiments will be needed to confirm this model and to determine its importance in HIV-1 infected cells. A targeted look at the abundance of miR-642a-loaded RISCs in HIV-1 expressing T-cells will be needed to confirm the suggested model that the Gag-Dicer interaction sequesters miR-642a from effective AFF4 inhibition. To determine whether Gag increases HIV expression primarily by inhibiting miR-642a and increasing AFF4 or whether Gag effectuates this change through other redundant mechanisms, Gag and HIV-1 will need to be expressed and assessed in cells that lack miR-642a expression. Further research will also be needed to confirm our findings in physiologically relevant conditions; our work was focused in HEK 293T and HeLa cell lines, which are easy to work with for experimental manipulations and broadly reflect conditions in other human cells but are not identical to human T lymphocytes. The above findings will need to be replicated in primary cells derived from people living with HIV before any generalizations can be made. More broadly, it is not yet clear how HIV-1 Gag interacts with Dicer and how this interaction leads to the posttranscriptional enrichment of specific miRNA sequences on the complex. Future phylogenetic analyses of HIV-1 variants will be useful to define evolutionary constraints on Gag that define this interaction and whether this interaction had a strong or dilute effect on the transmissibility of the virus, while structural analyses will better explain the domains, cofactors and steps involved in this interaction, which may define new target moieties for antiviral therapies.

Comparing the Locking Potentials of sncRNAs

Latency is an ill-defined and diverse combination of cell states (section 1.2d). For a Block & Lock intervention to be successful at achieving its aim of a continued suppression of the viral reservoir in the absence of drugs, it will need to be successful at inhibiting events in latency reversal that may be triggered by strong external environmental cues (ex. drugs, stress or T-cell

activation) or stochastic fluctuations in the strength of other inhibitory regulatory networks. Studies into the *in vitro* efficacy of an LPA thus require assessments of the drug's ability to inhibit acute drug-mediated reactivation events in addition to it's ability to maintain a cellular environment that is not permissive to low-level translation or minor variations in the cellular regulatory environment that can lead to virus expression feedback loops once cART is paused.

Several shRNAs and miRNAs have been suggested as candidates for B&L therapies for their abilities to inhibit the virus directly or to modulate the expression of host pathway members that contribute to a reactivation-permissive cell state (section 2.3c). Although multiple candidate RNAi molecules have been researched to limit HIV-1 reactivation, few studies have compared the top candidates side-by-side for their efficacies against reactivation. Furthermore, no studies that have tested shRNAs and miRNAs against latency reactivation have gone past the step of measuring locking potentials against drug-mediated reactivation. Before significant investments are to be made into B&L RNAi therapies, candidate RNAi effectors will need to be compared in an unbiased manner in a single model system. In doing so, it will be important to quantify several measures of drug effects, including the abilities of each candidate to limit both acute and stochastic events in latency reactivation. With these constraints in mind, we designed a novel protocol that can be used to score shRNAs and miRNAs together in a single experiment with four primary scoring endpoints that will all be factors in the assessment of candidate B&L RNAi and ncRNA drugs.

Before we could jump into the development of our assay, we began with a pilot experiment to see whether miRNAs could coordinate similar levels of antiviral activities to shRNAs, and to define a set of baseline comparisons of strong and weak inhibitors that we could then use to optimise a novel locking assay. We compared the most cited candidate B&L RNAi substrates for their abilities to inhibit HIV-1 expression and drug-mediated latency reversal in addition to their cellular cytotoxicities. In our preliminary analysis, we included miR-29a and miR-155 as the most studied miRNA candidates in B&L therapies, alongside sh143 (involved in TGS against the HIV-1 promoter), and shLDR4 & shPol247 (involved in PTGS of conserved regions in the viral genome) (292, 295, 308, 312, 313, 346). We also included miR-642a and miR-766, which we have shown target several systems involved in virus replication/reactivation and can directly dampen the expression of cellular factors necessary for reactivation (Figures 11 & 12).

This preliminary analysis of miRNA candidates interestingly showed that miR-642a and miR-766 were more potent inhibitors of HIV-1 expression than the positive controls miR-29a and

miR-155. These data bolster the proposition in Aim 2 that the Gag-Dicer interaction may be a critical regulator of the HIV-1 replication cycle, while supporting the use of these miRNA candidates in locking assay optimisations because of their wide range of antiviral activities. No significant difference in HEK 293T cell viability was seen between miRNA treatments, supporting the validity of the above findings. We then explored the ability for each miRNA to inhibit HIV-1 reactivation from a latent state. miR-155 and more notably miR-766 appeared to moderately inhibit PMA-stimulated latency reactivation, while miR-29a and miR-642a had no effect on reactivation levels. Lymphocytes are notoriously difficult to transfect, so it is possible that miRNA levels in this last experiment were not sufficient to be biologically significant. Although further replications of this experiment in the same and other models of latency will be needed, these data support the use of these miRNAs for the optimisation of a B&L testing protocol, as there appears to be a noticeable variability between miRNA conditions.

shRNA candidates were similarly tested in preliminary assessments. These data showed no notable variability in cellular viability between conditions, but also surprisingly demonstrated that none of the three proposed candidates significantly inhibited HIV-1 protein expression over 2-day co-transfection experiments. Although these results stand in contrast with previous publications that identified sh143, shLDR4 and shPol247 as antiviral candidates, our experiments differed from these previous experiments in several procedural ways and thus do not repudiate previous reports (292, 295, 346). Nevertheless, further candidates and testing conditions will have to be screened in order to establish a suitable level of background variability in anti-HIV-1 candidate activity for the B&L assay to be optimised as a valid measure of LPA potential. We excluded shRNAs targeting HDFs in our preliminary analysis because direct knockdown of cellular genes involved in multiple host processes may result in unpredictable cellular phenotypes, while miRNAs that are already present in the cell and shRNAs that specifically target exogenous sequences are likely to be better tolerated (196, 256). shRNA constructs that are expressed at low levels or that like miRNAs do not have complete complementarity to their target genes might possibly be used in the future to selectively sculpt the transcriptome to become a less favourable environment for virus replication without completely knocking down essential genes. However, HDF regulatory networks that are identified in studies like those in Aims 1 & 2 of this thesis are presently more likely to be effectively used to refine candidate lists for small molecules and aptamers that target HIV-promoting HDF domains, rather than to be targeted for translational regulation.

As our B&L scoring assay required consistent conditional long-term expression of RNAi substrates in several cell types, our protocol demanded the parallel development of a versatile vector that could express shRNAs and miRNAs at equal levels. Our ideal vector would therefore need to be lentiviral to be delivered for consistent expression over long experiments, it would need to have a different fluorescence marker than the current cellular models of HIV-1 latency (most often GFP) and it would need to have a miRNA backbone for RNA Pol II expression of miRNAs or shRNAmiRs under the control of a conditional all-in-one expression system. We conceived the pLT3R-TetONE plasmid for this purpose (Figure 17). Although we were able to create pLT3R-TetONE, time constraints did not allow us to insert shRNAs and miRNAs into the miR-E cloning site. This has delayed the implementation of our candidate testing system until after the writing of this thesis. The most promising candidates from our preliminary analysis will be tested soon.

Overview & Future Directions

In this thesis, we explored three aims which collectively built towards the larger goals of better understanding host-virus interactions involved in the control of HIV-1 expression and better informing the development of future antiviral RNA therapies.

In our first aim, we characterized a new model of HIV-1 latency which can be used to study the host transcriptome specifically associated events in latency reactivation that follow vRNA transcriptional initiation. This first aim identified global gene and miRNA transcriptional changes that were associated with latency maintenance or reactivation that were either generalizable or specific to the drug used for reactivation. Our analyses identified specific gene functions that were modulated in cells for which the virus was reactivated and additionally pointed towards RNAi regulatory networks that might govern the cellular environment in order to affect the permissiveness to post-initiation events in reactivation. As mentioned above, further research will be needed to confirm the validity of these findings before we can begin an in-depth analysis of these regulatory networks. Nevertheless, this and similar studies are critical for painting a more granular portrait of the regulatory networks that maintain latency at different levels.

We next explored an interaction between HIV-1 Gag and the RNAi endoribonuclease Dicer. Although it remains controversial whether HIV-1 is globally negatively affected by the functionality of RNAi in patients (276, 301, 311, 357), it appears that the virus has evolved to interact with Dicer in order to modulate the functions of a few miRNAs that might play outsized

roles in the regulation of HDFs involved in the viral replication cycle. We showed that Gag increased the Dicer occupancy of three miRNAs that targeted genes involved in processes necessary for provirus expression, propagation and replication. We further showed that Gag nullified the effects of miR-642a on AFF4, thereby increasing HIV-1 expression; this suggests a possible evolutionary rationale for this sequence-specific enrichment of miRNAs on Dicer. As miRNAs are key regulators of cellular homeostasis and innate immune signaling in cells (205, 358), it may be more advantageous for the virus to specifically target this small list of antiviral miRNAs post-transcriptionally than to encode global RNAi silencing suppressors that might trigger immune activation or aggravate cellular toxicity. Although further research will be needed to explain the evolutionary importance and structural mechanism of this interaction, we proposed from these findings that miR-642a and either strand of miR-766 would nevertheless be worthy candidates to include in a search for new Block & Lock therapies.

We finally sought to develop a protocol to standardise measurements and rankings of the acute and long-term efficacies of antiviral RNAs that are to be combined in B&L therapies. We identified several candidate RNAs that regulate HIV-1 expression either directly or through host factors and interestingly found that the miRNAs identified in Aim 2 were more effective at inhibiting active HIV-1 expression than the most promising miRNA candidates proposed in the literature. We then designed and began the development of our B&L testing protocol that will be optimised using the above candidates. The engineered vector will help future studies in making direct unbiased rankings of the most effective candidate RNAs for B&L therapies.

In order to appropriately prioritise the future directions of our research, it is important to consider the intended uses of an oligonucleotide B&L cure and to accordingly evaluate discoveries of antiviral RNAs within this context. Several novel gene therapy approaches exist, but different approaches would be more appropriate than others in the context of an HIV cure. RNA gene therapies can be delivered to cells *ex vivo* and returned into patients as HSCTs, but these approaches are presently highly costly and expertise-dependent, which may limit their use for the majority of people who live with HIV in developing nations. RNA therapies that can be delivered systemically are less dependent on expertise, can be effective in RNAi applications [ex. patisiran (Onpattro)], and have gained widespread public acceptance with the recent developments of Moderna's mRNA-1273 vaccine and Pfizer-BioNTech's BNT162b2 vaccine, but face different challenges for targeting HIV-1. To eliminate the need for repeated drug exposures, systemic

oligonucleotide therapies will likely need to be expressed long-term in reservoir cells. Synthetic siRNAs or miRNAs may become attractive therapies if nanoparticles can be formulated to introduce multiple RNAs into reservoirs in a single treatment and to extend treatment half-lives. Pre-fabricated sncRNAs may thus be used in the near future in an HIV locking cure in parallel with long-lasting viral vectors to offer patients better and individualized treatment options.

It might be worth considering a hypothetical construct in order to better visualize the challenges that need to be faced in the coming years of B&L cure research. Here, we may consider an AAV vector that includes a lymphocyte- or HIV Tat-specific RNA Pol II promoter and an array of multiplexed antiviral sncRNAs (Figure 19). In this system, we might imagine including an shRNAmiR that directly downregulates CCR5 to prevent reservoir propagation. We might also imagine including an shRNAmiR that targets conserved regions of the HIV-1 promoter for TGS, such as sh143 or shPromA (241, 292, 295). Decoys for functional RNA elements in the HIV genome such as TAR or RRE may help dilute the effects of Tat and Rev on viral expression, while small RNA aptamers that inhibit Tat-P-TEFb binding or other host-virus interactions might prevent other latency reactivation events (195). When used in combination, shRNAs that directly target conserved and accessible regions in the HIV-1 genome can effectively delay viral rebound and so could also be included in this hypothetical polycistron (346). Finally, miRNAs such as miR-642a might also be incorporated into the AAV if they can downregulate networks of host factors that promote viral reactivation without causing undue cytotoxicity.

Figure 19: A hypothetical curative combination therapy. A vector system representing operative segments and modes of action that can be concatenated in a multivalent gene therapy for a possible HIV-1 functional cure.



In order to successfully prevent viral escape from a heterogeneous reservoir, a curative gene therapy will need to exploit multiple types of molecules that target different stages of the viral replication cycle. To expand the repertoire of antiviral RNAs that can be used in therapies, more needs to be known about host regulatory networks that determine the latent or reactivated fates of HIV-1 proviruses. Meanwhile, it remains unclear which antiviral RNAs in the literature

should be combined in multivalent curative approaches, because no efforts have yet been made to systematically evaluate B&L efficacy. Going forward, there is a need for further in-depth examinations of host-HIV interactions and more direct comparisons between antiviral RNAs.

Conclusion

In this thesis, we characterized a new cell model of HIV-1 latency that can be used to study events in HIV-1 reactivation that are independent of transcription initiation, which we then used to identify global transcriptome signatures, specific mRNAs and novel miRNA regulatory networks that are associated with these later stages of reactivation. We then explored and explained *in silico* and *in vitro* an interaction between HIV-1 and a critical member in RNAi functionality, which we identify as a novel post-transcriptional mechanism by which mammalian viruses are capable of selectively modulating the cellular regulatory environment, and which we propose is an evolved mechanism by which HIV-1 is able to indirectly overcome host limitations to viral replication. We finally identified functional RNAs that demonstrate variable effects on viral expression and acute reactivation from latency, and began the development of a protocol for testing identified ncRNAs for their potential to hinder HIV-1 reactivation in a Block & Lock approach. While each of these aims require further development, insights gained from their combined efforts may contribute to a better understanding of host pathways involved in latency and to new effector molecules for the development of an HIV-1 cure.

RNAi and other inhibitory RNAs can theoretically target every known regulator of HIV-1 infection, integration, latency disruption and replication. Improved stability, toxicity and immune evasion chemistries of nucleic acid delivery systems have shown great promise in recent clinical trials, pointing towards a new age of precision oligonucleotide therapeutics. Due to a rapidly growing understanding of the mechanisms by which therapeutic RNAs can maintain or reverse HIV-1 latency, combined oligonucleotide therapies may soon develop into a *bona fide* HIV cure.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease C. 1981. Kaposi's sarcoma and Pneumocystis pneumonia among homosexual men--New York City and California. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 30:305-8.
- 2. Centers for Disease C. 1981. Follow-up on Kaposi's sarcoma and Pneumocystis pneumonia. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 30:409-10.
- 3. Gottlieb GJ, Ragaz A, Vogel JV, Friedman-Kien A, Rywlin AM, Weiner EA, Ackerman AB. 1981. A preliminary communication on extensively disseminated Kaposi's sarcoma in young homosexual men. Am J Dermatopathol 3:111-4.
- 4. Pantaleo G, Graziosi C, Fauci AS. 1993. The immunopathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus infection. N Engl J Med 328:327-35.
- 5. Centers for Disease C. 1982. Update on acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS)--United States. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 31:507-8, 513-4.
- 6. Centers for Disease C. 1982. Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia among persons with hemophilia A. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 31:365-7.
- Barre-Sinoussi F, Chermann JC, Rey F, Nugeyre MT, Chamaret S, Gruest J, Dauguet C, Axler-Blin C, Vezinet-Brun F, Rouzioux C, Rozenbaum W, Montagnier L. 1983. Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science 220:868-71.
- 8. Montagnier L. 2002. Historical essay. A history of HIV discovery. Science 298:1727-8.
- Gallo RC, Sarin PS, Gelmann EP, Robert-Guroff M, Richardson E, Kalyanaraman VS, Mann D, Sidhu GD, Stahl RE, Zolla-Pazner S, Leibowitch J, Popovic M. 1983. Isolation of human T-cell leukemia virus in acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science 220:865-7.
- 10. Poiesz BJ, Ruscetti FW, Gazdar AF, Bunn PA, Minna JD, Gallo RC. 1980. Detection and isolation of type C retrovirus particles from fresh and cultured lymphocytes of a patient with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77:7415-9.
- 11. Temin HM, Mizutani S. 1970. RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of Rous sarcoma virus. Nature 226:1211-3.
- 12. Baltimore D. 1970. RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of RNA tumour viruses. Nature 226:1209-11.
- 13. Morgan DA, Ruscetti FW, Gallo R. 1976. Selective in vitro growth of T lymphocytes from normal human bone marrows. Science 193:1007-8.
- 14. Ruscetti FW, Morgan DA, Gallo RC. 1977. Functional and morphologic characterization of human T cells continuously grown in vitro. J Immunol 119:131-8.
- 15. Kalyanaraman VS, Cabradilla CD, Getchell JP, Narayanan R, Braff EH, Chermann JC, Barre-Sinoussi F, Montagnier L, Spira TJ, Kaplan J, et al. 1984. Antibodies to the core protein of lymphadenopathy-associated virus (LAV) in patients with AIDS. Science 225:321-3.
- Gallo RC, Salahuddin SZ, Popovic M, Shearer GM, Kaplan M, Haynes BF, Palker TJ, Redfield R, Oleske J, Safai B, et al. 1984. Frequent detection and isolation of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and at risk for AIDS. Science 224:500-3.
- 17. Levy JA, Hoffman AD, Kramer SM, Landis JA, Shimabukuro JM, Oshiro LS. 1984. Isolation of lymphocytopathic retroviruses from San Francisco patients with AIDS. Science 225:840-2.

- 18. Anonymous. 2020. Fact sheet Latest global and regional statistics on the status of the AIDS epidemic. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS),
- 19. Whiteside A. 2002. Poverty and HIV/AIDS in Africa. Third world quarterly 23:313-332.
- 20. Sharp PM, Hahn BH. 2011. Origins of HIV and the AIDS pandemic. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 1:a006841.
- 21. Faria NR, Rambaut A, Suchard MA, Baele G, Bedford T, Ward MJ, Tatem AJ, Sousa JD, Arinaminpathy N, Pepin J, Posada D, Peeters M, Pybus OG, Lemey P. 2014. HIV epidemiology. The early spread and epidemic ignition of HIV-1 in human populations. Science 346:56-61.
- 22. Hemelaar J, Elangovan R, Yun J, Dickson-Tetteh L, Fleminger I, Kirtley S, Williams B, Gouws-Williams E, Ghys PD, Characterisation W-UNfHI. 2019. Global and regional molecular epidemiology of HIV-1, 1990-2015: a systematic review, global survey, and trend analysis. Lancet Infect Dis 19:143-155.
- 23. Keele BF, Van Heuverswyn F, Li Y, Bailes E, Takehisa J, Santiago ML, Bibollet-Ruche F, Chen Y, Wain LV, Liegeois F, Loul S, Ngole EM, Bienvenue Y, Delaporte E, Brookfield JF, Sharp PM, Shaw GM, Peeters M, Hahn BH. 2006. Chimpanzee reservoirs of pandemic and nonpandemic HIV-1. Science 313:523-6.
- D'Arc M, Ayouba A, Esteban A, Learn GH, Boue V, Liegeois F, Etienne L, Tagg N, Leendertz FH, Boesch C, Madinda NF, Robbins MM, Gray M, Cournil A, Ooms M, Letko M, Simon VA, Sharp PM, Hahn BH, Delaporte E, Mpoudi Ngole E, Peeters M. 2015. Origin of the HIV-1 group O epidemic in western lowland gorillas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:E1343-52.
- 25. Wolfe ND, Switzer WM, Carr JK, Bhullar VB, Shanmugam V, Tamoufe U, Prosser AT, Torimiro JN, Wright A, Mpoudi-Ngole E, McCutchan FE, Birx DL, Folks TM, Burke DS, Heneine W. 2004. Naturally acquired simian retrovirus infections in central African hunters. Lancet 363:932-7.
- 26. Wain LV, Bailes E, Bibollet-Ruche F, Decker JM, Keele BF, Van Heuverswyn F, Li Y, Takehisa J, Ngole EM, Shaw GM, Peeters M, Hahn BH, Sharp PM. 2007. Adaptation of HIV-1 to its human host. Mol Biol Evol 24:1853-60.
- 27. Li WH, Tanimura M, Sharp PM. 1988. Rates and dates of divergence between AIDS virus nucleotide sequences. Mol Biol Evol 5:313-30.
- 28. Wei X, Ghosh SK, Taylor ME, Johnson VA, Emini EA, Deutsch P, Lifson JD, Bonhoeffer S, Nowak MA, Hahn BH, et al. 1995. Viral dynamics in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. Nature 373:117-22.
- 29. Zhu T, Korber BT, Nahmias AJ, Hooper E, Sharp PM, Ho DD. 1998. An African HIV-1 sequence from 1959 and implications for the origin of the epidemic. Nature 391:594-7.
- 30. Worobey M, Gemmel M, Teuwen DE, Haselkorn T, Kunstman K, Bunce M, Muyembe JJ, Kabongo JM, Kalengayi RM, Van Marck E, Gilbert MT, Wolinsky SM. 2008. Direct evidence of extensive diversity of HIV-1 in Kinshasa by 1960. Nature 455:661-4.
- 31. Shilts R. 1987. And the band played on : politics, people, and the AIDS epidemic. St. Martin's Press, New York.
- 32. Worobey M, Watts TD, McKay RA, Suchard MA, Granade T, Teuwen DE, Koblin BA, Heneine W, Lemey P, Jaffe HW. 2016. 1970s and 'Patient 0' HIV-1 genomes illuminate early HIV/AIDS history in North America. Nature 539:98-101.

- 33. Gilbert MT, Rambaut A, Wlasiuk G, Spira TJ, Pitchenik AE, Worobey M. 2007. The emergence of HIV/AIDS in the Americas and beyond. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:18566-70.
- 34. collaborators GH. 2019. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and mortality of HIV, 1980-2017, and forecasts to 2030, for 195 countries and territories: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors Study 2017. Lancet HIV 6:e831-e859.
- 35. Collier DA, Monit C, Gupta RK. 2019. The Impact of HIV-1 Drug Escape on the Global Treatment Landscape. Cell Host Microbe 26:48-60.
- 36. Phillips AN, Stover J, Cambiano V, Nakagawa F, Jordan MR, Pillay D, Doherty M, Revill P, Bertagnolio S. 2017. Impact of HIV Drug Resistance on HIV/AIDS-Associated Mortality, New Infections, and Antiretroviral Therapy Program Costs in Sub-Saharan Africa. J Infect Dis 215:1362-1365.
- 37. Hamers RL, Rinke de Wit TF, Holmes CB. 2018. HIV drug resistance in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet HIV 5:e588-e596.
- 38. Anonymous. 2020. Seizing the Moment: Tackling entrenched inequalities to end epidemics. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS),
- 39. Ndung'u T, McCune JM, Deeks SG. 2019. Why and where an HIV cure is needed and how it might be achieved. Nature 576:397-405.
- 40. Anonymous. 2014. Fast-Track strategy to end the AIDS epidemic by 2030. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS),
- 41. Morens DM, Folkers GK, Fauci AS. 2004. The challenge of emerging and re-emerging infectious diseases. Nature 430:242-9.
- 42. Morris JG, Jr., Potter M. 1997. Emergence of new pathogens as a function of changes in host susceptibility. Emerg Infect Dis 3:435-41.
- 43. LeBreton M, Yang O, Tamoufe U, Mpoudi-Ngole E, Torimiro JN, Djoko CF, Carr JK, Tassy Prosser A, Rimoin AW, Birx DL, Burke DS, Wolfe ND. 2007. Exposure to wild primates among HIV-infected persons. Emerg Infect Dis 13:1579-82.
- 44. Kemp SA, Collier DA, Datir RP, Ferreira I, Gayed S, Jahun A, Hosmillo M, Rees-Spear C, Mlcochova P, Lumb IU, Roberts DJ, Chandra A, Temperton N, Collaboration C-NBC-, Consortium C-GU, Sharrocks K, Blane E, Modis Y, Leigh KE, Briggs JAG, van Gils MJ, Smith KGC, Bradley JR, Smith C, Doffinger R, Ceron-Gutierrez L, Barcenas-Morales G, Pollock DD, Goldstein RA, Smielewska A, Skittrall JP, Gouliouris T, Goodfellow IG, Gkrania-Klotsas E, Illingworth CJR, McCoy LE, Gupta RK. 2021. SARS-CoV-2 evolution during treatment of chronic infection. Nature 592:277-282.
- 45. Corey L, Beyrer C, Cohen MS, Michael NL, Bedford T, Rolland M. 2021. SARS-CoV-2 Variants in Patients with Immunosuppression. N Engl J Med 385:562-566.
- 46. Mori L, Valente ST. 2020. Key Players in HIV-1 Transcriptional Regulation: Targets for a Functional Cure. Viruses 12.
- 47. Hallenberger S, Bosch V, Angliker H, Shaw E, Klenk HD, Garten W. 1992. Inhibition of furin-mediated cleavage activation of HIV-1 glycoprotein gp160. Nature 360:358-61.
- 48. Center RJ, Leapman RD, Lebowitz J, Arthur LO, Earl PL, Moss B. 2002. Oligomeric structure of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope protein on the virion surface. J Virol 76:7863-7.
- 49. Cancio R, Spadari S, Maga G. 2004. Vif is an auxiliary factor of the HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and facilitates abasic site bypass. Biochem J 383:475-82.

- 50. Heinzinger NK, Bukrinsky MI, Haggerty SA, Ragland AM, Kewalramani V, Lee MA, Gendelman HE, Ratner L, Stevenson M, Emerman M. 1994. The Vpr protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 influences nuclear localization of viral nucleic acids in nondividing host cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:7311-5.
- 51. Jacotot E, Ravagnan L, Loeffler M, Ferri KF, Vieira HL, Zamzami N, Costantini P, Druillennec S, Hoebeke J, Briand JP, Irinopoulou T, Daugas E, Susin SA, Cointe D, Xie ZH, Reed JC, Roques BP, Kroemer G. 2000. The HIV-1 viral protein R induces apoptosis via a direct effect on the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. J Exp Med 191:33-46.
- 52. Kao SY, Calman AF, Luciw PA, Peterlin BM. 1987. Anti-termination of transcription within the long terminal repeat of HIV-1 by tat gene product. Nature 330:489-93.
- 53. Malim MH, Hauber J, Le SY, Maizel JV, Cullen BR. 1989. The HIV-1 rev transactivator acts through a structured target sequence to activate nuclear export of unspliced viral mRNA. Nature 338:254-7.
- 54. Margottin F, Bour SP, Durand H, Selig L, Benichou S, Richard V, Thomas D, Strebel K, Benarous R. 1998. A novel human WD protein, h-beta TrCp, that interacts with HIV-1 Vpu connects CD4 to the ER degradation pathway through an F-box motif. Mol Cell 1:565-74.
- 55. Neil SJ, Zang T, Bieniasz PD. 2008. Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. Nature 451:425-30.
- 56. Chowers MY, Spina CA, Kwoh TJ, Fitch NJ, Richman DD, Guatelli JC. 1994. Optimal infectivity in vitro of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 requires an intact nef gene. J Virol 68:2906-14.
- 57. Buffalo CZ, Iwamoto Y, Hurley JH, Ren X. 2019. How HIV Nef Proteins Hijack Membrane Traffic To Promote Infection. J Virol 93.
- 58. Wilen CB, Tilton JC, Doms RW. 2012. HIV: cell binding and entry. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2.
- 59. Dalgleish AG, Beverley PC, Clapham PR, Crawford DH, Greaves MF, Weiss RA. 1984. The CD4 (T4) antigen is an essential component of the receptor for the AIDS retrovirus. Nature 312:763-7.
- 60. Klatzmann D, Champagne E, Chamaret S, Gruest J, Guetard D, Hercend T, Gluckman JC, Montagnier L. 1984. T-lymphocyte T4 molecule behaves as the receptor for human retrovirus LAV. Nature 312:767-8.
- 61. Wacleche VS, Tremblay CL, Routy JP, Ancuta P. 2018. The Biology of Monocytes and Dendritic Cells: Contribution to HIV Pathogenesis. Viruses 10.
- 62. Kwong PD, Wyatt R, Robinson J, Sweet RW, Sodroski J, Hendrickson WA. 1998. Structure of an HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein in complex with the CD4 receptor and a neutralizing human antibody. Nature 393:648-59.
- 63. Berger EA, Doms RW, Fenyo EM, Korber BT, Littman DR, Moore JP, Sattentau QJ, Schuitemaker H, Sodroski J, Weiss RA. 1998. A new classification for HIV-1. Nature 391:240.
- 64. Margolis L, Shattock R. 2006. Selective transmission of CCR5-utilizing HIV-1: the 'gatekeeper' problem resolved? Nat Rev Microbiol 4:312-7.
- 65. Connor RI, Sheridan KE, Ceradini D, Choe S, Landau NR. 1997. Change in coreceptor use correlates with disease progression in HIV-1--infected individuals. J Exp Med 185:621-8.

- 66. Melikyan GB. 2014. HIV entry: a game of hide-and-fuse? Curr Opin Virol 4:1-7.
- 67. Maddon PJ, McDougal JS, Clapham PR, Dalgleish AG, Jamal S, Weiss RA, Axel R. 1988. HIV infection does not require endocytosis of its receptor, CD4. Cell 54:865-74.
- 68. Miyauchi K, Kim Y, Latinovic O, Morozov V, Melikyan GB. 2009. HIV enters cells via endocytosis and dynamin-dependent fusion with endosomes. Cell 137:433-44.
- Yoder A, Guo J, Yu D, Cui Z, Zhang XE, Wu Y. 2011. Effects of microtubule modulators on HIV-1 infection of transformed and resting CD4 T cells. J Virol 85:3020-4.
- 70. Dharan A, Campbell EM. 2018. Role of Microtubules and Microtubule-Associated Proteins in HIV-1 Infection. J Virol 92.
- 71. Hu WS, Hughes SH. 2012. HIV-1 reverse transcription. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2.
- 72. Krupkin M, Jackson LN, Ha B, Puglisi EV. 2020. Advances in understanding the initiation of HIV-1 reverse transcription. Curr Opin Struct Biol 65:175-183.
- 73. Rhodes T, Wargo H, Hu WS. 2003. High rates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 recombination: near-random segregation of markers one kilobase apart in one round of viral replication. J Virol 77:11193-200.
- 74. Bruner KM, Murray AJ, Pollack RA, Soliman MG, Laskey SB, Capoferri AA, Lai J, Strain MC, Lada SM, Hoh R, Ho YC, Richman DD, Deeks SG, Siliciano JD, Siliciano RF. 2016. Defective proviruses rapidly accumulate during acute HIV-1 infection. Nat Med 22:1043-9.
- 75. Arhel N. 2010. Revisiting HIV-1 uncoating. Retrovirology 7:96.
- 76. Engelman AN, Singh PK. 2018. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of HIV-1 integration targeting. Cell Mol Life Sci 75:2491-2507.
- 77. Craigie R, Bushman FD. 2012. HIV DNA integration. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2:a006890.
- 78. Lusic M, Siliciano RF. 2017. Nuclear landscape of HIV-1 infection and integration. Nat Rev Microbiol 15:69-82.
- 79. Karn J, Stoltzfus CM. 2012. Transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation of HIV-1 gene expression. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2:a006916.
- 80. Freed EO. 2001. HIV-1 replication. Somat Cell Mol Genet 26:13-33.
- 81. Freed EO. 2015. HIV-1 assembly, release and maturation. Nat Rev Microbiol 13:484-96.
- 82. Moore MD, Nikolaitchik OA, Chen J, Hammarskjold ML, Rekosh D, Hu WS. 2009. Probing the HIV-1 genomic RNA trafficking pathway and dimerization by genetic recombination and single virion analyses. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000627.
- 83. Chen J, Liu Y, Wu B, Nikolaitchik OA, Mohan PR, Chen J, Pathak VK, Hu WS. 2020. Visualizing the translation and packaging of HIV-1 full-length RNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117:6145-6155.
- 84. Rein A. 2019. RNA Packaging in HIV. Trends Microbiol 27:715-723.
- 85. Jalaguier P, Cantin R, Maaroufi H, Tremblay MJ. 2015. Selective acquisition of hostderived ICAM-1 by HIV-1 is a matrix-dependent process. J Virol 89:323-36.
- 86. Sundquist WI, Krausslich HG. 2012. HIV-1 assembly, budding, and maturation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2:a006924.
- 87. Machida S, Depierre D, Chen HC, Thenin-Houssier S, Petitjean G, Doyen CM, Takaku M, Cuvier O, Benkirane M. 2020. Exploring histone loading on HIV DNA reveals a

dynamic nucleosome positioning between unintegrated and integrated viral genome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117:6822-6830.

- 88. Rafati H, Parra M, Hakre S, Moshkin Y, Verdin E, Mahmoudi T. 2011. Repressive LTR nucleosome positioning by the BAF complex is required for HIV latency. PLoS Biol 9:e1001206.
- 89. Jordan A, Defechereux P, Verdin E. 2001. The site of HIV-1 integration in the human genome determines basal transcriptional activity and response to Tat transactivation. EMBO J 20:1726-38.
- 90. Chen HC, Martinez JP, Zorita E, Meyerhans A, Filion GJ. 2017. Position effects influence HIV latency reversal. Nat Struct Mol Biol 24:47-54.
- 91. Delannoy A, Poirier M, Bell B. 2019. Cat and Mouse: HIV Transcription in Latency, Immune Evasion and Cure/Remission Strategies. Viruses 11.
- 92. Nguyen K, Das B, Dobrowolski C, Karn J. 2017. Multiple Histone Lysine Methyltransferases Are Required for the Establishment and Maintenance of HIV-1 Latency. mBio 8.
- 93. Verdin E, Paras P, Jr., Van Lint C. 1993. Chromatin disruption in the promoter of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 during transcriptional activation. EMBO J 12:3249-59.
- 94. Cohn LB, Chomont N, Deeks SG. 2020. The Biology of the HIV-1 Latent Reservoir and Implications for Cure Strategies. Cell Host Microbe 27:519-530.
- 95. Pereira LA, Bentley K, Peeters A, Churchill MJ, Deacon NJ. 2000. A compilation of cellular transcription factor interactions with the HIV-1 LTR promoter. Nucleic Acids Res 28:663-8.
- 96. Wilhelm E, Bell B. 2013. Selective recognition of viral promoters by host cell transcription complexes: challenges and opportunities to control latency. Curr Opin Virol 3:380-6.
- 97. Raha T, Cheng SW, Green MR. 2005. HIV-1 Tat stimulates transcription complex assembly through recruitment of TBP in the absence of TAFs. PLoS Biol 3:e44.
- 98. Sune C, Garcia-Blanco MA. 1995. Sp1 transcription factor is required for in vitro basal and Tat-activated transcription from the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 long terminal repeat. J Virol 69:6572-6.
- 99. Marzio G, Tyagi M, Gutierrez MI, Giacca M. 1998. HIV-1 tat transactivator recruits p300 and CREB-binding protein histone acetyltransferases to the viral promoter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:13519-24.
- 100. Reeder JE, Kwak YT, McNamara RP, Forst CV, D'Orso I. 2015. HIV Tat controls RNA Polymerase II and the epigenetic landscape to transcriptionally reprogram target immune cells. Elife 4.
- 101. Feinberg MB, Baltimore D, Frankel AD. 1991. The role of Tat in the human immunodeficiency virus life cycle indicates a primary effect on transcriptional elongation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:4045-9.
- 102. Weinberger LS, Burnett JC, Toettcher JE, Arkin AP, Schaffer DV. 2005. Stochastic gene expression in a lentiviral positive-feedback loop: HIV-1 Tat fluctuations drive phenotypic diversity. Cell 122:169-82.
- 103. Razooky BS, Pai A, Aull K, Rouzine IM, Weinberger LS. 2015. A hardwired HIV latency program. Cell 160:990-1001.
- 104. Gatignol A. 2007. Transcription of HIV: Tat and cellular chromatin. Adv Pharmacol 55:137-59.

- 105. Brady J, Kashanchi F. 2005. Tat gets the "green" light on transcription initiation. Retrovirology 2:69.
- 106. Rosen CA, Sodroski JG, Haseltine WA. 1985. The location of cis-acting regulatory sequences in the human T cell lymphotropic virus type III (HTLV-III/LAV) long terminal repeat. Cell 41:813-23.
- 107. Zhang Z, Klatt A, Gilmour DS, Henderson AJ. 2007. Negative elongation factor NELF represses human immunodeficiency virus transcription by pausing the RNA polymerase II complex. J Biol Chem 282:16981-8.
- 108. He N, Liu M, Hsu J, Xue Y, Chou S, Burlingame A, Krogan NJ, Alber T, Zhou Q. 2010. HIV-1 Tat and host AFF4 recruit two transcription elongation factors into a bifunctional complex for coordinated activation of HIV-1 transcription. Mol Cell 38:428-38.
- 109. Sobhian B, Laguette N, Yatim A, Nakamura M, Levy Y, Kiernan R, Benkirane M. 2010. HIV-1 Tat assembles a multifunctional transcription elongation complex and stably associates with the 7SK snRNP. Mol Cell 38:439-51.
- 110. Berkhout B, Silverman RH, Jeang KT. 1989. Tat trans-activates the human immunodeficiency virus through a nascent RNA target. Cell 59:273-82.
- Palangat M, Meier TI, Keene RG, Landick R. 1998. Transcriptional pausing at +62 of the HIV-1 nascent RNA modulates formation of the TAR RNA structure. Mol Cell 1:1033-42.
- 112. Yukl SA, Kaiser P, Kim P, Telwatte S, Joshi SK, Vu M, Lampiris H, Wong JK. 2018. HIV latency in isolated patient CD4(+) T cells may be due to blocks in HIV transcriptional elongation, completion, and splicing. Sci Transl Med 10.
- 113. Yamaguchi Y, Takagi T, Wada T, Yano K, Furuya A, Sugimoto S, Hasegawa J, Handa H. 1999. NELF, a multisubunit complex containing RD, cooperates with DSIF to repress RNA polymerase II elongation. Cell 97:41-51.
- 114. Vos SM, Farnung L, Urlaub H, Cramer P. 2018. Structure of paused transcription complex Pol II-DSIF-NELF. Nature 560:601-606.
- 115. Zhou Q, Li T, Price DH. 2012. RNA polymerase II elongation control. Annu Rev Biochem 81:119-43.
- 116. He N, Chan CK, Sobhian B, Chou S, Xue Y, Liu M, Alber T, Benkirane M, Zhou Q. 2011. Human Polymerase-Associated Factor complex (PAFc) connects the Super Elongation Complex (SEC) to RNA polymerase II on chromatin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:E636-45.
- 117. Chou S, Upton H, Bao K, Schulze-Gahmen U, Samelson AJ, He N, Nowak A, Lu H, Krogan NJ, Zhou Q, Alber T. 2013. HIV-1 Tat recruits transcription elongation factors dispersed along a flexible AFF4 scaffold. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:E123-31.
- 118. Qi S, Li Z, Schulze-Gahmen U, Stjepanovic G, Zhou Q, Hurley JH. 2017. Structural basis for ELL2 and AFF4 activation of HIV-1 proviral transcription. Nat Commun 8:14076.
- 119. Schulze-Gahmen U, Hurley JH. 2018. Structural mechanism for HIV-1 TAR loop recognition by Tat and the super elongation complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115:12973-12978.
- 120. Marshall NF, Peng J, Xie Z, Price DH. 1996. Control of RNA polymerase II elongation potential by a novel carboxyl-terminal domain kinase. J Biol Chem 271:27176-83.

- 121. Budhiraja S, Famiglietti M, Bosque A, Planelles V, Rice AP. 2013. Cyclin T1 and CDK9 T-loop phosphorylation are downregulated during establishment of HIV-1 latency in primary resting memory CD4+ T cells. J Virol 87:1211-20.
- 122. Chiang K, Sung TL, Rice AP. 2012. Regulation of cyclin T1 and HIV-1 Replication by microRNAs in resting CD4+ T lymphocytes. J Virol 86:3244-52.
- 123. Budhiraja S, Ramakrishnan R, Rice AP. 2012. Phosphatase PPM1A negatively regulates P-TEFb function in resting CD4(+) T cells and inhibits HIV-1 gene expression. Retrovirology 9:52.
- 124. Couturier J, Orozco AF, Liu H, Budhiraja S, Siwak EB, Nehete PN, Sastry KJ, Rice AP, Lewis DE. 2019. Regulation of cyclin T1 during HIV replication and latency establishment in human memory CD4 T cells. Virol J 16:22.
- 125. Peterlin BM, Brogie JE, Price DH. 2012. 7SK snRNA: a noncoding RNA that plays a major role in regulating eukaryotic transcription. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA 3:92-103.
- 126. He N, Pezda AC, Zhou Q. 2006. Modulation of a P-TEFb functional equilibrium for the global control of cell growth and differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 26:7068-76.
- 127. Bartholomeeusen K, Fujinaga K, Xiang Y, Peterlin BM. 2013. Histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACis) that release the positive transcription elongation factor b (P-TEFb) from its inhibitory complex also activate HIV transcription. J Biol Chem 288:14400-14407.
- 128. Liu P, Xiang Y, Fujinaga K, Bartholomeeusen K, Nilson KA, Price DH, Peterlin BM. 2014. Release of positive transcription elongation factor b (P-TEFb) from 7SK small nuclear ribonucleoprotein (snRNP) activates hexamethylene bisacetamide-inducible protein (HEXIM1) transcription. J Biol Chem 289:9918-25.
- 129. Faust TB, Li Y, Bacon CW, Jang GM, Weiss A, Jayaraman B, Newton BW, Krogan NJ, D'Orso I, Frankel AD. 2018. The HIV-1 Tat protein recruits a ubiquitin ligase to reorganize the 7SK snRNP for transcriptional activation. Elife 7.
- 130. Luo Z, Lin C, Shilatifard A. 2012. The super elongation complex (SEC) family in transcriptional control. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 13:543-7.
- 131. Tang D, Chen C, Liao G, Liu J, Liao B, Huang Q, Chen Q, Zhao J, Jiang H, Duan J, Huang J, Wang K, Wang J, Zhou C, Chu W, Li W, Sun B, Li Z, Dai L, Fu X, Cheng W, Xue Y, Qi S. 2020. Structural and functional insight into the effect of AFF4 dimerization on activation of HIV-1 proviral transcription. Cell Discov 6:7.
- 132. Li Z, Lu H, Zhou Q. 2016. A Minor Subset of Super Elongation Complexes Plays a Predominant Role in Reversing HIV-1 Latency. Mol Cell Biol 36:1194-205.
- 133. Kuzmina A, Krasnopolsky S, Taube R. 2017. Super elongation complex promotes early HIV transcription and its function is modulated by P-TEFb. Transcription 8:133-149.
- Schulze-Gahmen U, Upton H, Birnberg A, Bao K, Chou S, Krogan NJ, Zhou Q, Alber T. 2013. The AFF4 scaffold binds human P-TEFb adjacent to HIV Tat. Elife 2:e00327.
- 135. Schulze-Gahmen U, Lu H, Zhou Q, Alber T. 2014. AFF4 binding to Tat-P-TEFb indirectly stimulates TAR recognition of super elongation complexes at the HIV promoter. Elife 3:e02375.
- 136. Schulze-Gahmen U, Echeverria I, Stjepanovic G, Bai Y, Lu H, Schneidman-Duhovny D, Doudna JA, Zhou Q, Sali A, Hurley JH. 2016. Insights into HIV-1 proviral transcription from integrative structure and dynamics of the Tat:AFF4:P-TEFb:TAR complex. Elife 5.
- 137. Coleman CM, Gelais CS, Wu L. 2013. Cellular and viral mechanisms of HIV-1 transmission mediated by dendritic cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 762:109-30.

- 138. Martin-Moreno A, Munoz-Fernandez MA. 2019. Dendritic Cells, the Double Agent in the War Against HIV-1. Front Immunol 10:2485.
- 139. Chomont N, El-Far M, Ancuta P, Trautmann L, Procopio FA, Yassine-Diab B, Boucher G, Boulassel MR, Ghattas G, Brenchley JM, Schacker TW, Hill BJ, Douek DC, Routy JP, Haddad EK, Sekaly RP. 2009. HIV reservoir size and persistence are driven by T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation. Nat Med 15:893-900.
- 140. Finzi D, Hermankova M, Pierson T, Carruth LM, Buck C, Chaisson RE, Quinn TC, Chadwick K, Margolick J, Brookmeyer R, Gallant J, Markowitz M, Ho DD, Richman DD, Siliciano RF. 1997. Identification of a reservoir for HIV-1 in patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. Science 278:1295-300.
- 141. Bacchus-Souffan C, Fitch M, Symons J, Abdel-Mohsen M, Reeves DB, Hoh R, Stone M, Hiatt J, Kim P, Chopra A, Ahn H, York VA, Cameron DL, Hecht FM, Martin JN, Yukl SA, Mallal S, Cameron PU, Deeks SG, Schiffer JT, Lewin SR, Hellerstein MK, McCune JM, Hunt PW. 2021. Relationship between CD4 T cell turnover, cellular differentiation and HIV persistence during ART. PLoS Pathog 17:e1009214.
- 142. Bozzi G, Simonetti FR, Watters SA, Anderson EM, Gouzoulis M, Kearney MF, Rote P, Lange C, Shao W, Gorelick R, Fullmer B, Kumar S, Wank S, Hewitt S, Kleiner DE, Hattori J, Bale MJ, Hill S, Bell J, Rehm C, Grossman Z, Yarchoan R, Uldrick T, Maldarelli F. 2019. No evidence of ongoing HIV replication or compartmentalization in tissues during combination antiretroviral therapy: Implications for HIV eradication. Sci Adv 5:eaav2045.
- 143. Fletcher CV, Staskus K, Wietgrefe SW, Rothenberger M, Reilly C, Chipman JG, Beilman GJ, Khoruts A, Thorkelson A, Schmidt TE, Anderson J, Perkey K, Stevenson M, Perelson AS, Douek DC, Haase AT, Schacker TW. 2014. Persistent HIV-1 replication is associated with lower antiretroviral drug concentrations in lymphatic tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:2307-12.
- 144. Imamichi H, Smith M, Adelsberger JW, Izumi T, Scrimieri F, Sherman BT, Rehm CA, Imamichi T, Pau A, Catalfamo M, Fauci AS, Lane HC. 2020. Defective HIV-1 proviruses produce viral proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117:3704-3710.
- 145. Finzi D, Blankson J, Siliciano JD, Margolick JB, Chadwick K, Pierson T, Smith K, Lisziewicz J, Lori F, Flexner C, Quinn TC, Chaisson RE, Rosenberg E, Walker B, Gange S, Gallant J, Siliciano RF. 1999. Latent infection of CD4+ T cells provides a mechanism for lifelong persistence of HIV-1, even in patients on effective combination therapy. Nat Med 5:512-7.
- 146. Crooks AM, Bateson R, Cope AB, Dahl NP, Griggs MK, Kuruc JD, Gay CL, Eron JJ, Margolis DM, Bosch RJ, Archin NM. 2015. Precise Quantitation of the Latent HIV-1 Reservoir: Implications for Eradication Strategies. J Infect Dis 212:1361-5.
- 147. Siliciano JD, Kajdas J, Finzi D, Quinn TC, Chadwick K, Margolick JB, Kovacs C, Gange SJ, Siliciano RF. 2003. Long-term follow-up studies confirm the stability of the latent reservoir for HIV-1 in resting CD4+ T cells. Nat Med 9:727-8.
- 148. McManus WR, Bale MJ, Spindler J, Wiegand A, Musick A, Patro SC, Sobolewski MD, Musick VK, Anderson EM, Cyktor JC, Halvas EK, Shao W, Wells D, Wu X, Keele BF, Milush JM, Hoh R, Mellors JW, Hughes SH, Deeks SG, Coffin JM, Kearney MF. 2019. HIV-1 in lymph nodes is maintained by cellular proliferation during antiretroviral therapy. J Clin Invest 129:4629-4642.

- 149. Wiegand A, Spindler J, Hong FF, Shao W, Cyktor JC, Cillo AR, Halvas EK, Coffin JM, Mellors JW, Kearney MF. 2017. Single-cell analysis of HIV-1 transcriptional activity reveals expression of proviruses in expanded clones during ART. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114:E3659-E3668.
- 150. Davey RT, Jr., Bhat N, Yoder C, Chun TW, Metcalf JA, Dewar R, Natarajan V, Lempicki RA, Adelsberger JW, Miller KD, Kovacs JA, Polis MA, Walker RE, Falloon J, Masur H, Gee D, Baseler M, Dimitrov DS, Fauci AS, Lane HC. 1999. HIV-1 and T cell dynamics after interruption of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in patients with a history of sustained viral suppression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:15109-14.
- 151. Hataye JM, Casazza JP, Best K, Liang CJ, Immonen TT, Ambrozak DR, Darko S, Henry AR, Laboune F, Maldarelli F, Douek DC, Hengartner NW, Yamamoto T, Keele BF, Perelson AS, Koup RA. 2019. Principles Governing Establishment versus Collapse of HIV-1 Cellular Spread. Cell Host Microbe 26:748-763 e20.
- Morton EL, Forst CV, Zheng Y, DePaula-Silva AB, Ramirez NP, Planelles V, D'Orso I. 2019. Transcriptional Circuit Fragility Influences HIV Proviral Fate. Cell Rep 27:154-171 e9.
- 153. Fischl MA, Richman DD, Grieco MH, Gottlieb MS, Volberding PA, Laskin OL, Leedom JM, Groopman JE, Mildvan D, Schooley RT, et al. 1987. The efficacy of azidothymidine (AZT) in the treatment of patients with AIDS and AIDS-related complex. A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. N Engl J Med 317:185-91.
- 154. Gulick RM, Mellors JW, Havlir D, Eron JJ, Gonzalez C, McMahon D, Richman DD, Valentine FT, Jonas L, Meibohm A, Emini EA, Chodakewitz JA. 1997. Treatment with indinavir, zidovudine, and lamivudine in adults with human immunodeficiency virus infection and prior antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med 337:734-9.
- 155. Cihlar T, Fordyce M. 2016. Current status and prospects of HIV treatment. Curr Opin Virol 18:50-6.
- 156. Kozal M, Aberg J, Pialoux G, Cahn P, Thompson M, Molina JM, Grinsztejn B, Diaz R, Castagna A, Kumar P, Latiff G, DeJesus E, Gummel M, Gartland M, Pierce A, Ackerman P, Llamoso C, Lataillade M, Team BT. 2020. Fostemsavir in Adults with Multidrug-Resistant HIV-1 Infection. N Engl J Med 382:1232-1243.
- 157. Deeks SG, Overbaugh J, Phillips A, Buchbinder S. 2015. HIV infection. Nat Rev Dis Primers 1:15035.
- 158. Anonymous. 2020. ViiV Healthcare announces first global regulatory approval of CABENUVA; the first complete, long-acting, regimen for the treatment of HIV. VIIV Healthcare.
- 159. Anonymous. 2021. ViiV Healthcare announces FDA approval of Cabenuva (cabotegravir, rilpivirine), the first and only complete long-acting regimen for HIV treatment. ViiV Healthcare.
- 160. Kulkarni TA, Bade AN, Sillman B, Shetty BLD, Wojtkiewicz MS, Gautam N, Hilaire JR, Sravanam S, Szlachetka A, Lamberty BG, Morsey BM, Fox HS, Alnouti Y, McMillan JM, Mosley RL, Meza J, Domanico PL, Yue TY, Moore G, Edagwa BJ, Gendelman HE. 2020. A year-long extended release nanoformulated cabotegravir prodrug. Nat Mater 19:910-920.
- 161. Bekker LG, Beyrer C, Quinn TC. 2012. Behavioral and biomedical combination strategies for HIV prevention. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2.

- 162. Wandeler G, Johnson LF, Egger M. 2016. Trends in life expectancy of HIV-positive adults on antiretroviral therapy across the globe: comparisons with general population. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 11:492-500.
- 163. Yu Y, Luo D, Chen X, Huang Z, Wang M, Xiao S. 2018. Medication adherence to antiretroviral therapy among newly treated people living with HIV. BMC Public Health 18:825.
- 164. Thompson MA, Mugavero MJ, Amico KR, Cargill VA, Chang LW, Gross R, Orrell C, Altice FL, Bangsberg DR, Bartlett JG, Beckwith CG, Dowshen N, Gordon CM, Horn T, Kumar P, Scott JD, Stirratt MJ, Remien RH, Simoni JM, Nachega JB. 2012. Guidelines for improving entry into and retention in care and antiretroviral adherence for persons with HIV: evidence-based recommendations from an International Association of Physicians in AIDS Care panel. Ann Intern Med 156:817-33, W-284, W-285, W-286, W-287, W-288, W-289, W-290, W-291, W-292, W-293, W-294.
- 165. Archin NM, Liberty AL, Kashuba AD, Choudhary SK, Kuruc JD, Crooks AM, Parker DC, Anderson EM, Kearney MF, Strain MC, Richman DD, Hudgens MG, Bosch RJ, Coffin JM, Eron JJ, Hazuda DJ, Margolis DM. 2012. Administration of vorinostat disrupts HIV-1 latency in patients on antiretroviral therapy. Nature 487:482-5.
- 166. Contreras X, Barboric M, Lenasi T, Peterlin BM. 2007. HMBA releases P-TEFb from HEXIM1 and 7SK snRNA via PI3K/Akt and activates HIV transcription. PLoS Pathog 3:1459-69.
- 167. Huang H, Liu S, Jean M, Simpson S, Huang H, Merkley M, Hayashi T, Kong W, Rodriguez-Sanchez I, Zhang X, Yosief HO, Miao H, Que J, Kobie JJ, Bradner J, Santoso NG, Zhang W, Zhu J. 2017. A Novel Bromodomain Inhibitor Reverses HIV-1 Latency through Specific Binding with BRD4 to Promote Tat and P-TEFb Association. Front Microbiol 8:1035.
- 168. Doyon G, Zerbato J, Mellors JW, Sluis-Cremer N. 2013. Disulfiram reactivates latent HIV-1 expression through depletion of the phosphatase and tensin homolog. AIDS 27:F7-F11.
- 169. Williams SA, Chen LF, Kwon H, Fenard D, Bisgrove D, Verdin E, Greene WC. 2004. Prostratin antagonizes HIV latency by activating NF-kappaB. J Biol Chem 279:42008-17.
- 170. Ait-Ammar A, Kula A, Darcis G, Verdikt R, De Wit S, Gautier V, Mallon PWG, Marcello A, Rohr O, Van Lint C. 2019. Current Status of Latency Reversing Agents Facing the Heterogeneity of HIV-1 Cellular and Tissue Reservoirs. Front Microbiol 10:3060.
- 171. Zerbato JM, Purves HV, Lewin SR, Rasmussen TA. 2019. Between a shock and a hard place: challenges and developments in HIV latency reversal. Curr Opin Virol 38:1-9.
- 172. Nixon CC, Mavigner M, Sampey GC, Brooks AD, Spagnuolo RA, Irlbeck DM, Mattingly C, Ho PT, Schoof N, Cammon CG, Tharp GK, Kanke M, Wang Z, Cleary RA, Upadhyay AA, De C, Wills SR, Falcinelli SD, Galardi C, Walum H, Schramm NJ, Deutsch J, Lifson JD, Fennessey CM, Keele BF, Jean S, Maguire S, Liao B, Browne EP, Ferris RG, Brehm JH, Favre D, Vanderford TH, Bosinger SE, Jones CD, Routy JP, Archin NM, Margolis DM, Wahl A, Dunham RM, Silvestri G, Chahroudi A, Garcia JV. 2020. Systemic HIV and SIV latency reversal via non-canonical NF-kappaB signalling in vivo. Nature 578:160-165.
- 173. Sengupta S, Siliciano RF. 2018. Targeting the Latent Reservoir for HIV-1. Immunity 48:872-895.

- 174. Jinek M, Chylinski K, Fonfara I, Hauer M, Doudna JA, Charpentier E. 2012. A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science 337:816-21.
- 175. Anzalone AV, Randolph PB, Davis JR, Sousa AA, Koblan LW, Levy JM, Chen PJ, Wilson C, Newby GA, Raguram A, Liu DR. 2019. Search-and-replace genome editing without double-strand breaks or donor DNA. Nature doi:10.1038/s41586-019-1711-4.
- 176. Molla KA, Yang Y. 2019. CRISPR/Cas-Mediated Base Editing: Technical Considerations and Practical Applications. Trends Biotechnol 37:1121-1142.
- 177. Adli M. 2018. The CRISPR tool kit for genome editing and beyond. Nat Commun 9:1911.
- 178. Dash PK, Kaminski R, Bella R, Su H, Mathews S, Ahooyi TM, Chen C, Mancuso P, Sariyer R, Ferrante P, Donadoni M, Robinson JA, Sillman B, Lin Z, Hilaire JR, Banoub M, Elango M, Gautam N, Mosley RL, Poluektova LY, McMillan J, Bade AN, Gorantla S, Sariyer IK, Burdo TH, Young WB, Amini S, Gordon J, Jacobson JM, Edagwa B, Khalili K, Gendelman HE. 2019. Sequential LASER ART and CRISPR Treatments Eliminate HIV-1 in a Subset of Infected Humanized Mice. Nat Commun 10:2753.
- 179. Das AT, Binda CS, Berkhout B. 2019. Elimination of infectious HIV DNA by CRISPR-Cas9. Curr Opin Virol 38:81-88.
- 180. Canoui E, Lecuroux C, Avettand-Fenoel V, Gousset M, Rouzioux C, Saez-Cirion A, Meyer L, Boufassa F, Lambotte O, Noel N, and the ACOCSG. 2017. A Subset of Extreme Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Controllers Is Characterized by a Small HIV Blood Reservoir and a Weak T-Cell Activation Level. Open Forum Infect Dis 4:ofx064.
- 181. Casado C, Galvez C, Pernas M, Tarancon-Diez L, Rodriguez C, Sanchez-Merino V, Vera M, Olivares I, De Pablo-Bernal R, Merino-Mansilla A, Del Romero J, Lorenzo-Redondo R, Ruiz-Mateos E, Salgado M, Martinez-Picado J, Lopez-Galindez C. 2020. Permanent control of HIV-1 pathogenesis in exceptional elite controllers: a model of spontaneous cure. Sci Rep 10:1902.
- 182. Namazi G, Fajnzylber JM, Aga E, Bosch RJ, Acosta EP, Sharaf R, Hartogensis W, Jacobson JM, Connick E, Volberding P, Skiest D, Margolis D, Sneller MC, Little SJ, Gianella S, Smith DM, Kuritzkes DR, Gulick RM, Mellors JW, Mehraj V, Gandhi RT, Mitsuyasu R, Schooley RT, Henry K, Tebas P, Deeks SG, Chun TW, Collier AC, Routy JP, Hecht FM, Walker BD, Li JZ. 2018. The Control of HIV After Antiretroviral Medication Pause (CHAMP) Study: Posttreatment Controllers Identified From 14 Clinical Studies. J Infect Dis 218:1954-1963.
- 183. Saez-Cirion A, Bacchus C, Hocqueloux L, Avettand-Fenoel V, Girault I, Lecuroux C, Potard V, Versmisse P, Melard A, Prazuck T, Descours B, Guergnon J, Viard JP, Boufassa F, Lambotte O, Goujard C, Meyer L, Costagliola D, Venet A, Pancino G, Autran B, Rouzioux C, Group AVS. 2013. Post-treatment HIV-1 controllers with a longterm virological remission after the interruption of early initiated antiretroviral therapy ANRS VISCONTI Study. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003211.
- 184. Hocqueloux L, Prazuck T, Avettand-Fenoel V, Lafeuillade A, Cardon B, Viard JP, Rouzioux C. 2010. Long-term immunovirologic control following antiretroviral therapy interruption in patients treated at the time of primary HIV-1 infection. AIDS 24:1598-601.

- 185. Jiang C, Lian X, Gao C, Sun X, Einkauf KB, Chevalier JM, Chen SMY, Hua S, Rhee B, Chang K, Blackmer JE, Osborn M, Peluso MJ, Hoh R, Somsouk M, Milush J, Bertagnolli LN, Sweet SE, Varriale JA, Burbelo PD, Chun TW, Laird GM, Serrao E, Engelman AN, Carrington M, Siliciano RF, Siliciano JM, Deeks SG, Walker BD, Lichterfeld M, Yu XG. 2020. Distinct viral reservoirs in individuals with spontaneous control of HIV-1. Nature 585:261-267.
- 186. Goulder P, Deeks SG. 2018. HIV control: Is getting there the same as staying there? PLoS Pathog 14:e1007222.
- 187. Walker BD, Yu XG. 2013. Unravelling the mechanisms of durable control of HIV-1. Nat Rev Immunol 13:487-98.
- 188. Einkauf KB, Lee GQ, Gao C, Sharaf R, Sun X, Hua S, Chen SM, Jiang C, Lian X, Chowdhury FZ, Rosenberg ES, Chun TW, Li JZ, Yu XG, Lichterfeld M. 2019. Intact HIV-1 proviruses accumulate at distinct chromosomal positions during prolonged antiretroviral therapy. J Clin Invest 129:988-998.
- 189. Davenport MP, Khoury DS, Cromer D, Lewin SR, Kelleher AD, Kent SJ. 2019. Functional cure of HIV: the scale of the challenge. Nat Rev Immunol 19:45-54.
- 190. Poropatich K, Sullivan DJ, Jr. 2011. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 long-term non-progressors: the viral, genetic and immunological basis for disease non-progression. J Gen Virol 92:247-68.
- 191. Gupta RK, Abdul-Jawad S, McCoy LE, Mok HP, Peppa D, Salgado M, Martinez-Picado J, Nijhuis M, Wensing AMJ, Lee H, Grant P, Nastouli E, Lambert J, Pace M, Salasc F, Monit C, Innes AJ, Muir L, Waters L, Frater J, Lever AML, Edwards SG, Gabriel IH, Olavarria E. 2019. HIV-1 remission following CCR5Delta32/Delta32 haematopoietic stem-cell transplantation. Nature 568:244-248.
- 192. Hutter G, Nowak D, Mossner M, Ganepola S, Mussig A, Allers K, Schneider T, Hofmann J, Kucherer C, Blau O, Blau IW, Hofmann WK, Thiel E. 2009. Long-term control of HIV by CCR5 Delta32/Delta32 stem-cell transplantation. N Engl J Med 360:692-8.
- 193. Liu R, Paxton WA, Choe S, Ceradini D, Martin SR, Horuk R, MacDonald ME, Stuhlmann H, Koup RA, Landau NR. 1996. Homozygous defect in HIV-1 coreceptor accounts for resistance of some multiply-exposed individuals to HIV-1 infection. Cell 86:367-77.
- 194. Scarborough RJ, Goguen RP, Gatignol A. 2019. A second patient cured of HIV infection: hopes and limitations. Virologie (Montrouge) 23:1-4.
- 195. Goguen RP, Malard CM, Scarborough RJ, Gatignol A. 2019. Small RNAs to treat human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection by gene therapy. Curr Opin Virol 38:10-20.
- 196. Scarborough RJ, Gatignol A. 2017. RNA Interference Therapies for an HIV-1 Functional Cure. Viruses 10.
- 197. Mousseau G, Kessing CF, Fromentin R, Trautmann L, Chomont N, Valente ST. 2015. The Tat Inhibitor Didehydro-Cortistatin A Prevents HIV-1 Reactivation from Latency. MBio 6:e00465.
- 198. Vargas B, Giacobbi NS, Sanyal A, Venkatachari NJ, Han F, Gupta P, Sluis-Cremer N. 2019. Inhibitors of Signaling Pathways That Block Reversal of HIV-1 Latency. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 63.
- 199. Kessing CF, Nixon CC, Li C, Tsai P, Takata H, Mousseau G, Ho PT, Honeycutt JB, Fallahi M, Trautmann L, Garcia JV, Valente ST. 2017. In Vivo Suppression of HIV

Rebound by Didehydro-Cortistatin A, a "Block-and-Lock" Strategy for HIV-1 Treatment. Cell Rep 21:600-611.

- 200. Besnard E, Hakre S, Kampmann M, Lim HW, Hosmane NN, Martin A, Bassik MC, Verschueren E, Battivelli E, Chan J, Svensson JP, Gramatica A, Conrad RJ, Ott M, Greene WC, Krogan NJ, Siliciano RF, Weissman JS, Verdin E. 2016. The mTOR Complex Controls HIV Latency. Cell Host Microbe 20:785-797.
- 201. Schwarzer R, Gramatica A, Greene WC. 2020. Reduce and Control: A Combinatorial Strategy for Achieving Sustained HIV Remissions in the Absence of Antiretroviral Therapy. Viruses 12.
- 202. Vansant G, Bruggemans A, Janssens J, Debyser Z. 2020. Block-And-Lock Strategies to Cure HIV Infection. Viruses 12.
- 203. Shabalina SA, Koonin EV. 2008. Origins and evolution of eukaryotic RNA interference. Trends Ecol Evol 23:578-87.
- 204. Friedman RC, Farh KK, Burge CB, Bartel DP. 2009. Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. Genome Res 19:92-105.
- 205. Bartel DP. 2018. Metazoan MicroRNAs. Cell 173:20-51.
- 206. Esteller M. 2011. Non-coding RNAs in human disease. Nat Rev Genet 12:861-74.
- 207. Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC. 1998. Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 391:806-11.
- 208. Caplen NJ, Parrish S, Imani F, Fire A, Morgan RA. 2001. Specific inhibition of gene expression by small double-stranded RNAs in invertebrate and vertebrate systems. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:9742-7.
- 209. Hunter T, Hunt T, Jackson RJ, Robertson HD. 1975. The characteristics of inhibition of protein synthesis by double-stranded ribonucleic acid in reticulocyte lysates. J Biol Chem 250:409-17.
- 210. Manche L, Green SR, Schmedt C, Mathews MB. 1992. Interactions between doublestranded RNA regulators and the protein kinase DAI. Mol Cell Biol 12:5238-48.
- 211. Minks MA, West DK, Benvin S, Baglioni C. 1979. Structural requirements of doublestranded RNA for the activation of 2',5'-oligo(A) polymerase and protein kinase of interferon-treated HeLa cells. J Biol Chem 254:10180-3.
- 212. Ui-Tei K, Zenno S, Miyata Y, Saigo K. 2000. Sensitive assay of RNA interference in Drosophila and Chinese hamster cultured cells using firefly luciferase gene as target. FEBS Lett 479:79-82.
- Caplen NJ, Fleenor J, Fire A, Morgan RA. 2000. dsRNA-mediated gene silencing in cultured Drosophila cells: a tissue culture model for the analysis of RNA interference. Gene 252:95-105.
- 214. Elbashir SM, Harborth J, Lendeckel W, Yalcin A, Weber K, Tuschl T. 2001. Duplexes of 21-nucleotide RNAs mediate RNA interference in cultured mammalian cells. Nature 411:494-8.
- 215. Lau NC, Lim LP, Weinstein EG, Bartel DP. 2001. An abundant class of tiny RNAs with probable regulatory roles in Caenorhabditis elegans. Science 294:858-62.
- 216. Lagos-Quintana M, Rauhut R, Lendeckel W, Tuschl T. 2001. Identification of novel genes coding for small expressed RNAs. Science 294:853-8.
- 217. Lee RC, Ambros V. 2001. An extensive class of small RNAs in Caenorhabditis elegans. Science 294:862-4.

- 218. Ha M, Kim VN. 2014. Regulation of microRNA biogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15:509-24.
- 219. Duchaine TF, Fabian MR. 2019. Mechanistic Insights into MicroRNA-Mediated Gene Silencing. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 11.
- 220. Ozata DM, Gainetdinov I, Zoch A, O'Carroll D, Zamore PD. 2019. PIWI-interacting RNAs: small RNAs with big functions. Nat Rev Genet 20:89-108.
- 221. Yan Z, Hu HY, Jiang X, Maierhofer V, Neb E, He L, Hu Y, Hu H, Li N, Chen W, Khaitovich P. 2011. Widespread expression of piRNA-like molecules in somatic tissues. Nucleic Acids Res 39:6596-607.
- 222. Girard A, Sachidanandam R, Hannon GJ, Carmell MA. 2006. A germline-specific class of small RNAs binds mammalian Piwi proteins. Nature 442:199-202.
- 223. Claycomb JM. 2014. Ancient endo-siRNA pathways reveal new tricks. Curr Biol 24:R703-15.
- 224. Setten RL, Rossi JJ, Han SP. 2019. The current state and future directions of RNAi-based therapeutics. Nat Rev Drug Discov 18:421-446.
- 225. Fromm B, Billipp T, Peck LE, Johansen M, Tarver JE, King BL, Newcomb JM, Sempere LF, Flatmark K, Hovig E, Peterson KJ. 2015. A Uniform System for the Annotation of Vertebrate microRNA Genes and the Evolution of the Human microRNAome. Annu Rev Genet 49:213-42.
- 226. Alles J, Fehlmann T, Fischer U, Backes C, Galata V, Minet M, Hart M, Abu-Halima M, Grasser FA, Lenhof HP, Keller A, Meese E. 2019. An estimate of the total number of true human miRNAs. Nucleic Acids Res 47:3353-3364.
- 227. Chiang HR, Schoenfeld LW, Ruby JG, Auyeung VC, Spies N, Baek D, Johnston WK, Russ C, Luo S, Babiarz JE, Blelloch R, Schroth GP, Nusbaum C, Bartel DP. 2010. Mammalian microRNAs: experimental evaluation of novel and previously annotated genes. Genes Dev 24:992-1009.
- 228. Nguyen TA, Jo MH, Choi YG, Park J, Kwon SC, Hohng S, Kim VN, Woo JS. 2015. Functional Anatomy of the Human Microprocessor. Cell 161:1374-87.
- Wilson RC, Tambe A, Kidwell MA, Noland CL, Schneider CP, Doudna JA. 2015. Dicer-TRBP complex formation ensures accurate mammalian microRNA biogenesis. Mol Cell 57:397-407.
- 230. Heyam A, Lagos D, Plevin M. 2015. Dissecting the roles of TRBP and PACT in doublestranded RNA recognition and processing of noncoding RNAs. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA 6:271-89.
- 231. Daniels SM, Melendez-Pena CE, Scarborough RJ, Daher A, Christensen HS, El Far M, Purcell DF, Laine S, Gatignol A. 2009. Characterization of the TRBP domain required for dicer interaction and function in RNA interference. BMC Mol Biol 10:38.
- 232. Fareh M, Yeom KH, Haagsma AC, Chauhan S, Heo I, Joo C. 2016. TRBP ensures efficient Dicer processing of precursor microRNA in RNA-crowded environments. Nat Commun 7:13694.
- 233. Wang HW, Noland C, Siridechadilok B, Taylor DW, Ma E, Felderer K, Doudna JA, Nogales E. 2009. Structural insights into RNA processing by the human RISC-loading complex. Nat Struct Mol Biol 16:1148-53.
- 234. Chendrimada TP, Gregory RI, Kumaraswamy E, Norman J, Cooch N, Nishikura K, Shiekhattar R. 2005. TRBP recruits the Dicer complex to Ago2 for microRNA processing and gene silencing. Nature 436:740-4.

- 235. Liu J, Carmell MA, Rivas FV, Marsden CG, Thomson JM, Song JJ, Hammond SM, Joshua-Tor L, Hannon GJ. 2004. Argonaute2 is the catalytic engine of mammalian RNAi. Science 305:1437-41.
- 236. Kawamata T, Tomari Y. 2010. Making RISC. Trends Biochem Sci 35:368-76.
- 237. Braun JE, Huntzinger E, Izaurralde E. 2013. The role of GW182 proteins in miRNAmediated gene silencing. Adv Exp Med Biol 768:147-63.
- 238. Eichhorn SW, Guo H, McGeary SE, Rodriguez-Mias RA, Shin C, Baek D, Hsu SH, Ghoshal K, Villen J, Bartel DP. 2014. mRNA destabilization is the dominant effect of mammalian microRNAs by the time substantial repression ensues. Mol Cell 56:104-15.
- 239. Chan EKL, Fritzler MJ. 2013. Ten years of progress in GW/P body research. Springer, New York, NY.
- 240. Weinberg MS, Morris KV. 2016. Transcriptional gene silencing in humans. Nucleic Acids Res 44:6505-17.
- 241. Suzuki K, Juelich T, Lim H, Ishida T, Watanebe T, Cooper DA, Rao S, Kelleher AD. 2008. Closed chromatin architecture is induced by an RNA duplex targeting the HIV-1 promoter region. J Biol Chem 283:23353-63.
- 242. Suzuki K, Shijuuku T, Fukamachi T, Zaunders J, Guillemin G, Cooper D, Kelleher A. 2005. Prolonged transcriptional silencing and CpG methylation induced by siRNAs targeted to the HIV-1 promoter region. J RNAi Gene Silencing 1:66-78.
- 243. Ahlenstiel CL, Lim HG, Cooper DA, Ishida T, Kelleher AD, Suzuki K. 2012. Direct evidence of nuclear Argonaute distribution during transcriptional silencing links the actin cytoskeleton to nuclear RNAi machinery in human cells. Nucleic Acids Res 40:1579-95.
- 244. Weinberg MS, Villeneuve LM, Ehsani A, Amarzguioui M, Aagaard L, Chen ZX, Riggs AD, Rossi JJ, Morris KV. 2006. The antisense strand of small interfering RNAs directs histone methylation and transcriptional gene silencing in human cells. RNA 12:256-62.
- 245. Morris KV, Chan SW, Jacobsen SE, Looney DJ. 2004. Small interfering RNA-induced transcriptional gene silencing in human cells. Science 305:1289-92.
- 246. Han J, Kim D, Morris KV. 2007. Promoter-associated RNA is required for RNA-directed transcriptional gene silencing in human cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:12422-7.
- 247. Gonzalez S, Pisano DG, Serrano M. 2008. Mechanistic principles of chromatin remodeling guided by siRNAs and miRNAs. Cell Cycle 7:2601-8.
- 248. Napoli S, Pastori C, Magistri M, Carbone GM, Catapano CV. 2009. Promoter-specific transcriptional interference and c-myc gene silencing by siRNAs in human cells. EMBO J 28:1708-19.
- 249. Core LJ, Waterfall JJ, Lis JT. 2008. Nascent RNA sequencing reveals widespread pausing and divergent initiation at human promoters. Science 322:1845-8.
- 250. Hopkins AL, Groom CR. 2002. The druggable genome. Nat Rev Drug Discov 1:727-30.
- 251. Wu SY, Lopez-Berestein G, Calin GA, Sood AK. 2014. RNAi therapies: drugging the undruggable. Sci Transl Med 6:240ps7.
- 252. Paul CP, Good PD, Winer I, Engelke DR. 2002. Effective expression of small interfering RNA in human cells. Nat Biotechnol 20:505-8.
- 253. Grimm D, Streetz KL, Jopling CL, Storm TA, Pandey K, Davis CR, Marion P, Salazar F, Kay MA. 2006. Fatality in mice due to oversaturation of cellular microRNA/short hairpin RNA pathways. Nature 441:537-41.

- 254. Fellmann C, Hoffmann T, Sridhar V, Hopfgartner B, Muhar M, Roth M, Lai DY, Barbosa IA, Kwon JS, Guan Y, Sinha N, Zuber J. 2013. An optimized microRNA backbone for effective single-copy RNAi. Cell Rep 5:1704-13.
- 255. Zlatev I, Castoreno A, Brown CR, Qin J, Waldron S, Schlegel MK, Degaonkar R, Shulga-Morskaya S, Xu H, Gupta S, Matsuda S, Akinc A, Rajeev KG, Manoharan M, Maier MA, Jadhav V. 2018. Reversal of siRNA-mediated gene silencing in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 36:509-511.
- 256. Rupaimoole R, Slack FJ. 2017. MicroRNA therapeutics: towards a new era for the management of cancer and other diseases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 16:203-222.
- 257. Roberts TC, Langer R, Wood MJA. 2020. Advances in oligonucleotide drug delivery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 19:673-694.
- 258. Chen CC, Ko TM, Ma HI, Wu HL, Xiao X, Li J, Chang CM, Wu PY, Chen CH, Han JM, Yu CP, Jeng KS, Hu CP, Tao MH. 2007. Long-term inhibition of hepatitis B virus in transgenic mice by double-stranded adeno-associated virus 8-delivered short hairpin RNA. Gene Ther 14:11-9.
- 259. Li C, Samulski RJ. 2020. Engineering adeno-associated virus vectors for gene therapy. Nat Rev Genet 21:255-272.
- 260. Tabebordbar M, Lagerborg KA, Stanton A, King EM, Ye S, Tellez L, Krunnfusz A, Tavakoli S, Widrick JJ, Messemer KA, Troiano EC, Moghadaszadeh B, Peacker BL, Leacock KA, Horwitz N, Beggs AH, Wagers AJ, Sabeti PC. 2021. Directed evolution of a family of AAV capsid variants enabling potent muscle-directed gene delivery across species. Cell 184:4919-4938 e22.
- 261. Mizrahy S, Hazan-Halevy I, Dammes N, Landesman-Milo D, Peer D. 2017. Current Progress in Non-viral RNAi-Based Delivery Strategies to Lymphocytes. Mol Ther 25:1491-1500.
- 262. Lundstrom K. 2018. Viral Vectors in Gene Therapy. Diseases 6.
- 263. DiGiusto DL. 2015. Stem cell gene therapy for HIV: strategies to inhibit viral entry and replication. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 12:79-87.
- 264. DiGiusto DL, Krishnan A, Li L, Li H, Li S, Rao A, Mi S, Yam P, Stinson S, Kalos M, Alvarnas J, Lacey SF, Yee JK, Li M, Couture L, Hsu D, Forman SJ, Rossi JJ, Zaia JA. 2010. RNA-based gene therapy for HIV with lentiviral vector-modified CD34(+) cells in patients undergoing transplantation for AIDS-related lymphoma. Sci Transl Med 2:36ra43.
- 265. Delville M, Touzot F, Couzin C, Hmitou I, Djerroudi L, Ouedrani A, Lefrere F, Tuchman-Durand C, Mollet C, Fabreguettes JR, Ferry N, Laganier L, Magnani A, Magrin E, Jolaine V, Saez-Cirion A, Wolstein O, Symonds G, Frange P, Moins-Teisserenc H, Chaix-Baudier ML, Toubert A, Larghero J, Parquet N, Brignier AC, Barre-Sinoussi F, Oksenhendler E, Cavazzana M. 2019. Safety of CD34(+) Hematopoietic Stem Cells and CD4(+) T Lymphocytes Transduced with LVsh5/C46 in HIV-1 Infected Patients with High-Risk Lymphoma. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 13:303-309.
- 266. Lee NS, Dohjima T, Bauer G, Li H, Li MJ, Ehsani A, Salvaterra P, Rossi J. 2002. Expression of small interfering RNAs targeted against HIV-1 rev transcripts in human cells. Nat Biotechnol 20:500-5.
- 267. Jacque JM, Triques K, Stevenson M. 2002. Modulation of HIV-1 replication by RNA interference. Nature 418:435-8.

- 268. Capodici J, Kariko K, Weissman D. 2002. Inhibition of HIV-1 infection by small interfering RNA-mediated RNA interference. J Immunol 169:5196-201.
- 269. Surabhi RM, Gaynor RB. 2002. RNA interference directed against viral and cellular targets inhibits human immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 replication. J Virol 76:12963-73.
- 270. Das AT, Brummelkamp TR, Westerhout EM, Vink M, Madiredjo M, Bernards R, Berkhout B. 2004. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 escapes from RNA interference-mediated inhibition. J Virol 78:2601-5.
- 271. Boden D, Pusch O, Lee F, Tucker L, Ramratnam B. 2003. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 escape from RNA interference. J Virol 77:11531-5.
- 272. Westerhout EM, Ooms M, Vink M, Das AT, Berkhout B. 2005. HIV-1 can escape from RNA interference by evolving an alternative structure in its RNA genome. Nucleic Acids Res 33:796-804.
- 273. Sabariegos R, Gimenez-Barcons M, Tapia N, Clotet B, Martinez MA. 2006. Sequence homology required by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 to escape from short interfering RNAs. J Virol 80:571-7.
- 274. Tan X, Lu ZJ, Gao G, Xu Q, Hu L, Fellmann C, Li MZ, Qu H, Lowe SW, Hannon GJ, Elledge SJ. 2012. Tiling genomes of pathogenic viruses identifies potent antiviral shRNAs and reveals a role for secondary structure in shRNA efficacy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:869-74.
- 275. Watts JM, Dang KK, Gorelick RJ, Leonard CW, Bess JW, Jr., Swanstrom R, Burch CL, Weeks KM. 2009. Architecture and secondary structure of an entire HIV-1 RNA genome. Nature 460:711-6.
- 276. Whisnant AW, Bogerd HP, Flores O, Ho P, Powers JG, Sharova N, Stevenson M, Chen CH, Cullen BR. 2013. In-depth analysis of the interaction of HIV-1 with cellular microRNA biogenesis and effector mechanisms. mBio 4:e000193.
- 277. Liu YP, Haasnoot J, ter Brake O, Berkhout B, Konstantinova P. 2008. Inhibition of HIV-1 by multiple siRNAs expressed from a single microRNA polycistron. Nucleic Acids Res 36:2811-24.
- 278. Chung J, Zhang J, Li H, Ouellet DL, DiGiusto DL, Rossi JJ. 2012. Endogenous MCM7 microRNA cluster as a novel platform to multiplex small interfering and nucleolar RNAs for combinational HIV-1 gene therapy. Hum Gene Ther 23:1200-8.
- 279. Centlivre M, Legrand N, Klamer S, Liu YP, Jasmijn von Eije K, Bohne M, Rijnstra ES, Weijer K, Blom B, Voermans C, Spits H, Berkhout B. 2013. Preclinical in vivo evaluation of the safety of a multi-shRNA-based gene therapy against HIV-1. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 2:e120.
- 280. Choi JG, Bharaj P, Abraham S, Ma H, Yi G, Ye C, Dang Y, Manjunath N, Wu H, Shankar P. 2015. Multiplexing seven miRNA-Based shRNAs to suppress HIV replication. Mol Ther 23:310-20.
- 281. Herrera-Carrillo E, Berkhout B. 2015. The impact of HIV-1 genetic diversity on the efficacy of a combinatorial RNAi-based gene therapy. Gene Ther 22:485-95.
- 282. Nishitsuji H, Kohara M, Kannagi M, Masuda T. 2006. Effective suppression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 through a combination of short- or long-hairpin RNAs targeting essential sequences for retroviral integration. J Virol 80:7658-66.
- 283. von Eije KJ, ter Brake O, Berkhout B. 2008. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 escape is restricted when conserved genome sequences are targeted by RNA interference. J Virol 82:2895-903.

- 284. Vandekerckhove L, Christ F, Van Maele B, De Rijck J, Gijsbers R, Van den Haute C, Witvrouw M, Debyser Z. 2006. Transient and stable knockdown of the integrase cofactor LEDGF/p75 reveals its role in the replication cycle of human immunodeficiency virus. J Virol 80:1886-96.
- 285. Ishaq M, Hu J, Wu X, Fu Q, Yang Y, Liu Q, Guo D. 2008. Knockdown of cellular RNA helicase DDX3 by short hairpin RNAs suppresses HIV-1 viral replication without inducing apoptosis. Mol Biotechnol 39:231-8.
- 286. Eekels JJ, Geerts D, Jeeninga RE, Berkhout B. 2011. Long-term inhibition of HIV-1 replication with RNA interference against cellular co-factors. Antiviral Res 89:43-53.
- 287. Eekels JJ, Sagnier S, Geerts D, Jeeninga RE, Biard-Piechaczyk M, Berkhout B. 2012. Inhibition of HIV-1 replication with stable RNAi-mediated knockdown of autophagy factors. Virol J 9:69.
- 288. Spanevello F, Calistri A, Del Vecchio C, Mantelli B, Frasson C, Basso G, Palu G, Cavazzana M, Parolin C. 2016. Development of Lentiviral Vectors Simultaneously Expressing Multiple siRNAs Against CCR5, vif and tat/rev Genes for an HIV-1 Gene Therapy Approach. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 5:e312.
- 289. Ganser-Pornillos BK, Pornillos O. 2019. Restriction of HIV-1 and other retroviruses by TRIM5. Nat Rev Microbiol 17:546-556.
- Turner AM, De La Cruz J, Morris KV. 2009. Mobilization-competent Lentiviral Vectormediated Sustained Transcriptional Modulation of HIV-1 Expression. Mol Ther 17:360-8.
- 291. Singh A, Palanichamy JK, Ramalingam P, Kassab MA, Bhagat M, Andrabi R, Luthra K, Sinha S, Chattopadhyay P. 2014. Long-term suppression of HIV-1C virus production in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells by LTR heterochromatization with a short double-stranded RNA. J Antimicrob Chemother 69:404-15.
- 292. Mendez C, Ledger S, Petoumenos K, Ahlenstiel C, Kelleher AD. 2018. RNA-induced epigenetic silencing inhibits HIV-1 reactivation from latency. Retrovirology 15:67.
- 293. Klase Z, Kale P, Winograd R, Gupta MV, Heydarian M, Berro R, McCaffrey T, Kashanchi F. 2007. HIV-1 TAR element is processed by Dicer to yield a viral micro-RNA involved in chromatin remodeling of the viral LTR. BMC Mol Biol 8:63.
- 294. Ouellet DL, Plante I, Landry P, Barat C, Janelle ME, Flamand L, Tremblay MJ, Provost P. 2008. Identification of functional microRNAs released through asymmetrical processing of HIV-1 TAR element. Nucleic Acids Res 36:2353-65.
- 295. Ahlenstiel C, Mendez C, Lim ST, Marks K, Turville S, Cooper DA, Kelleher AD, Suzuki K. 2015. Novel RNA Duplex Locks HIV-1 in a Latent State via Chromatin-mediated Transcriptional Silencing. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 4:e261.
- 296. Yamagishi M, Ishida T, Miyake A, Cooper DA, Kelleher AD, Suzuki K, Watanabe T. 2009. Retroviral delivery of promoter-targeted shRNA induces long-term silencing of HIV-1 transcription. Microbes Infect 11:500-8.
- 297. Suzuki K, Ishida T, Yamagishi M, Ahlenstiel C, Swaminathan S, Marks K, Murray D, McCartney EM, Beard MR, Alexander M, Purcell DF, Cooper DA, Watanabe T, Kelleher AD. 2011. Transcriptional gene silencing of HIV-1 through promoter targeted RNA is highly specific. RNA Biol 8:1035-46.
- 298. Suzuki K, Hattori S, Marks K, Ahlenstiel C, Maeda Y, Ishida T, Millington M, Boyd M, Symonds G, Cooper DA, Okada S, Kelleher AD. 2013. Promoter Targeting shRNA

Suppresses HIV-1 Infection In vivo Through Transcriptional Gene Silencing. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 2:e137.

- 299. Tsukamoto T. 2018. Transcriptional gene silencing limits CXCR4-associated depletion of bone marrow CD34+ cells in HIV-1 infection. AIDS 32:1737-1747.
- 300. Yeung ML, Bennasser Y, Myers TG, Jiang G, Benkirane M, Jeang KT. 2005. Changes in microRNA expression profiles in HIV-1-transfected human cells. Retrovirology 2:81.
- 301. Triboulet R, Mari B, Lin YL, Chable-Bessia C, Bennasser Y, Lebrigand K, Cardinaud B, Maurin T, Barbry P, Baillat V, Reynes J, Corbeau P, Jeang KT, Benkirane M. 2007. Suppression of microRNA-silencing pathway by HIV-1 during virus replication. Science 315:1579-82.
- 302. Huang J, Wang F, Argyris E, Chen K, Liang Z, Tian H, Huang W, Squires K, Verlinghieri G, Zhang H. 2007. Cellular microRNAs contribute to HIV-1 latency in resting primary CD4+ T lymphocytes. Nat Med 13:1241-7.
- 303. Houzet L, Yeung ML, de Lame V, Desai D, Smith SM, Jeang KT. 2008. MicroRNA profile changes in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) seropositive individuals. Retrovirology 5:118.
- 304. Sun G, Li H, Wu X, Covarrubias M, Scherer L, Meinking K, Luk B, Chomchan P, Alluin J, Gombart AF, Rossi JJ. 2012. Interplay between HIV-1 infection and host microRNAs. Nucleic Acids Res 40:2181-96.
- 305. Wang P, Qu X, Zhou X, Shen Y, Ji H, Fu Z, Deng J, Lu P, Yu W, Lu H, Zhu H. 2015. Two cellular microRNAs, miR-196b and miR-1290, contribute to HIV-1 latency. Virology 486:228-38.
- 306. Lopez-Huertas MR, Morin M, Madrid-Elena N, Gutierrez C, Jimenez-Tormo L, Santoyo J, Sanz-Rodriguez F, Moreno Pelayo MA, Bermejo LG, Moreno S. 2019. Selective miRNA Modulation Fails to Activate HIV Replication in In Vitro Latency Models. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 17:323-336.
- 307. Ayala-Suarez R, Diez-Fuertes F, Calonge E, De La Torre Tarazona HE, Gracia-Ruiz de Alda M, Capa L, Alcami J. 2020. Insight in miRNome of Long-Term Non-Progressors and Elite Controllers Exposes Potential RNAi Role in Restraining HIV-1 Infection. J Clin Med 9.
- 308. Frattari G, Aagaard L, Denton PW. 2017. The role of miR-29a in HIV-1 replication and latency. J Virus Erad 3:185-191.
- 309. Swaminathan S, Murray DD, Kelleher AD. 2013. miRNAs and HIV: unforeseen determinants of host-pathogen interaction. Immunol Rev 254:265-80.
- 310. Balasubramaniam M, Pandhare J, Dash C. 2018. Are microRNAs Important Players in HIV-1 Infection? An Update. Viruses 10.
- 311. Bogerd HP, Skalsky RL, Kennedy EM, Furuse Y, Whisnant AW, Flores O, Schultz KL, Putnam N, Barrows NJ, Sherry B, Scholle F, Garcia-Blanco MA, Griffin DE, Cullen BR. 2014. Replication of many human viruses is refractory to inhibition by endogenous cellular microRNAs. J Virol 88:8065-76.
- Ruelas DS, Chan JK, Oh E, Heidersbach AJ, Hebbeler AM, Chavez L, Verdin E, Rape M, Greene WC. 2015. MicroRNA-155 Reinforces HIV Latency. J Biol Chem 290:13736-48.
- 313. Swaminathan G, Rossi F, Sierra LJ, Gupta A, Navas-Martin S, Martin-Garcia J. 2012. A role for microRNA-155 modulation in the anti-HIV-1 effects of Toll-like receptor 3 stimulation in macrophages. PLoS Pathog 8:e1002937.

- 314. Marshall RM, Salerno D, Garriga J, Grana X. 2005. Cyclin T1 expression is regulated by multiple signaling pathways and mechanisms during activation of human peripheral blood lymphocytes. J Immunol 175:6402-11.
- 315. Sung TL, Rice AP. 2006. Effects of prostratin on Cyclin T1/P-TEFb function and the gene expression profile in primary resting CD4+ T cells. Retrovirology 3:66.
- 316. Iglesias-Ussel M, Vandergeeten C, Marchionni L, Chomont N, Romerio F. 2013. High levels of CD2 expression identify HIV-1 latently infected resting memory CD4+ T cells in virally suppressed subjects. J Virol 87:9148-58.
- 317. Mohammadi P, di Iulio J, Munoz M, Martinez R, Bartha I, Cavassini M, Thorball C, Fellay J, Beerenwinkel N, Ciuffi A, Telenti A. 2014. Dynamics of HIV latency and reactivation in a primary CD4+ T cell model. PLoS Pathog 10:e1004156.
- 318. Krishnan V, Zeichner SL. 2004. Host cell gene expression during human immunodeficiency virus type 1 latency and reactivation and effects of targeting genes that are differentially expressed in viral latency. J Virol 78:9458-73.
- 319. White CH, Moesker B, Beliakova-Bethell N, Martins LJ, Spina CA, Margolis DM, Richman DD, Planelles V, Bosque A, Woelk CH. 2016. Transcriptomic Analysis Implicates the p53 Signaling Pathway in the Establishment of HIV-1 Latency in Central Memory CD4 T Cells in an In Vitro Model. PLoS Pathog 12:e1006026.
- 320. Bradley T, Ferrari G, Haynes BF, Margolis DM, Browne EP. 2018. Single-Cell Analysis of Quiescent HIV Infection Reveals Host Transcriptional Profiles that Regulate Proviral Latency. Cell Rep 25:107-117 e3.
- 321. Jordan A, Bisgrove D, Verdin E. 2003. HIV reproducibly establishes a latent infection after acute infection of T cells in vitro. EMBO J 22:1868-77.
- 322. Rao S, Amorim R, Niu M, Temzi A, Mouland AJ. 2018. The RNA surveillance proteins UPF1, UPF2 and SMG6 affect HIV-1 reactivation at a post-transcriptional level. Retrovirology 15:42.
- 323. Zhu J, Gaiha GD, John SP, Pertel T, Chin CR, Gao G, Qu H, Walker BD, Elledge SJ, Brass AL. 2012. Reactivation of latent HIV-1 by inhibition of BRD4. Cell Rep 2:807-16.
- 324. Burnett JC, Lim KI, Calafi A, Rossi JJ, Schaffer DV, Arkin AP. 2010. Combinatorial latency reactivation for HIV-1 subtypes and variants. J Virol 84:5958-74.
- 325. Klichko V, Archin N, Kaur R, Lehrman G, Margolis D. 2006. Hexamethylbisacetamide remodels the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) promoter and induces Tatindependent HIV-1 expression but blunts cell activation. J Virol 80:4570-9.
- 326. Bouchat S, Delacourt N, Kula A, Darcis G, Van Driessche B, Corazza F, Gatot JS, Melard A, Vanhulle C, Kabeya K, Pardons M, Avettand-Fenoel V, Clumeck N, De Wit S, Rohr O, Rouzioux C, Van Lint C. 2016. Sequential treatment with 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine and deacetylase inhibitors reactivates HIV-1. EMBO Mol Med 8:117-38.
- 327. Xing S, Bullen CK, Shroff NS, Shan L, Yang HC, Manucci JL, Bhat S, Zhang H, Margolick JB, Quinn TC, Margolis DM, Siliciano JD, Siliciano RF. 2011. Disulfiram reactivates latent HIV-1 in a Bcl-2-transduced primary CD4+ T cell model without inducing global T cell activation. J Virol 85:6060-4.
- 328. Andrews S. 2010. FastQC: A quality control tool for high throughput sequence data.
- 329. Ewels P, Magnusson M, Lundin S, Kaller M. 2016. MultiQC: summarize analysis results for multiple tools and samples in a single report. Bioinformatics 32:3047-8.
- 330. Chen S, Zhou Y, Chen Y, Gu J. 2018. fastp: an ultra-fast all-in-one FASTQ preprocessor. Bioinformatics 34:i884-i890.

- 331. Dobin A, Davis CA, Schlesinger F, Drenkow J, Zaleski C, Jha S, Batut P, Chaisson M, Gingeras TR. 2013. STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. Bioinformatics 29:15-21.
- 332. Liao Y, Smyth GK, Shi W. 2014. featureCounts: an efficient general purpose program for assigning sequence reads to genomic features. Bioinformatics 30:923-30.
- 333. Love MI, Huber W, Anders S. 2014. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol 15:550.
- 334. R_Core_Team. 2013. R: A language and environment for statistical computing, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- 335. Langmead B, Salzberg SL. 2012. Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2. Nat Methods 9:357-9.
- 336. Kozomara A, Birgaoanu M, Griffiths-Jones S. 2019. miRBase: from microRNA sequences to function. Nucleic Acids Res 47:D155-D162.
- 337. Ge SX, Son EW, Yao R. 2018. iDEP: an integrated web application for differential expression and pathway analysis of RNA-Seq data. BMC Bioinformatics 19:534.
- 338. Mi H, Muruganujan A, Casagrande JT, Thomas PD. 2013. Large-scale gene function analysis with the PANTHER classification system. Nat Protoc 8:1551-66.
- 339. Chang L, Zhou G, Soufan O, Xia J. 2020. miRNet 2.0: network-based visual analytics for miRNA functional analysis and systems biology. Nucleic Acids Res 48:W244-W251.
- 340. Chen Y, Wang X. 2020. miRDB: an online database for prediction of functional microRNA targets. Nucleic Acids Res 48:D127-D131.
- 341. Agarwal V, Bell GW, Nam JW, Bartel DP. 2015. Predicting effective microRNA target sites in mammalian mRNAs. Elife 4.
- 342. Adachi A, Gendelman HE, Koenig S, Folks T, Willey R, Rabson A, Martin MA. 1986. Production of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome-associated retrovirus in human and nonhuman cells transfected with an infectious molecular clone. J Virol 59:284-91.
- 343. Poon DT, Chertova EN, Ott DE. 2002. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preferentially encapsidates genomic RNAs that encode Pr55(Gag): functional linkage between translation and RNA packaging. Virology 293:368-78.
- 344. Cinti A, Le Sage V, Ghanem M, Mouland AJ. 2016. HIV-1 Gag Blocks Selenite-Induced Stress Granule Assembly by Altering the mRNA Cap-Binding Complex. mBio 7:e00329.
- 345. Goguen RP, Del Corpo O, Malard CMG, Daher A, Alpuche-Lazcano SP, Chen MJ, Scarborough RJ, Gatignol A. 2021. Efficacy, accumulation, and transcriptional profile of anti-HIV shRNAs expressed from human U6, 7SK, and H1 promoters. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 23:1020-1034.
- 346. Malard C. 2019. Efficacy, safety, and delivery of anti-HIV short-hairpin RNA molecules for use in HIV gene therapy. Master of Science. McGill University, McGill University Library.
- 347. Das AT, Verhoef K, Berkhout B. 2004. A conditionally replicating virus as a novel approach toward an HIV vaccine. Methods Enzymol 388:359-79.
- 348. Bernhard W, Barreto K, Saunders A, Dahabieh MS, Johnson P, Sadowski I. 2011. The Suv39H1 methyltransferase inhibitor chaetocin causes induction of integrated HIV-1 without producing a T cell response. FEBS Lett 585:3549-54.
- 349. Xu WS, Parmigiani RB, Marks PA. 2007. Histone deacetylase inhibitors: molecular mechanisms of action. Oncogene 26:5541-52.

- 350. Jordan A, Bisgrove D, Verdin E. 2003. HIV reproducibly establishes a latent infection after acute infection of T cells in vitro. EMBO J 22:1868-1877.
- 351. Baeuerle PA, Baltimore D. 1988. I kappa B: a specific inhibitor of the NF-kappa B transcription factor. Science 242:540-6.
- 352. Colin L, Van Lint C. 2009. Molecular control of HIV-1 postintegration latency: implications for the development of new therapeutic strategies. Retrovirology 6:111.
- 353. Kozomara A, Griffiths-Jones S. 2014. miRBase: annotating high confidence microRNAs using deep sequencing data. Nucleic Acids Res 42:D68-73.
- 354. Desjardins A, Bouvette J, Legault P. 2014. Stepwise assembly of multiple Lin28 proteins on the terminal loop of let-7 miRNA precursors. Nucleic Acids Res 42:4615-28.
- 355. Lightfoot HL, Bugaut A, Armisen J, Lehrbach NJ, Miska EA, Balasubramanian S. 2011. A LIN28-dependent structural change in pre-let-7g directly inhibits dicer processing. Biochemistry 50:7514-21.
- 356. Mayr F, Heinemann U. 2013. Mechanisms of Lin28-mediated miRNA and mRNA regulation--a structural and functional perspective. Int J Mol Sci 14:16532-53.
- 357. Daniels SM, Sinck L, Ward NJ, Melendez-Pena CE, Scarborough RJ, Azar I, Rance E, Daher A, Pang KM, Rossi JJ, Gatignol A. 2015. HIV-1 RRE RNA acts as an RNA silencing suppressor by competing with TRBP-bound siRNAs. RNA Biol 12:123-35.
- 358. Forster SC, Tate MD, Hertzog PJ. 2015. MicroRNA as Type I Interferon-Regulated Transcripts and Modulators of the Innate Immune Response. Front Immunol 6:334.